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Corporate Information

NEER

ABOUT CGN MINING AR ERTEE

The Company is incorporated in the Cayman Islands and listed on the AARIFMeARSHS  A—REBR
main board of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 01164). The principal FrEiR Ee AR (REASE : 01164) ©
activities of the Group are the development and trade of natural AEBFENESRAMBERORAZEE
uranium resources used by nuclear energy enterprises, with a view to 5 BEKAZEURAME RN ES(H#
be one of the top suppliers of natural uranium resources for nuclear Bz — -

power plants.
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Financial Highlights
MBREE

OPERATING RESULTS ¥&

For the year ended 31 December
BZ12 831 HILFE
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

2021 2020 F 2019 2018 2017
HK$000  HK$'000  HKEO000 ~ HK$'000  HKE000
TRET THET TAT TAT TAT

Continuing operations BEMNER

Revenue BER 3,859,530 2,862,226 2,076,688 1,625,974 372,790
Operating profit R T 246,247 220,855 196,638 172,623 67,746
Finance costs BUE XA (49,683) (40,889) (20,466) (32,110) -
Profit before taxation R AT A 196,564 179,966 176,172 140,513 67,746
Income tax expenses FTEfi (18,066) (24,749) (16,163) (18,447) (15,668)
Profit for the year REFHF 178,498 155,217 160,009 122,066 52,078
Profit attributable to: TEIALEERR

Owners of the Company V/NSIETZEDN 178,498 155,217 160,009 122,066 52,078
Non-controlling interests S - - - - -

178,498 155,217 160,009 122,066 52,078

FINANCIAL POSITION B # k%

As at 31 December
R12A31H
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017

2021 2020 F 2019 2018 2017 &
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000

FTHT FHET FAT FHIT FET
Total assets EERE 6,349,575 4,187,787  3,095366 2,674,507 1,911,275
Total liabilities BfERE (4,194,352) (2,160,727) (1,151,125)  (810,089) (120,520

2,155,223 2,027,060 1,944,241 1,864,418 1,790,755

Equity attributable to owners AR EIHEAE A

of the Company JE(L R 2,155,223 2,027,060 1,944,241 1,864,418 1,790,755
Non-controlling interests IR - - _ _ _

2,155,223 2,027,060 1,944,241 1,864,418 1,790,755

TEZEEARAR —T-—FFR 5 1N
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Chairman’s Statement

Dear Shareholders,

In the past year of 2021, despite the continuous outbreak of
the epidemic, we stood on solid ground and marched forward
courageously. With the concerted efforts of all the staff of the
Company and in this special year when natural uranium comes back
to the attention of the public, we have not only gained the growth
of the Company’s performance and the trust of more investors, but
also the confidence and courage that support us to keep working
in the field of natural uranium and growing bigger and stronger. We
believe that this good start can lay a solid foundation for us to salil in
the next four years of the “Fourteenth Five-year Plan” and provide
inexhaustible impetus for the sustainable development.

2021 is a harvest year for us. After more than five years of unremitting
efforts, the acquisition of 49% interest in Ortalyk has finally
materialised. This means that we have secured more natural uranium
resources and expanded our interest in Kazakhstan, the world’s
best natural uranium production area, which is one step closer to
our goal of developing ourselves as a world-class natural uranium
supplier. In terms of operation of inventory projects, we paid close
attention to and strictly supervised the production and operation of
Semizbay-U to ensure the successful accomplishment of the annual
production plan and various operating targets despite the impact of
the epidemic; Fission successfully obtained financing in 2021, which
strongly safeguarded the sustainable operation of the enterprise and
supported the subsequent development of the PLS project, one of
the largest high-grade uranium raw material projects to be developed
in the world. In terms of sales of natural uranium, CGN Global firmly
grasped the market opportunity of rebound of natural uranium price
and achieved significant year-on-year revenue growth. At the same
time, we are pleased to see that the Company is receiving more
and more attention in the year just ended. This is not only reflected
in the significant increase in the trading volume of the Shares and a
relatively significant increase in Share price and, more importantly,
we have received more enquiries from investors and being included
in the scope of attention, and even investment, of more international
funds. Investors including The China State-owned Enterprises Mixed
Ownership Reform Fund Co., Ltd. and other leading domestic funds,
being confidence in the future of the Company, decided to go hand in
hand and have acquired our Shares through subscription. This brings
us the impetus but also brings us more pressure to operate our
business with more dedication and seek for greater and higher quality
development.

CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2021
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Chairman’s Statement

2021 is also a challenging year for us. The increasingly complicated
world environment brings greater risk and uncertainty to our foreign
investments, but we are committed to expand our attributable
natural uranium equity production, secure more resources and seek
higher returns on investments, and continuously exploring new
trading opportunities while ensuring that our existing projects are
completed. In this regard, we have intensified our efforts in identifying
quality opportunities around the world and have strove to make
substantial progress as soon as possible, but, due to the impact of
the ongoing pandemic, communication efficiency was affected to
some extent, resulting in slower progress than expected. In addition,
the geopolitical tensions have also increased the volatility of natural
uranium prices, which has brought more challenges to natural
uranium trade. This also requires us to sum up our past experience
and monitor the market more closely, so that we can get as much
trade profit as possible by keeping pace with the market.

A scientific and reasonable incentive mechanism can stimulate
the management to have a greater sense of participation and
belonging, and the introduction of equity incentive measures is an
inevitable choice for the Company to gather strength and make great
achievement together. In the past year, we have conducted many
useful explorations and formed our own experience summaries, which
is believed to have laid a good foundation for the formal launch of the
next incentive program. This is also a testament to the Company’s
pursuit of continuous improvement in corporate governance over the
years of operation.

With the development of our business, the external disruptions
faced by our operations gradually increase. On one hand, the
comprehensive impact of the epidemic gradually emerged and
social conflicts in various countries intensified due to the epidemic;
on the other hand, the turbulent global supply chain and industry
chain, the high prices of bulk materials and the dramatic fluctuation
of natural uranium price and poor logistics led to the doubling of
costs. The Board will keep close track of the factors that may affect
the Company’s operation and strengthen the risk management
and internal control system in a timely manner to ensure that the
Company can timely identify potential risks and respond effectively to
unexpected situations to achieve stable development in the face of
adversity.

2021 F B MIEEEFTmkEN —F - &
BRI Rt FOR AR H MR BB R T
BERMEBRMTEEN  BRM—EBN
RIAEBARAESESE HEESE
B FMEAKIRE R - TRAREAE
BRI TERENOX HHE -
At - BAIMeE T A REENEGHE
NEK o FHEERREELEHER - B
BEMNREBARMOIESRT —xEMA
B —ERELFETERNE  HHE
EARIEER o o » HBUAR B oR IME
BRARMERAEBIRREIL K - LKA
BHERTERNKE - SthERBMES
RS - WTHISHETTE B B
Al IR BB T e SR - SR
ZHBSFIHE o

MEEEN MBI EAEEEEEZN
SEBMEBE - #HRENEE G
NARRZNEHEEENOBREE - £
BE—F BPETTREZAENERR -
BT B B MRREE  BESLHRT
—ZHB A RNENELETF T RIFOVE
o BHEARKEZFUR  EERT
BT DAGE N RDRIE/KF T EAYER

HEZXRGERE - ARELmERAINET
BRRZEIES - — T HRBEATEZX

S BIRHEERE  EXEE - KRY
REREE - RAMEBBRUKE) - YR
THEYRAGEE - RRIEESHRIAA
REFERRKENRERETIRM - &
bR EREMAZERE - UERAT
BE MBS R BRI R B REIBERIELE
ML - EERTERRBEERR °
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Chairman’s Statement

The short-term turmoil in Kazakhstan at the beginning of 2022,
although did not affect the production and delivery of products of
our invested companies, has left us lingering fear. Based on our
many years of investment experience in Kazakhstan and our good
cooperation with Kazatomprom, we believe that investing in this
country is still the right choice and we have full confidence in our
partner. In 2022, we will devote more efforts to the production and
operation and cost control of the Central Mynkuduk Deposit and the
Zhalpak Deposit of Ortalyk, and strive for more investment income to
bring sound and stable returns to all Shareholders. At the same time,
taking the opportunity where the industry has not fully recovered, we
will continue to actively seek new investment opportunities in high
grade and high quality uranium resources based on our accumulated
experience. In addition, we will continue to improve our existing
business to optimize profitability.

In the context of continuing turmoil in the international environment,
continuous rise in oil and gas prices, and introduction of carbon
neutrality targets and specific policies by various countries, nuclear
power undoubtedly presents a new development opportunity. There is
no limit to the vastness of the journey. We have never stopped in our
pursuit of company growth and value creation for our Shareholders.
We believe that our efforts will be rewarded with the continued
support and trust of our Shareholders and investors, and we will do
our best to deeply explore the natural uranium industry and strive to
become a leader of the industry.

Chairman of the Board and chief executive officer
An Junjing

Beijing, 25 March 2022

CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2021
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BERBFNWE D

BUSINESS REVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in natural uranium investment and
trading. As of 31 December 2021, the Company (i) held 100% equity
interest in Beijing Sino-Kazakh, through which it held 49% of the
equity interest and off-take rights of products of Semizbay-U; (i) held
100% equity interest in CGNM UK, through which it held 49% of the
equity interest and off-take rights of products of Ortalyk. In addition,
the Group had a wholly-owned subsidiary, CGN Global and held
14.34% equity interest in Fission.

In 2021, the Group achieved revenue of HK$3,860 million and profits
attributable to owners of the Company of HK$178 million.

Analysis of business environment
The nuclear power market and its development

According to data released by International Atomic Energy Agency,
as of the end of 2021, there were 439 nuclear power units in
operation worldwide, with a total installed capacity of 390,624MWe,
and 52 units under construction, with a total installed capacity
of 55,087MWe, where the nuclear power units in operation and
under construction scattered across 32 countries and regions. In
2021, there were six newly grid-connected units worldwide, with
a total installed capacity of 5,250MWe; seven units with a total
installed capacity of 6,902MWe commenced construction; and
eight closed units with a total installed capacity of 7,743MWe. A
broader consensus is reached among countries on the role of nuclear
power in carbon neutrality process. The US, Ukraine, Finland, Japan
and other countries are pushing for extension of the life of existing
nuclear power stations; China, India, the United Arab Emirates and
other countries continue to develop new nuclear units; the EU has
included nuclear energy in the green energy category for sustainable
investment. Meanwhile, major economies are also actively promoting
the research and development of fourth-generation nuclear power
technologies such as ultra-high temperature gas-cooled reactors and
advanced small reactor units.

EBEE

AEETERBERAMERRERES °
HZE2021F128318 AR AEETE#HA()
LR E100% M - WiEBEFFE G
N AI49% MK 2 EE qn BL3HHE ¢ (i) CGNM
UK 100%%## + IiEAESH R AR49%
BORRIE R EE BN o AN MERET
Nl R BB S E A a) A M FissionA &)
14.34% MR HE

021 F AREEEIR 2 ¥%3,860H &8
T ARBIHEBAEMEF178H B S

JC °

BEHTHETERRE

IRIE BB R T A2 18 (International Atomic
Energy Agency)Z 4 FIEE - 12021 4F
K - 2IREEZ B398 - LEHEE
£390,624MWe - fL3EI#AES2E - FA
AE55,087MWe » IEBEEXEHRAD
MIES2MEAB X Mt & o 20216 2 Bk Hf
HiAes - BEBAE5250MWe
FIHAETS - BRIKEAE6,902MWe ;
FIEHARS S - BERMAET7,743MWe ©
F BRI B P ER P EIENIERL
REECHESD  EH - 558 FTEKk
AARZERESRBZBILLES - 1 -
HNERMBESERFEERIZER
W BB SRR DI AT E IR B AR B AL
BOE  ANSEEEBEBOERGHEE
HRB R RS HE R St /N HE AR 55 58 Y
RAZBRIMAAE -
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWmR DN

Newly grid-connected units, units commenced construction, 2021 FE 2R EHRANFHOIE - AT
and closed units around the world in 2021 BEER

Newly Grid-connected Units Units Commenced Construction Closed Units
izl i BRHA
Installed Installed Installed

Capacity Capacity ! Capacity

A

1. BARAKAH-2 1,345 United Arab Emirates | 1. AKKUTU-3 1,114 Tukey | 1. BROKDORF 1410 Germany
BARAKAH-2 1,345 4] AKKUTU-3 1,114 1EH BROKDORF 1410 feH
2. HONGYANHE-5 1,061 China | 2. BREST-0D-300 300 Russia | 2. DUNGEMESS B-1 545 K
s 5% 1,061 i BREST-0D-300 300 fEg DUNGEMESS B-1 545 b:451
3. KAKRAPAR-3 630 India | 3. CHANGJIANG-3 1,000 China | 3. DUNGEMESS B-2 545 UK
KAKRAPAR-3 630 0E EhKH 1,000 e DUNGEMESS B-2 545 R
4, KANUPP-2 1,014 Pakistan | 4. CHANGJIANG-4 1,000 China | 4. GROHNDE 1,360 Germany
KANUPP-2 1014 EEHE EiT4% 1,000 hE GROHNDE 1,360 e
5 SHIDAOBAY-1 200 China | 5. SANAOCUN-2 1117 China | 5. GUNDERMMINGEN-C 1,288 Germany
REEI% 200 ] SANAOGUN-2 1117 HE GUNDERMMINGEN-C 1,288 i
6. TIANWAN-6 1,000 China | 6. TIANWAN-7 1,171 China | 6. HUNTERSTON B-1 490 K
g6 1,000 i mE7s 1,171 i HUNTERSTON B-1 490 2H
7. XUDABU-3 1,200 China | 7. INDIANPOINT -3 1080 US
{RRE3% 1,200 i INDIAN POINT -3 1030 £7
8. KANUPP-1 90  Pakistan
KANUPP-1 o0 B
Notes: 1. Data source: International Atomic Energy Agency (IAEA) MisE . 1. FBIRIR - BIFRRFAEHE (IAEA)
2. The “-number” in the name column represents the unit serial number 2. M- BFIREZEEMIER
of the nuclear power unit project. AR SRS o
Key events in the global nuclear power industry in 2021 include: 2021 FERIRIZERENEZRHE
. The Russian government has classified nuclear power projects . BENTBTBEZEEE 2D A&
as green projects. Russia’s nuclear power generation reached BIEE o HAEHT2021FZEEE
222.4 billion kWh in 2021, representing an increase of 3% SEF2, 224 F Ll - X [F HA
over the same period of last year. Russia has set a target to 3% BZBEERTHZERE
increase its share of nuclear power generation to 25%, and MERSE25%MEZE - WETE
plans to build 10 new nuclear power units by 2035. 2035F FIFTZ10A X BHAE -
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Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWmR DN

In January, the US rejoined the Paris Agreement, and John
Kerry, current Special Envoy for Climate, expressed his
support for the operation of in-service nuclear plants and
new nuclear units to be put into operation. The Department
of Energy requested a budget of US$46.2 billion for 2022,
including a record-breaking US$1.85 billion for nuclear
energy area, representing an increase of 23% over 2021,
with an aim to strengthen the leading position of the US in the
development and deployment of critical energy technologies.

In April, Japan voted affirmative for the restart of Units 1 and
2 of the Takahama Nuclear Power Station and Unit 3 of the
Mihama Nuclear Power Station. This is the first time that
Japanese local government has agreed to restart a nuclear
power unit that has been in service for more than 40 years.
Currently, 9 nuclear power plants have been restarted in
Japan, with 10 reactors under review.

In April, Energoatom, a Ukrainian nuclear power operator,
planned to extend the life of all its nuclear power units to 60
years. Currently, the company has a total of 15 nuclear power
units in operation. The life of operation of 12 operating units in
Ukraine have been extended to 50 years in the past 10 years.

In June, Unit 1 of the Belarusian nuclear power plant
Ostrovets was put into commercial operation, while Unit 2
has completed cold tests and is scheduled to be put into
commercial operation in 2022.

In July, the Egyptian Nuclear Power Plant Authority submitted
an application for a permit to build Units 1 and 2 of the Dabaa
Nuclear Power Station.

In August, Argentina planned to build more than 3,000 MWe
of new nuclear unit. In 2022, a engineering procurement
construction (EPC) contract on nuclear power projects was
entered with China National Nuclear Corporation (CNNC) to
start the construction of the first “Hualong One” unit in Atucha.

18 ERERERRE) » BT
IR LM e 5242 (John Kerry)3&
TR ERIZERE TN Z B
MBIRIE - 2022F RERIBAFEBE
AB4621EZETT - HPZaEEEMTE
BiED AL R85BT © HBE
202141 123% » LA H B hnse
BT RASR A R BT A EE 5 E
BYCEE (T

48 BARZERB=BEZEU1HR
K25 - OB BULSRHAES
R o3& B A 7T U &R B B R
B BA0F IR ER - B
Al - AAEBIBKBUER - 1)
B108REBHEGBNEEMRER -

48  BREREEER
Energoatom A Gl5H &K HE T AT AE
BEWBTEFE60F - BAIZAR
HETI5AREMMA - B E10
FH - BREEEMI2AKERK
JESREITES0EF -

6 Ak BTFTREFTFEER
(Ostrovets)t% B k1 5% # A 2 A 7
BT 2WBMAR LT
FTEI2022F A THIE o

7TH REZEREEBREIER
EOZEIWIR - 25 AR AT

=3
ag °

8H - FIREET &I ¥ &8 1E3,000
MWetAZ BH#AE - 20224 BArh A
BEZEHEBLBRER - LAEME
B (Atucha) BB & & ZERE — SR 48
HIRRE °
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In September, the United Arab Emirates announced that Unit
2 of BARAKAH has been connected to the grid and units
3 and 4 have entered the final stage of trial operation, with
completion rates of over 90%. The country plans to generate
at least 50% of its electricity from clean and renewable energy
sources by 2050.

In September, the International Atomic Energy Agency
published its annual report, Energy, Electricity and Nuclear
Power Estimates for the Period up to 2050, which has upward
revised its projections of future development of nuclear power
for the first time since the Fukushima Daiichi accident in 2011
and expects that the high case and low case projection of
global nuclear power capacity to be 715GWe and 363GWe,
respectively, by 2050.

In October, French President Emmanuel Macron unveiled
the “France 2030” investment plan, including restarting the
construction of nuclear reactors in the country. According to
a report by a French electricity transmission system operator,
the most cost efficient way to secure fulfillment of France’s
goal of carbon neutrality by 2050 is to build 14 new-generation
nuclear reactors and a fleet of smaller modular nuclear
reactors, as well as to increase investment in renewable
energy.

Three nuclear power plants in Germany have closed on 31
December 2021, in accordance with the requirement of the
government.

In China

According to the data released by the China Nuclear Energy
Association, there were 53 nuclear power units in operation in China
(excluding Taiwan Region of the PRC) with a rated installed capacity
of 54,647 MWe as of 31 December 2021. In 2021, a total of four
nuclear power units were loaded for the first time, and the total
power generation from nuclear power units was 407.1 billion kWh,
accounted for 5.02% of the total power generation of the country.
Power generation by nuclear power units in 2021 represented
a year-on-year increase of 11.17% as compared with 2020 and
the cumulative on-grid power generation was 382.1 billion kWh,
representing a year-on-year increase of 11.44% compared with 2020.
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In March 2021, Li Kegiang, Premier of the State Council of China,
proposed in the Government Work Report that nuclear power should
be developed in a proactive and planned manner provided that safety
has been ensured. Since then, the direction of “Developing Nuclear
Power in a Proactive and Planned Manner” has been included in the
Working Guidance for Carbon Dioxide Peaking and Carbon Neutrality in
Full and Faithful Implementation of the New Development Philosophy,
the Action Plan for Reaching Carbon Dioxide Peak Before 2030 and
other documents of the State Council, and became the guideline for
development of nuclear power in China in the future period. With the
support of national policies, China’s independently developed third-
generation nuclear power technology “Hualong One” and “Guohe
One” have becoming mature, marking China’s official entry into the era
of mass construction of third-generation nuclear power technology. In
February 2021, the Shidao Bay high-temperature gas-cooled reactor
nuclear power plant was connected to the grid for electricity generation,
and in May, the Sino-Russian nuclear cooperation projects, Tianwan
units 7 and 8 and Xudabao units 3 and 4, were officially started, which
are great achievements of China’s nuclear power industry. In addition,
nuclear power heating, represented by the “Nuanhe One” in Shandong
Haiyang, opens a new prospect for the comprehensive use of nuclear
energy in China.
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Global natural uranium market and industry development

Broadly speaking, the total global natural uranium production in
2021 did not show significant improvement. The main producer,
Kazatomprom, produced 21,819tU in 2021, representing an increase
of 2,342tU as compared with 2020; Cameco Corporation produced
2,346tU in 2021, representing an increase of 423tU as compared
with 2020; the Olymic Dam mine of BHP Billiton Ltd. produced
2,266tU in 2021, representing a decrease of 1,345tU as compared
with 2020; and the Akouta mine of Orano has been decommissioned.
UxC estimates that the global production of natural uranium in 2021
was approximately 47,696tU, representing a decrease of 15tU as
compared with 2020.

In 2021, the spot price of natural uranium showed short-term significant
fluctuations, and the industry stepped into arapid recovery. In February,
the outbreak of low-temperature cold wave in Texas disrupted natural
gas supply and froze wind turbine blades, which led to a widespread
power outage, and nuclear power was favored by the capital market
for its stability and low vulnerability to climate. The spot price of natural
uranium rose rapidly from US$25/Ib U,Oy at the beginning of the year
to US$33/Ib U,O. In July, Sprott set up a physical uranium trust
(“Sprott physical uranium trust”) and launched “At-the-market” equity
program, aiming at purchasing massive natural uranium in the spot
market through financing and listing on the New York Stock Exchange.
Stimulated by Sprott’s bulk purchase of spot uranium, the price of
natural uranium rose sharply from the end of August to US$51.12/Ib
U0, on 17 September, and closed at US$42.10/Ib U0, at the end
of year. As of the end of 2021, Sprott physical uranium trust have
purchased a total of 41.3 million pounds of natural uranium in the spot
market. At the same time, benefiting from the significant increase in the
spot price of natural uranium, the long-term contract price increased
from US$33/Ib U0 to US$40.50/1b U,O, in 2021.
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In 2021, the trading volume of global spot natural uranium remained
significantly higher than the long-term contract trading volume. Since
the US and European nuclear power plant owners maintained an
inventory level of two to three years of operation, the motivation
for nuclear power owners to procure inventory in the short term is
not high, but the secondary demand created by emerging financial
investors, represented by Sprott physical uranium trust, has become
the new driver for the recent uranium market recovery. In addition,
Kazatomprom, Kazakhstan National Bank and other parties have
jointly established a physical uranium fund of approximately US$50
million. In 2021, a number of natural uranium developers and
explorers have also raised equity financing to prepare funds for the
development of their uranium projects, as well as targeting to procure
on the market in light of the long-term development opportunity of
spot uranium.
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Natural uranium spot prices and monthly trading volume in 2021
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BUSINESS PERFORMANCE AND ANALYSIS

Uranium mines under production - Semizbay Mine and Irkol
Mine

During the Reporting Period, Semizbay-U completed its annual
production tasks as scheduled. The total volume of uranium extracted
was 975tU, including 407tU from Semizbay Mine and 568tU from
Irkol Mine. After deduction of processing loss, the total annual natural
uranium production was 961tU. In addition, benefited from the rising
uranium prices, stringent cost control measures and the continued
depreciation of Tenge, Semizbay-U’s sales revenue has recorded a
significant increase during the Reporting Period as compared with
2020, which has laid a solid foundation for Semizbay-U to further
improve its performance and resume the 1,200tU production capacity
of the two mines.

During the Reporting Period, Semizbay Mine developed eight new
blocks with 493 boreholes drilled; increasing approximately 585tU
developed reserves; and Irkol Mine developed five new blocks with
280 boreholes drilled; increasing approximately 393tU developed
reserves.

As of 31 December 2021, the uranium reserves of Semizbay Mine
and Irkol Mine were as follows:

Reserves Average Grade
HE 9@tz

tU

i
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Uranium mine under production — Central Mynkuduk Deposit

During the Reporting Period, the Company completed the acquisition
of 49% interest in Ortalyk and the off-take of 292tU products from
Ortalyk. In 2021, Central Mynkuduk Deposit completed the annual
production plan and the volume of uranium extracted was 1,600tU
with total natural uranium of 1,579tU product, net of processing
losses.

As of 31 December 2021, the uranium reserves of Central Mynkuduk
Deposit were as follows:

Reserves Average Grade
HE TR

tU

T e

Uranium mine project pending for development - Zhalpak
Deposit

During the Reporting Period, through persistent efforts, Ortalyk
officially acquired the development rights of Zhalpak Deposit on 28
December 2021.

As of 31 December 2021, the uranium reserves of Zhalpak Deposit
were as follows:
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Uranium mine project pending for development - operation
and project exploration by Fission

During the Reporting Period, Fission focused on upgrading its existing
resource and preparing feasibility study for its PLS project. During
the winter exploration period in 2021, Fission conducted drilling and
exploration of approximately 7,200 meters by drilling 20 boreholes and
improved “inferred resource” to “indicated resource” in R780E section,
and during the summer exploration period, Fission conducted drilling
and exploration of approximately 5,830 meters by drilling 25 boreholes
and improved most of the “inferred resource” in R840W section to
“‘indicated resource”. Fission spent approximately CA$7 million
over past two exploration seasons, increasing volume of “indicated
resources” of the PLS Project by approximately 4,500tU, and the
deposit is expected to have a future production life of 10 years.

In 2021, Fission completed the first phase of the feasibility study
while upgrading its resources. A total of 73 engineering geological,
hydrological observation and pumping holes were driled at the
proposed mine site in the waste pits, tailings storage, ramp roads,
hydrometallurgical pits, shafts, ventilation shafts and campsites, as
well as sampling holes for geochemical and metallurgical studies,
resulting in a total of approximately 9,945 meters of drilling and
exploration, which provided the necessary preparation for the smooth
commencement of the second phase of the feasibility study.

In addition, Fission has appointed a feasibility study team led by
Tetra Tech Canada Inc in 2021 to support commencing various work
streams in 2022 and to meet its goal of completing the feasibility study
by the end of the year.

Natural uranium trading business

As of 31 December 2021, the Group achieved revenue of HK$3,856
million from natural uranium trading, increased by 35% as compared
to 2020, among which, trading revenue from sales of off-take natural
uranium products from mines of Semizbay-U and Ortalyk was HK$611
million, representing an increase of 44% as compared to 2020 (2020:
HK$425 million).
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During the Reporting Period, CGN Gilobal sold a total 5,314.3tU and
realised trading revenue of approximately HK$3,245 million. Natural
uranium prices in the first half of 2021 were still at a low point in the
historical cycle, but grew considerably from August onwards due
to the influx of investment funds into the market. Although face to
face communication with customers was impracticable due to the
epidemic, CGN Global leveraged the trading channel network built up
over the years and actively communicated with customers, capturing
the market upswing in the fourth quarter and achieved greater growth
in operating revenue as compared to the operating revenue in 2020.

As of 31 December 2021, the Group held 2,617tU of natural uranium,
with a weighed average cost of US$33.04 per pound of U,O,, and had
5,365 tU of natural uranium sales contracted but not delivered, with a
weighed average selling price of US$37.18 per pound of U,0,.

Acquisition of new uranium Resources Project

During the Reporting Period, the Company entered into a sale and
purchase agreement with Kazatomprom in respect of the acquisition of
49% interest in Ortalyk at the consideration of approximately US$435
million, which has been completed on 30 July 2021. The acquisition
contributed 20,700tU (approximately 53.82 million pounds of U,Og) of
equity resources to the Group.

Equity financing

During the Reporting Period, the Company entered into share
subscription agreements with eleven investors, with The China
State-owned Enterprises Mixed Ownership Reform Fund Co., Ltd.
subscribing the largest share, and conditionally agreed to allot and
issue 1 billion new Shares at the subscription price of HK$0.80 per
Share. Upon completion, the net proceeds of approximately HK$776
million will be used as general working capital and for the acquisition of
uranium resources projects.
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Maintenance of Investor Relationship REEBEEE

In 2021, against the backdrop of rapid global nuclear power 20214 » FEE2RZERBER - AREAR
MIGHRAMENRBTEENERT -
AR E BRI R4 TERG AN
, _ , , , , R BEHAN - ARFRREBER - &
the maintenance of investor relations. During the Reporting Period, MBS PR EE N ER - YA
the Company overcame the obstacles of the epidemic, improved its WE MHEEE - TEWMESEFERSE

development and the recovery of enthusiasm in the capital market for
natural uranium investment, the Company achieved fruitful results in

investor relationship management through online communication, HET T B BUSMELR -
systematically optimised its information disclosure, market promotion
and industry research, and achieved satisfactory results.

Relative Performance of Stock Price of CGN Mining (01164.HK), HSI and the Spot Price of
Natural Uranium from 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021
PEZEZEO1164.HK) R EEEEEHERAAMBEEEENZFHERR
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During the Reporting Period, the Company made several attempts WEBAN - AREEREERENEREE
to broaden its channels of direct communication and liaison with ~ BEEERETEMTEZEARE N
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Shareholders. The key works and outcomes are as follows: $E?{‘:fﬁﬂ’&% B TR RAERIEA

Channels Key points
RiE i35
Extraordinary general meeting e Approved 1 ordinary resolution on 10 June in relation
BREERAS to the acquisition of 49% interest in Ortalyk

6 10 B #EE R B A F149% M0 Ot M1 B E R

=
Annual general meeting e Approved 8 ordinary resolutions on 17 June
BRERBAFRE 617 B ESIE L BMRESR
Annual results presentation and interim e On 1 April, the annual results conference was held
results presentation through Tencent conference and Futu live broadcast
FEEBRMHERTHERRME under the chairmanship of Essence Securities

AAMREZGEESFEIRH VBRI SZNEREERN
TR BHRFERERME

e On 8 September, the interim results conference
was held through Tencent conference and Futu
live broadcast under the chairmanship of Zhongtai
Securities
OABHRAERRESFIFH MEBRASENEEEERN
HABHERBEERGE

Investor seminars and roadshows e 207 seminars and roadshows were held throughout
communication the year

REEMASGRBEBE S FHBIT207IGHT E RIEE

Increase in holdings by industry index fund e North Shore Global Uranium Mining ETF increased its
TEIEEESEE holdings in the Company by 197.54 million shares

North Shore Global Uranium Mining ETF1&1% 2K A ] %
F197.548 8K

e The Global X Uranium ETF re-incorporated the
Company into its constituent stocks
Global X Uranium ETFEFT & A2 R AE K D %

e The Horizon Global Uranium ETF and China Small Cap
Index ETF - iShare MSCI incorporated the Company
into their constituent stocks for the first time
Horizon Global Uranium ETF A Bl/)NEU AR 45 ERETF-
iShare MSCI& R A8 BRI A B A 9 A%
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Channels
RE

Company awards
A3

Regular reports and announcements
EHHERDE

AL
Company website
(http://www.cgnmc.com)

Official We Media channel
BABEERE

Official e-mail

BARBE

Receives investor enquiries and feedback

BYREEFARERRE

CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2021

Key points
B2

Received the best “Energy and Resources Listed
Company” and “Best CEQ” awards from Golden Hong
Kong Stock
RESBRKEIEREZR T AR M &ECEO]
3218

Released 25 announcements, 2 circulars and 2 regular
reports throughout the year
PEEM2BINNE -~ 2 W20 TE B E
Including 6 voluntary announcements

Bitei BREELS

Continuous maintenance:
FEKEE

Company news and industry information
RAIZERITERER

Announcements and circulars
NI

Results, report and roadshow materials
RE - mEMEEEME

Analysts’ reports

paxiin: e

The official Wechat account, the corporate accounts
on Futu, Flush and Xuegiu.com have been established
BELHRABEAMER 58 REIBLRBIRELER
Vi

ir.cgnmc@cgnpc.com.cn
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BUSINESS PROSPECTS
BUSINESS ENVIRONMENT OUTLOOK
Nuclear power market analysis

According to a study by Rystad Energy, a Norwegian energy research
firm, the total global investment in the nuclear power sector was US$44
billion in 2021 and is expected to exceed US$45 billion in 2022, and
further increase to US$46 billion by 2023.

In the beginning of 2022, China’s Unit 6 of Fuging Nuclear Power
Station has been connected to the grid for power generation, China’s
independently developed third-generation nuclear power technology
“Hualong One” passed the Generic Design Assessment (GDA) in UK,
and China National Nuclear Corporation won the main contract of Unit
3 nuclear power station in Atucha, Argentina. Under the background
of firmly promoting “Carbon Dioxide Peaking and Carbon Neutrality”
and the full maturity of “Hualong One”, it is believed that China’s
nuclear power development will have unprecedented development
opportunities.

On 2 February 2022, the European Commission passed the
Complementary Delegated Act (“CDA”) with overwhelming support
to include nuclear power in the green taxonomy, indicating that
the EU recognizes the important contribution of nuclear power to
decarbonization and that nuclear power projects are consistent with the
EU’s sustainability goals. The adoption of the CDA means that in Europe
as a whole, the support for nuclear power has increased significantly.
In addition, in the face of the widespread risk of decommissioning
conventional nuclear power units, governments and companies in
North America and Europe are investing, in varying degrees, in small
modular advanced reactors, research and development of nuclear
energy for heating, hydrogen production and other applications, and
reforming the financing model for nuclear power in order to realize the
comprehensive application of nuclear power in energy applications
on one hand; and transforming and upgrading conventional nuclear
power reactor system to extend the life of nuclear power units to 60
years or even 80 years, resulting nuclear power having a stronger
competitive cost advantage than thermal power, wind power, solar
power and other energy sources on the other hand.
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Nuclear energy has the advantages of being unaffected by global
climate change, high capacity factor, efficient and stable power
generation, and low carbon, which can effectively complement the
shortcomings of current new energy sources such as wind and solar
power. According to the forecast of UxC, global nuclear power capacity
in operation will reach 512GWe by 2035, representing an increase of
15% as compared to the end of 2021.

Natural uranium market analysis

In January 2022, Kazakhstan declared a state of emergency following
a short-term unrest caused by an increase in the price of liquefied
natural gas. Although this incident did not affect the production and
product delivery of the uranium mining enterprises of Kazatomprom,
the market is more strongly aware of the concentration on the supply
side of the natural uranium industry, and this feature will not change
significantly in the short and medium term.

Following the Fukushima Daiichi accident, uranium prices were
chronically low and no new long-term contracts were signed for a
long time, with power plant owners procuring in the spot market to
meet demand not covered by long-term contracts, while most natural
uranium producers supported their sales with long-term contracts
signed prior to the Fukushima Daiichi accident. In February 2022,
Cameco Corporation stated in its quarterly results release that it had
added 27,000tU of new long term contracts and decided to restart the
production of the McArthur River uranium mine to meet future contract
deliveries. In addition, Kazatomprom announced, in its quarterly
operating report in January 2021, that it would develop Mines 6 and 7
of the Budenovskoye uranium mine to meet contractual requirements
with Russia. The signing of new long-term contracts represents that
long-term demand from nuclear power plant owners, stimulated
by the increase in spot uranium prices, gradually surfaces and the
fundamental of the natural uranium market is improving, which brings
real recovery momentum to the natural uranium market.
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Meanwhile, procurement of Sprott in 2021 proved that secondary
demand formed by financial investors will play an important role in
the current round of rebound of spot natural uranium prices, and it is
worth noting that the current strategy of financial investors is to hold
for a long term with no plan to reduce their holdings in the short term.
Both Sprott’s continuance raising of capital by listing on the NYSE
and Yellow Cake PIc’s vote at its shareholder meeting express their
intentions or plans to continue to increase their holdings in spot natural
uranium, which will put further pressure on the secondary supply of
spot commercial inventories in 2022.

In summary, the natural uranium market is expected to continue its
recovery in 2022.

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT OUTLOOK
Operation of Semizbay-U

In accordance with the production plan of Kazatomprom, Semizbay-U
plans to reduce production in 2022. The Company will actively
participate in the governance of Semizbay-U through its board of
directors to ensure that Semizbay-U completes its annual production
plan and product sales tasks and achieves its annual profit target.
The despatched team will strengthen the supervision on the
implementation of annual production and operation plan and annual
budget to ensure the enterprise accomplishing its operational goals
with safe production. In 2022, Semizbay-U will continue to promote
evaluation of available resources in No.4 ore body and re-estimation
of the geological reserves of Semizbay Mine, to explore increasing the
reserve of Semizbay-U to prepare for enhancing its sustainability.
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Operation of Ortalyk

In 2022, the Company will participate in the governance of Ortalyk
through its board of directors to ensure Central Mynkuduk Deposit
completes its annual production plan and product sales tasks and
achieves its annual profit target on one hand; and the mine construction
plan and pre-construction preparatory work of Zhalpak Deposit are
completed in a high quality manner on the other hand. The despatched
team will actively participate in the production and operation
management of the mine, inspect and supervise the implementation
of the annual production and operation plan and annual budget, to
ensure the enterprise completing the annual operation targets with
safe production and efficient operation.

Management and Control on Fission

In respect of Fission, the Company mainly relies on participation in its
board of directors to involve in its major decision-making and exert
influence, while continuously deepening the technical support to the
PLS project and enhancing regular technical exchange. In 2022, the
Company will support Fission in completing the winter and summer
explorations as scheduled and finishing the upgrade of part of the
R780E and R840W sections of the PLS project from inferred level
to indicated level so as to extend the designed life of the mine. The
Company also plans to hire a local technical personnel to participate in
the field work of Fission in Canada to increase technical management
on PLS project and enhance collaboration efficiency.

Active Expansion of Trading Business

The Group will strengthen its business dealings with end customers,
such as global nuclear power plants owners, actively participate in
international market bidding, deepen its analysis of market conditions
and counterparties’ behaviors, seize market opportunities, develop
new business models and actively explore new trading opportunities
to ensure the achievement of annual trade targets.
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Acquisition of New Uranium Resources Projects

The Company is optimistic about the continuous growing trend of
natural uranium demand brought by the long-term stable development
of global nuclear power. The Company will seize this historical
opportunity and continue to seek for potential uranium resource
investment opportunities to build a sustainable pipeline of low-cost,
high-quality uranium resources to achieve continuity of production
capacity and provide nuclear power owners with a sustainable and
stable uranium resource. At the same time, the Company will seek
to establish strategic cooperative relationships with internationally
renowned uranium producers and traders and to explore the feasibility
of joint development of uranium projects in various modes.

Implementing equity incentive policy

In order to improve the medium and long-term incentive and restraint
mechanism of the Company, to form a benefit-sharing and risk-sharing
mechanism among Shareholders, the Company and employees, to
fully mobilize the enthusiasm of the Company’s senior and middle
management staff and core staff, and to realize the joint development
of the Company and employees, the Company will actively explore
medium and long-term incentive plans such as share options
continuously.

RISK IDENTIFICATION AND MANAGEMENT

The comprehensive risk management system of the Company
functioned effectively in 2021 with all risks under monitor and no
significant risk incident happened. The major work completed
including:

Firstly, continuing to optimize the risk management process and
strengthen risk warning and prevention. In order to achieve advance
warning and prevention of risks, the Company has established a
major risk monitoring and control index system, including 17 risk
warning and control indexes, based on the principles of combining
quantitative and qualitative risks and combining process and result.
The Company carries out risk monitoring based on the above and
makes dynamic adjustments according to the risk management
situation.
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Secondly, comprehensively implementing the risk control process and
solidly identify and monitor risks. The Company scientifically identifies
and evaluates major operational risks based on risk characteristics
and risk attributes in accordance with the requirements of the
comprehensive risk management and monitoring process, and
formulates and implements risk countermeasures; closely conduct
daily risk management tracking, with the management of the
Company informed of the progress of risk monitoring on a monthly
basis and the Board informed of the risk monitoring situation
on a quarterly basis, to supervise and evaluate the Company’s
risk management, and to provide advice and guidance on the
subsequent improvement of the Company’s risk management and
risk countermeasures.

Thirdly, focusing on special risks and strengthening the capacity of
special risk management. The Company carries out risk assessment
on investment decision of uranium resources merger and acquisition
projects and strictly implemented the process of “assessment,
evaluation and decide” for investment projects.

Upon systematic assessment analysis, the Company is subject to the
following two main risks in 2022:

Production and operational risks of the projects in Kazakhstan.
The continuation of the COVID-19 pandemic and the increase in raw
material prices will have a significant impact on the achievement of
profit targets for Semizbay-U and Ortalyk. The Company will insist
on both prevention and control of the pandemic and production
and operation, assist the Kazakhstan side in taking preventive and
control measures against the pandemic and strengthening mining
management continuously, closely monitor the progress of pipeline
connection and development, ensure continuous and stable mining
and strive to achieve the annual production target and operation target
of the mines; urge Semizbay-U and Ortalyk to lock the purchase price
of raw materials, launch special actions for cost control, implement
lean cost management and strictly control mine production costs.

The risk of fluctuation of uranium price on the Company’s
operation. Natural uranium is the main profit source of the Company
and there is a relatively higher correlation between the operating
results of the Company and natural uranium price fluctuations. The
Company will give full play to the advantage of low-cost resources
and industry operation to seize the market opportunity and improve
the Company’s performance. In addition, the Company will strengthen
market research, closely track changes in uranium prices, establish
a monitoring mechanism for uranium price fluctuations, make timely
analysis and judgment, improve risk identification and forecasting
capabilities, and cope with and prevent the risk of price fluctuations.
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FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE AND ANALYSIS

Financial performance reflects the operation performance of the
Group throughout the year. By paying attention to changes in

financial indicators, business development of the Group can be BIMERERMNA -
comprehensively understood.

OVERVIEW OF FINANCIAL RESULTS AND POSITION EEERMAEE
Major Financial Indicators FEHHBIEE

Profitability indicators

EFEDER

Profitability indicators BREDER

Gross profit margin (%)’ EHE (%) 2.29 7.08
EBITDA (HK$ million)? EBITDA(& & ET)? 248.09 222,78
EBITDA/Revenue ratio (%)° EBITDA & %580 % (%) 6.43 7.78
Net profit margin (%)* F o N2 (%) 4.62 5.42
Operation ability indicators BB HIEE

Trade receivables cycle — average FEU BR TR B — 35 (K)°

(Days)® 21 30
Inventory cycle — average (Days)® FEE -8 168 218
Investment return indicators REBIHMIER
Return on equity (%)” ez BI K (%) 8.54 7.82
Profit attributable to owners of the RNATHER AEGR TR gm &

Company to revenue ratio (%)® (%)° 4.62 5.42
Return on assets (%)° BEBIHRE (%) 3.39 4.26
Repayment ability indicators EEENIEE
Bank balances and cash (HK$ million) #R1T#FRE© (FEE7T) 81.29 1,174.51
Net tangible assets (HK$ million)! BREEFRE(FEET)° 2,151.25 2,025.08
Gearing ratio (%) BARE G E (%) 194.61 106.59

Notes: HEE

1. Difference between revenue and cost of sales divided by revenue multiplied by 1. BEBHBEERKAZEZRNUNEEBHEMN
100%. 100%

2. The sum of profit before tax, finance costs, depreciation of right-of-use assets 2. BRIBADRT  REKA - FRELERTERY

and depreciation of property, plant and equipment, if any. ¥ BB RBRETE@AE)Z -

MRBIADET - BEKA  EREEENERY
¥ BELRBHEMAE) ZMBRIAEEER
FLA100% ©

3, The sum of profit before tax, finance costs, depreciation of right-of use assets &
and depreciation of property, plant and equipment, if any, divided by revenue
multiplied by 100%.

4. Profit for the year divided by revenue multiplied by 100%. 4, ARG 0 I BR DA & SEREFF IR A 100% ©

5 Average receivables (i.e the arithmetic average of the beginning and the end of & 15 FE AR R (BN 3R 5 BR RN HA R B4 49 () BR
the Reporting Period) divided by average daily sales (i.e revenue divided by 360 VA5 B S 58 (B E 258K AB60K) ©
days).

FEEBEXERAR —T-—44% 29 1



Management Discussion and Analysis
EEENWmR DN

6. Average inventories (i.e the arithmetic average of the beginning and the end of 6. FH91FE (RNR & B9 B R E Al F 19 E) B AT
the Reporting Period) divided by average daily costs of sales (i.e costs of sales 9 A S E R (BN SEE A AR LA 360 K) ©
divided by 360 days).

7. Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company divided by total average 7. AARHEE AEEFNRFIR AT #EREE
equity (i.e the arithmetic average of the beginning and the end of the Reporting (BN#R & ER 9 EAR E Al F¥518) B SR LA 100% ©
Period) multiplied by 100%.

8. Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company divided by revenue 8. ANBHEB AR FREFIBRIAEZBERLN
multiplied by 100%. 100% -

9. Profit for the year attributable to owners of the Company divided by total average 9. ANRHEB AEEFRENRATHEELE
assets (i.e the arithmetic average of the beginning and the end of the Reporting (BN BR N EA R E A5 ¥ 1E) BFR LA 100% ©

Period) multiplied by 100%.

10. Total equity less intangible assets, net. 10. RRBEREEFEAENFE-

11. Total debt divided by total equity multiplied by 100%. 1. EREERUAERBEBFEA100% °
. - e g

Financial results MBS

The profit of the Group was HK$178 million in 2021, representing a REE2021FERFA178EEETT * &
year-on-year increase of 15% as compared to that of HK$155 million 202051558 B TTEILLIG hN15% ©
in 2020.

REVENUE E ]

For the year ended

31 December Movements
BZ12A1HILLEE 25

Increase/ Increase/
2021 2020  (Decrease) (Decrease)
20214 20205 #tn/(RL) &/ (HD)
HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$°000 %
THET TAT FHERT Aokt
Natural uranium trading KARHE S 3,856,085 2,859,214 996,871 35
Property investment MERE 3,445 3,012 433 14
Total revenue AR 3,859,530 2,862,226 997,304 35

The revenue of the Group was HK$3,860 million in 2021, representing REFE2021F L ¥R A3,860H 85T
an increase of 35% as compared to that of HK$2,862 million in 2020, 820205 H2,862F &8 TIEIN35% + =
primarily due to CGN Global actively expanded sales with increased ZREARHEZBERIEEARBERARE
annual trade volume. 2 2FEHEEM o
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Cost of sales SHERA
For the year ended
31 December Movements
HZ12A1BLEE e
Increase/ Increase/
2021 2020 (Decrease) (Decrease)
20214 2020% #h0/(R4A) i (RD)
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 %
T#ExT FAL FTET Bk
Natural uranium trading cost ~ KASE 5k A 3,771,251 2,659,460 1,111,791 42
Property investment MERE - - = =
Total cost of sales HERAXEE 3,771,251 2,659,460 1,111,791 42

The cost of sales of the Group was HK$3,771 milion in 2021, AEE021FHEKNN RS 7T7T1EE B
representing an increase of 42% as compared to that of HK$2,659 JC 20209 M2,6598H & B LM
million in 2020, due to CGN Global actively expanded sales with 42% » TBREACHEZBEEHEE QAR
increased annual trade volume, resulting in a corresponding increase BRRES  2FESHSEN - HERAK
in cost of sales. S

Gross profit and gross profit margin of natural uranium trading RARMEZEFREFER

Affected by the narrowing of the long-trade and spot prices in the off- XBEERREHEREEEREURFE
take business and the narrowing of trade spreads of CGN Global, the ZREHEREZFEZERETE A&
Group recorded a gross profit from natural uranium trading of HK$85 E2021FEHRAME S EFSSEHES
million in 2021, representing a decrease of 58% as compared to that of JC * 2020 K200 H B TE 4 58%
HK$200 million in 2020, and the gross profit margin of natural uranium RAME S ENETEZE2.20% °

trading decreased to 2.20%.

Other operating income Hh & A

The other operating income of the Group was HK$9 million in 2021, AEB2021FEMGERABIBE LS
substantially the same as compared to that of HK$9 million in 2020. JC + EAREI2020F MO H BT F o
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHER

Selling and distribution expenses of the Group was HK$14 million in REBIFHERDHERAR148 8
2021, representing an increase of 32% as compared to that of HK$10 BT B2020FM10B BB M T
million in 2020, mainly due to the increase of storage expenses of  32% * TERERZKXAMEES HE H1L
natural uranium inventories. e
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Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses of the Group was HK$42 million in 2021,
representing an increase of 11% as compared to that of HK$38
million in 2020, mainly due to the Group’s acquisition of 49% equity
interest in Ortalyk during the Reporting Period, leading to an increase
in professional services fees, such as legal fees.

Share of results of a joint venture

The joint venture of the Company is Semizbay-U. The share of results
of a joint venture was HK$138 million in 2021, representing an increase
of 95% as compared to that of HK$71 million in 2020, mainly due to
a 17% year-on-year increase in sales volume of Semizbay-U and a
continued increase in natural uranium spot prices in the second half
of 2021, leading to a significant increase in revenue of Semizbay-U.

Share of results of associates

The Company’s associates include Fission and Ortalyk. The Company’s
share of results of Fission was a loss of HK$6 million, which includes
share of loss for the Reporting Period of HK$7 million, loss on deemed
disposal of HK$32 million and the reversal of long-term investment
impairment of HK$33 million.

During the Reporting Period, Fission issued 57,500,000 ordinary
shares under subscription of new shares by investors, 510,529
ordinary shares in lieu of payment of interest, 5,477,904 ordinary
shares upon exercise of warrants, 33,381,117 ordinary shares upon
exercise of share options and 118,434 ordinary shares as part of
director remuneration, resulting the percentage of equity interests in
Fission held by the Company as at 31 December 2021 decreased to
14.34% (31 December 2020: 16.74%).

The Company’s shares of results of Ortalyk was a profit of HK$73
million, which represents the results after completion of the acquisition
of 49% equity interest in Ortalyk on 30 July 2021.

Finance costs

The finance costs of the Group was HK$50 million in 2021, representing
an increase of 22% as compared to that of HK$41 million in 2020,
mainly due to interest expenses arising from additional loans for the
acquisition of 49% equity interest in Ortalyk.

CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2021
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Income tax expenses

Income tax expense of the Group was HK$18 milion in 2021,
representing a decrease of 27% as compared to that of HK$25
million in 2020, mainly due to a decrease in taxable income during the
Reporting Period.

Profit for the year

The profit of the Group was HK$178 million in 2021, representing an
increase of 15% as compared to that of HK$155 million in 2020.

FINANCIAL POSITION AND ANALYSIS

Total assets

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s total assets were HK$6,350
million, representing an increase of 52% as compared to HK$4,188
million as at 31 December 2020, mainly due to the Group’s completion
of acquisition of 49% equity interest in Ortalyk during the Reporting
Period.

Total liabilities

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s total liabilities were HK$4,194
million, representing an increase of 94% as compared to HK$2,161
million as at 31 December 2020, mainly due to the drawdown of
a shareholder loan from immediate holding company during the
Reporting Period for the acquisition of 49% equity interest in Ortalyk.

Net current assets

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s net current assets were
HK$-1,821 million, representing a decrease of 187% as compared to
HK$2,100 million as at 31 December 2020, mainly due to financing
the acquisition of 49% equity interest in Ortalyk, resulting a significant
decrease in bank balances and cash and the drawdown of a shareholder
loan from immediate holding company during the Reporting Period.

FRiSH

AEFE2021FMERITL AI8EES
TC 0 202025 B BB T N RE27%
FERREISHREHARFUBATEE

FEBRF

AEE 2021 FFEnAA178 AEBIT
2020 F 155 A BB LM 15% °

BRI R A
AEHE

B2021F12A31H AEBEERE
£6,350 B BT - 82020412 A 31 H
H 4,188 B EETTIEIN52% - ZTEZRAR
s HAN AR R B SRR IR B2 ] 49% B AR
FE o

BEAE

B2021F 12831 R AEBEERE
B4194 B BB - 82020912 A 31 H
72,161 BEETTIEINM4% - TZFRAR
RSN R EZRIERARIRIR T IREE
o FARIREE RN E] 49% AR FE -
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As at 31 December Movements
M2H31H 2F
Increase/ Increase/
2021 2020  (Decrease) (Decrease)
20214 20205 #tn/(R2) i/ (D)
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 %
THERT TET THERT BO
Inventories & 1,743,152 1,767,335 (24,183) (1)
Trade and other receivables & I BR 2k I - JiE Ui k08 99,390 363,176 (263,786) (73)
Amount due from an FEY — R BIERA BIFIE
intermediate holding
company 2,392 2,323 69 3
Amount due from a fellow FEW —RR R KB A FFIE
subsidiary 20 19 1 5
Income tax recoverable EElTECT RN 6,956 6,678 278 4
Bank balances and cash RITEFRRS 81,293 1,174,508 (1,098,215) (93)
Total current assets RBEERE 1,933,203 3,314,039  (1,380,836) (42)

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s total current assets were M2021%12 A31H » "EBREBEER
HK$1,933 million, representing a decrease of 42% as compared to BEA1,9338 88T+ 82020412 A 31
HK$3,314 million as at 31 December 2020, mainly due to financing H®3314BEBTHI42%  EERA
the acquisition of 49% equity interest in Ortalyk resulting a significant EAREIERNAT40% BIENES - K
decrease in bank balances and cash during the Reporting Period. SEHMEHNBRITET IIRE KIBTEE ©

As at 31 December 2021, the aggregate amount of bank balances and M2021F12A318 + NEBEHEAIRTT
cash of the Group was HK$81 million (31 December 2020: HK$1,175 HEHRIE S HES1EE BT (2020F12
million), among which, approximately 28% (31 December 2020: 9%) AB1H 1,176 &) - HFRH28%
was denominated in HKD, approximately 47% (31 December 2020: (2020128318 : 9%) AAETT » #947%
90%) was denominated in USD, approximately 19% (31 December (2020%12A31H : 90%) A%t ' &
2020: 1%) was denominated in RMB. 19% (2020% 128318 : 1%) AARE -
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As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not have any bank deposits
and cash pledged to any banks (31 December 2020: Nil). The ratio of
current assets of the Group over total assets was 30% (31 December
2020: 79%), and the ratio of bank balances and cash over total assets
was 1% (31 December 2020: 28%).

Non-current assets

MR2021F12A318 + ZEBL A IR
T#F IR 2 EIFLEIRTT (2020512 A 31
H: |\ AEERDEECHEEENL
1 530% (2020F 12 A31H : 79%) » R
THEFRASEBREENLGA1% (2020
F12A31H : 28%) °

FRBEE

As at 31 December Movements
M12A31H e

Increase/ Increase/
2021 2020  (Decrease) (Decrease)
20214 2020 i/ (A) i/ (RD)
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 %
THER TAT THERT Bt
Property, plant and equipment  #)% - BiE &% 887 622 265 43
Right-of-use assets EREEE 3,970 1,977 1,993 101
Investment properties REME 53,082 52,623 459 1
Interest in a joint venture R—Eeehxsis 358,011 264,956 93,055 35
Interests in associates RESE R E 2 3,994,894 553,570 3,441,324 622
Other receivable Hofth FE U R IE 367 - 367 N/A
Deferred tax assets BEHIBEE 5,161 - 5,161 N/A
Total non-current assets  FREIEEHASE 4,416,372 873,748 3,542,624 405

As at 31 December 2021, the total non-current assets of the Group
were HK$4,416 million, representing an increase of 405% as compared
to HK$874 million as at 31 December 2020, mainly due to completion
of the acquisition of 49% equity interest in Ortalyk during the Reporting
Period, leading to a significant increase in equity interests in associates.

M2021F12H318  AEBEFERBEE
REALA16E BB+ B2020F 12 431
BH8748 BA LB MI05% - TERERZ
M EN TN IER A RI49%HE - 2RE
B A Rl AR KIRIG AN o
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Current liabilities REBEE
As at 31 December Movements
M2H31H 28
Increase/ Increase/
2021 2020  (Decrease) (Decrease)
20214 20204 i (R4) i (D)
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$°000 %
THERT FHET THERT Bt

Trade and other payables JERTBRF K A PR R 1,103,368 158,289 945,079 597
Loans from a fellow subsidiary R E —ERZHEL 82 ER 236,530 370,693 (134,163) (36)
Loan from immediate REEBRERRR ZER

holding company 2,400,197 - 2,400,197 N/A
Bank borrowings RITRE - 666,704 (666,704) (100)
Lease liabilities HERE 1,445 704 4 105
Amount due to an intermediate &1~ — R FETEAR A B1FIE

holding company 1,117 874 243 28
Amount due to fellow FERR R KB A FFIE

subsidiaries 2,188 1,135 1,053 93
Income tax payable e PRIE R 9,270 15,848 (6,578) (42)
Total current liabilities hEBBERE 3,754,115 1,214,247 2,539,868 209

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s total current liabilities were M2021F12A31H - XEBRBAEEE
HK$3,754 million, representing an increase of 209% as compared BEA3,7548 BT + 82020F12H31H
to HK$1,214 milion as at 31 December 2020, mainly due to the #1,214 B @B TIEMN209% - FZREAR
drawdown of a shareholder loan from immediate holding company by BIRHUWIER QA R40%HENE S  ANE
the Group during the Reporting Period to finance the acquisition of EREBRNmEEERARRITREE
49% equity interest in Ortalyk. oo
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Non-current liabilities

FRBEE

As at 31 December Movements
MW12A31H BE
Increase/ Increase/
2021 2020  (Decrease) (Decrease)
20214 2020 i/ (R4) i GRD)
HK$’000 HK$'000 HK$’000 %
FTEx TAT THET Bt
Deferred tax liabilities ERETIBRE 50,066 23,968 26,098 109
Loans from a fellow subsidiary R 8 —FERRZH B AR 2 ER - 533,596 (533,596) (100)
Bank borrowings RITIE 387,754 387,754 - -
Lease liabilities HEAaRE 2,417 1,162 1,255 108
Total non-current liabilities 3R EI & BEH#E 440,237 946,480 (506,243) (53)

As at 31 December 2021, the Group’s total non-current liabilities were

HK$440 million, representing a decrease of 53% as compared to
HK$946 million as at 31 December 2020, mainly due to the repayment
of part of the CGNPC Huasheng loan by CGN Global during the
Reporting Period.

M2021F12A31H - REBEERBAE
BB A4408 BB - B2020F12H31H
946 E BB ILMA53% + EERFAEF
BZBEHEEARRREHAANEESRS P
BRZEREN -

Total equity AT
As at 31 December Movements
MW12HA31H -]

Increase/ Increase/
2021 2020  (Decrease) (Decrease)
20214 2020 #f0/(R) i/ (RD)
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 %
FTET THAT FET BAt
Share capital B 66,007 66,007 - -
Reserves G 2,089,216 1,961,053 128,163 7
Total equity EREE 2,155,223 2,027,060 128,163 6
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As at 31 December 2021, total equity of the Group amounted to
HK$2,155 million, representing an increase of 6% as compared to
HK$2,027 million as at 31 December 2020, mainly due to an increase
in profit during the Reporting Period.

The Group’s gearing ratio (total debt divided by total equity multiplied
by 100%) was 195% (2020: 107%).

Assets and investments

During the Reporting Period, the Group acquired 49% equity interest in
Ortalyk at the consideration of US$435,071,181 from Kazatomprom.
The acquisition has been completed on 30 July 2021 and Ortalyk
became an associate of the Group. For details, please refer to the
circular of the Company dated 25 May 2021.

Investment direction

According to the business positioning and development strategy of
the Group, the main investment direction of the Group remains to be
acquiring competitive overseas uranium resource projects with low
cost. The Group will carry out relevant investment activities as and
when appropriate, to laid the foundation of further development of the
Group.

Financial capital

Capital structure

As at 31 December 2021, the Company had a total of 6,600,682,645
ordinary shares in issue (31 December 2020: 6,600,682,645 ordinary
shares) ordinary shares, and the market capitalization of the Company
was approximately HK$5,149 million (31 December 2020: HK$2,376
million).

On 26 November 2021, the Company entered into subscription
agreements with 11 subscribers for the subscription of an aggregate
of 1,000,000,000 new Shares at the subscription price of HK$0.80
per Share. For details, please refer to the paragraph headed
“Purchase, Sale or Redemption of the Company’s Listed Securities”
in the Directors’ Report of this annual report.
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Liquidity risk and financial resources

The Company adheres to prudent capital and treasury policy and
goals. During the Reporting Period, the Company’s operating fund
was mainly from the cash generated from operating activities and
external borrowings. The capital requirements of the Company mainly
come from possible acquisition costs for acquiring natural uranium
resources and funds for operation.

The Group has sufficient financial resources for daily operation and
business and does not have seasonal borrowing demands. If any
suitable acquisition opportunity arises in the future, the Group will
raise funds from diverse financing channels.

The Company’s financing capacity is affected by multiple external
and internal factors. To obtain financing on more favourable terms,
the Company shall understand the external financing environment
and adopt a reasonable financing model and strategies based on its
structure of assets and liabilities.

The Company pays close attention to financial market trends, actively
considers its responses to internal and external financial risks,
formulates reasonable models and strategies to ensure the safety
and economic efficiency of financing, and takes strict management
measures on debt risks to prevent exposure to related risks and to
facilitate the financial health and development of the core business.

Financing model

Given the complex and ever-changing financial market, the Company
has been exploring diverse financing methods and strives to establish
a financing model with combination of short-, medium-and long-term
capital, merged direct and indirect financing and multiple financing
channels to secure stable funds. In the process of debt financing,
the Company has taken a balanced approach between cost and
safety. The Company aims to obtain competitive financing cost but
does not consider lowest financing cost as the only objective to avoid
compromising financial safety and the quality of services received.

For projects with large capital expenditures and sound expected
returns, the Company will prudently consider using equity financing to
balance risks and enhance Shareholder value.

TRED 1 L BR A B B R

AABRM T EENE S REFHRRNE
1% mEHIE - BEMBENESTERE
REFTHEINBERRE - ARFHEEH
KEBBERBEBRAMERMAIEEE
MBS ASEZNESHK °

AEEA AV BEREYEELERH
A - B2 AZHMEMEBRER - BRK
BEENHERE  AKERFBZTE
MBERBEEES -

AR AIEVE RENBURNINEB R A #E 2 1
Z REENEENGMHRGRENAE
2 REFZHEIBRERE - WER
BONEEABEBMRRAENHER
EWSS L

RRF—BEBYVBISRTISER - BR
E AR R 2K A RSMRR S Bl EER - H
EEENREBEAMER  BRARRE
ZERMEMEEE - WIRREZENESRR
IR N R A ERRR - PAR
ERFNIBHRERZOEFEE

BEE
EERSENLBIHEAT - ARF—
ERZSTMOBESR - BHRIRE -
. ENESATHAR ERRMERNE
RARGS  SERETRHREMS
RATIRHBRIOESRIE - ZEGRE
Bi2e  ARTNBRLEERANEE R
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B+ AT AR B P B —
818 AR BEMERE REENREE

= -°
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group’s development comes with various financial risks, such as
debt risks and exchange rate risks.

Risk management of debt

As at 31 December 2021, the bank borrowings (drawdown in 2020)
were US$50 million, denominated in US$ with floating interest rate
and were unsecured with interest of 1.36% per annum. Loans
from a fellow subsidiary (drawdown during the year 2019) were
US$31 million, denominated in US$ with fixed interest rate and were
unsecured and interest bearing of 3.20% per annum. Loans from
immediate holding company (drawdown during the year 2021) were
US$310 million, denominated in US$ with floating interest rate and
were unsecured and interest bearing of 1.65% per annum.

To manage liquidity risk, the Company closely monitors the cash,
cash equivalents and unutilised credit to ensure sufficient liquidity
for operation and to reduce the effects of cash flow volatility. The
Company’s management also keeps an eye on external borrowing to
ensure sufficiency of available credit. As at 31 December 2021, the
Group has undrawn credit of US$791 million, which can be utilised
to provide sufficient cash for the Group’s operation and to reduce the
impact of cash flow volatility.

Exchange rate risk

The Company’s functional currency is US$. During the Reporting
Period, the Group’s sale and purchase of products were mainly
settled in US$ and RMB (2020: US$ and RMB), while its cash was
mainly denominated in US$ and HK$ (2020: US$ and HK$). Daily
expenses, including administrative expenses, sales and distribution
expenses, were mainly settled in US$, HK$ and RMB (2020: USS$,
HK$ and RMB). The Group was not subject to any material exchange
rate risk during the Reporting Period.

For exchange rate risk management, the Company aims to control
cost rather than profitability. In 2021, the Group had no forward
foreign exchange contracts, interests or currency swaps or other
financial derivatives for hedging purposes, and experienced no
significant difficulty or impact on its operation or liquidity due to
exchange rate fluctuation.
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CONTINGENCY EVENTS
External guarantees

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not provide any guarantee
for external party (2020: Nil). The guarantee provided by the Company
to CGN Global, a wholly-owned subsidiary, was US$150 million
(2020: US$180 million) and US$50 million (2020: US$136 million)
was utilised. The Company does not allow subsidiaries to provide any
form of guarantee to any entity or individual without the approval of
the Company.

Pledge of assets

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not pledge any of its assets
(2020: Nil).

Contingent liabilities

As at 31 December 2021, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities (31 December 2020: Nil).

Legal proceedings

The Company confirms that there was no significant litigation, and
that it was nor aware of any pending or threatened litigation against it,
which had or could have a material and adverse effect on its financial
condition or operation during the Reporting Period.

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Details of changes in accounting policies as required under the
applicable accounting standard are explained in notes 2 and 4 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

HRER
B ER

WERA - ANEE I EEINER (2020
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Corporate Governance Report
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The Company is committed to establishing and fulfilling a good
corporate governance practice and procedures, for ensuring a quality
Board, sound internal control, and transparency and accountability to
all Shareholders in order to enhance credibility and reputation of the
Company. We firmly believe that good corporate governance practice
can earn the trust of Shareholders as well as other stakeholders,
and most importantly, preserve the long-term interests of the
Shareholders.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS

Executive director, chairman and chief executive officer

Mr. An Junjing (“Mr. An”), aged 48, joined the Group in January
2018 and is currently an ED, the chairman of the Board and the
chief executive officer of the Company and serving as the managing
director of the CGNPC-URC and the chairman of Swakop. Mr.
An joined Guangdong Nuclear Joint Venture in July 1996 and
successively served as the head of the general training division
and assistant to director of the training centre of Daya Bay Nuclear
Operation Management Co., Ltd.* (KX EELSEEARETA
7]) and the deputy general manager of Fangchenggang branch from
March 2003 to December 2011. Mr. An served as the manager of
production department and subsequently as the assistant to general
manager of Guangxi Fangchenggang Nuclear Power Co., Ltd.* (&
PRIk EIZ E AR A R]) from December 2011 to May 2014. Mr. An
served as the deputy director of the office of the board and director
of the research office of CGNPC from May 2014 to February 2016.
He served as the deputy general manager of the (presiding) system
management department of CGNPC from February 2016 to January
2018. Mr. An graduated with a Bachelor’s degree in engineering in
nuclear and thermal energy utilization from Tsinghua University in July
1996 and subsequently obtained a Master’s degree in engineering in
nuclear and nuclear engineering from Shanghai Jiao Tong University
in June 2009. Mr. An was accredited as a senior engineer by CGNPC
in 2009.
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Executive director

Ms. Xu Junmei (“Ms. Xu”), aged 43, is currently an ED and the chief
financial officer of the Company and serving as the chief accountant
of CGNPC-URC. Between August 2002 and August 2013, Ms. Xu
worked for KPMG Huazhen LLP, including two years of secondment
at the State-owned Assets Supervision and Administration
Commission of the State Council between June 2011 and August
2013. Ms. Xu joined CGN Group in August 2013 and has held various
positions, including deputy manager and manager of the finance
department of CGNPC-URC and the deputy director of the finance
shared service center of CGN Power Co., Ltd. (HKEX: 01816; SZSE:
03816). Ms. Xu is currently also the chief accountant of CGNPC-URC.
Ms. Xu graduated from the University of Science and Technology
Beijing with a Bachelor of Arts degree, specialised in English, in July
2002 and obtained a Master of Business Administration from Tsinghua
University in July 2015. Ms. Xu is a member of the Chinese Institute
of Certified Public Accountants and also a Certified Internal Auditor
conferred by The Institute of Internal Auditors.

Non-executive director

Mr. Sun Xu (“Mr. Sun”), aged 586, joined the Group in November
2018 and is currently a NED of the Company and serving as the
director of CGNPC-URC, and CGN Energy International Holdings
Co., Limited (*# Bl B Z 82 R BUFRIE R B IR A &), respectively. Mr. Sun
joined Guangdong Nuclear Power Joint Venture in June 1990 and
served in management positions at various group members of CGN
Group. Since January 2011, Mr. Sun served as a full-time director
of CGN Group and has been a fulltime director and a member of
various professional committees to various group companies in
nuclear power, nuclear fuel, new energy and other industries. Mr. Sun
graduated from the Asia International Open University (Macau) (58
M CRPT) BIBR AR AE: (AIOU))in April 2001 with a Master’s degree
in business administration. Mr. Sun was accredited as a senior
economist by CGNPC in September 2014.
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Non-executive director

Mr. Yin Xiong (“Mr. Yin”), aged 56, joined the Group in November
2018 and is currently a NED director of the Company and the director
of CGNPC-UPC, and has been serving as a full-time director of CGN
Group since April 2017. Mr. Yin joined CGN Group in September
2001, prior to which he held various management positions in China
National Nuclear Corporation(F Bl1% T 2422 7)) and government
bureaux in Sanya, Hainan Province in the PRC. After joining CGN
Group, he successively served as the responsible person of some
important departments and/or senior management of CGNPC,
Daya Bay Nuclear Power Operation and Management Co., Ltd. (K
EiZEESEEEMREMTAR) and Yangjiang Nuclear Power
Co., Ltd.(F5 )T E B R A F]). From January 2016 to April 2017,
Mr. Yin served as an executive director and general manager of
Shenzhen Nengzhihui Power Sales Co., Ltd.(&IITTAE 2 [EE 1 6
EAB R AT, Which is an electricity sales company of CGN Group.
Mr. Yin received a Bachelor’s degree of science in nuclear physics
and nuclear technology from Lanzhou University in July 1986 and
a Master’s degree of science in July 1988. In May 2008, Mr. Yin
received his Ph.D. degree of management in business administration
from Grenoble School of Business in France. Mr. Yin was accredited
as a researcher-level senior engineer by CGNPC in December 2010.

Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Qiu Xianhong (“Mr. Qiu”), aged 59, is currently an INED of the
Company on August 2011. Mr. Qiu possess the qualification as a
Certified Public Accountant in the PRC and a senior accountant
of the PRC. Mr. Qiu also served as an executive director of Beijing
Furun Tianming Financial Consultant Co., Ltd* (3t =& B KA %
BRI BBR A F]). Prior to joining the Company, Mr. Qiu was a partner
of Beijing QQCPA Accounting Firm, the deputy head of the financial
department and assets management department of China Packaging
Corporation* (FEIE #4282 7)), the finance controller and the vice
secretary general to China Institute of Strategy and Management,
independent non-executive director of Qinhuangdao Tolilan Heavy
Industry Co., Ltd., and the deputy director of finance department of
preceding National Patent Bureau* (BIZX E#/3). Mr. Qiu graduated
with a Bachelor’s degree in financial accounting from Jiangxi
University of Finance and Economics.
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Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Gao Pei Ji (“Mr. Gao”), aged 75, joined the Group in August
2014 and is currently an INED of the Company. Mr. Gao also serves as
an independent non-executive director of CITIC Resources Holdings
Limited (a company listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange
with stock code 01205). Mr. Gao was a deputy director of C & C Law
Office in Beijing, a leading law firm in China, between 1984 and 1993.
Mr. Gao became a partner of Clifford Chance, a leading international
law firm, between 1993 and 2007. Following his retirement in
2007, he became a PRC legal consultant to Clifford Chance, Hong
Kong office. Mr. Gao has extensive and diversified experience in a
broad area of legal practices, including banking and finance, direct
investment (both inbound and outbound from the perspective of the
PRC) in the areas of energy, natural resource and petrochemical
projects. Mr. Gao has been involved in the development of nuclear
power projects since 1985, including the development of Daya Bay
nuclear power project, the incorporation of the operating company
for Daya Bay and Lingao nuclear power plants and the development
of the Taishan nuclear power project (applying third generation
technology). Mr. Gao holds a LLM degree from the Law School of
University of California, Berkeley. He has been admitted to practice
law in the PRC since 1984.

Independent Non-executive Director

Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis (“Mr. Lee”), aged 54, joined the Group
as an INED in August 2014. Mr. Lee was admitted as a Certified
Practising Accountant of the CPA Australia in June 1996 and a
Certified Public Accountant of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) in October 1999. Mr. Lee is currently
a Fellow Certified Practising Accountant of the CPA Australia and
a Fellow Certified Public Accountant of HKICPA. Mr. Lee has
accumulated and possessed extensive experience with large groups,
listed groups and professional firms in financial management,
accounting and auditing since 1993. Mr. Lee is currently an
independent non-executive director of Redsun Properties Group
Limited (listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange with stock
code 01996), Fusen Pharmaceutical Company Limited (listed on the
main board of the Stock Exchange with stock code 01652), Titaninvo
Technology Limited (listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange
with stock code 00872), ZonBong Landscape Environmental Limited
(listed on the main board of the Stock Exchange with stock code
01855). Mr. Lee graduated with a Bachelor of Economics from
Macquarie University in Australia in 1992.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Cai Yusheng (“Mr. Cai”), aged 54, is currently the vice president
of the Company and serving as a vice general manager of CGNPC
Uranium Resources Co., Ltd. Mr. Cai has served as the deputy director
of the Nuclear Fuel Bureau of China National Nuclear Corporation,
the project manager of the international division of Taisei Corporation,
the project manager of the international division of Bechtel Group and
the general manager of Beijing Qing Da Zheng Yuan Environmental
Engineering Co., Ltd* (L FUB RIEJRIRIR T2 T AR A R)). Mr. Cai
joined CGNPC-URC in 2006 and has held various positions including
the director of resource development department and the director
and deputy general manager of the nuclear fuel department. Mr. Cai
was also the director and chief executive officer of Swakop Uranium
(Pty) Ltd.*, a subsidiary of CGNPC-URC which operates the third
largest uranium mine in the world, between January 2018 and August
2021. Mr. Cai graduated from Tsinghua University with a bachelor of
engineering degree in engineering management in 1990 and obtained
a master of engineering degree in civil engineering from University
of Tokyo in 1998. Mr. Cai possesses over 31 years of extensive
experience in project management and in-depth knowledge in the
nuclear fuel industry.

Mr. Ding Huaibo (“Mr. Ding”), aged 41, is currently the vice
president of the Company and serving as a vice general manager of
CGNPC-URC. Mr. Ding joined CGNPC-URC in 2009 and has served
as the deputy manager of the industry development department
and the nuclear fuel department and the manager of the nuclear
fuel department. Mr. Ding had also served as the nuclear fuel
management manager of China General Nuclear Power Corporation*
(FEEZEBARE AT and CGN Power Co., Ltd. (a company
listed on the main board of HKEX, with stock code: 01816; and
listed on SZSE, with stock code: 03816). Mr. Ding graduated from
Xi'an Jiaotong University with a bachelor of science degree in applied
physics in 2004 and from Tsinghua University in 2009 with a doctor
of science degree in physics. Mr. Ding possesses over 12 years of
experience and knowledge in the nuclear fuel industry.

CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2021
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Mr. Zhou Rongsheng (“Mr. Zhou”), aged 51, is currently the
assistant president of the Company and serving as the assistant
general manager of CGNPC-URC. Prior to joining the CGN Group,
Mr. Zhou was previously a lecture and an associate professor of
school of nuclear science and engineer, an associate professor
and head of education and training centre of school of mechanical
engineering of Shanghai Jiao Tong University. Mr. Zhou joined CGN
Group in September 2010, and successively served as nuclear fuel
manager of technology and production management department,
head of nuclear fuel management division of technology research
and development department of CGNPC, and head of nuclear fuel
management division of asset operation department of CGN Power
Co., Ltd. Mr. Zhou joined CGNPC-URC in January 2016 and acted as
the assistant general manager since then. Mr. Zhou graduated from
Anhui Education College* (Z &% A %) with a Bachelor’'s degree
of chemistry in 1995 and obtained a Master’s degree of nuclear fuel
cycle and material from Nuclear Power Institute of China in 1998 and
obtained a Ph.D. degree of nuclear fuel cycle from the same school in
2002.

Mr. She Dong (“Mr. She”), aged 52, is currently a joint company
secretary and the general counsel of the Company and serving as the
secretary of board of directors and general counsel of CGNPC-URC.
Mr. She joined CGNPC in 2011 and is also currently the director of
the legal department and the director of the board of directors’ office
of CGNPC-URC, the controlling shareholder of the Company. Prior
1o joining the Company and the CGNPC Group, Mr. She worked with
the Accounting Centre of China Aviation (F Btz 4 & F L) and
had held various positions, including deputy manager of the planning
operation department (712148 & Bz) and deputy head of the planning
operation department. Mr. She obtained a bachelor’s degree in law
from the China University of Political Science and Law in July 1992
and graduated from the Université de Montréal with master’s degree
in international business law in Canada in December 2009. Mr. She
acquired a professional qualification in law in the PRC, has over 20
years of experience in legal and compliance related areas.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Under code provision A.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code,
the responsibilities between the chairman and chief executive
officer should be separate and should not be performed by the
same individual. Since Mr. Yu Zhiping’s (“Mr. Yu”) resignation as the
chairman of the Board on 27 September 2021, Mr. An has been
both the chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of
the Company. The Board believes that during the transition period
following the resignation of Mr. Yu, Mr. An should be appointed as the
chairman of the Board to ensure consistent leadership and operation.
The Nomination Committee will identify suitable candidate(s) for
making recommendations to the Board to be appointed as the chief
executive officer of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, the Company had adopted and complied
with all the applicable code provisions of the Corporate Governance
Code during the Reporting Period.

CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2021
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MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the standards of
securities transactions by the Directors. All Directors have confirmed,
following specific enquiries made, that they have complied with the
required standards set out in the Model Code regarding Directors’
securities transactions during the Reporting Period.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS
Composition and role

The Board of the Company currently comprises seven Directors,
including two EDs, two NEDs and three INEDs. The composition
of the Board is based on a comprehensive consideration of the
Directors’ professional skills, working background and qualification
and demonstrated differentiated and diversed arrangement. The
members of the Board during the Reporting Period and subsequently
up to the date of this report are as follows:

Remuneration Audit

Committee

FHEES

Directors
EDs HITES
Mr. An Junjing (chairman and ~ ZE B4+
chief executive officer) (EEREEHNITE) exM!

Mr. Chen Deshao (resigned on  FRIEAR ST A4 (FR202243 A

14 March 2022) 14BEHE)

Ms. Xu Junmei (appointed on  &E#H L+ (72022453 A
14 March 2022) 148 EZE)

NEDs FHTES

Mr. Sun Xu FBEAE

Mr. Yin Xiong BRI

Mr. Yu Zhiping (resigned on REFEE

27 September 2021)

INEDs BYFHITES
Mr. Qiu Xianhong RS A
Mr. Gao Pei Ji SEELLE
Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis RIS

C — Chairman of the relevant Board committees

M — Member of the relevant Board committees

exC — Former chairman of the relevant Board committees
exM — Former member of the relevant Board committees

CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2021
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Notes:

1. Ceased to be a member of the Remuneration Committee with effect from 14
March 2022.

2. Appointed as chairman of the Nomination Committee on 27 September 2021.

Mr. An was a member of the committee prior to such appointment.

3. Ceased to be a member/chairman with effect from 27 September 2021.

The Board is responsible for formulating the overall strategy and
policy of the Group and ensures there are sufficient capital and
management resources for the implementation of relevant strategies
and the completeness of the financial and internal control systems,
and the compliance with relevant legal requirements in business
operation. All members of the Board have fulfilled their duties and act
in the best interest of the Group and Shareholders. Unless otherwise
disclosed in this annual report, to the knowledge of the Company,
there was no financial, business, family and other material/related
relationship among members of the Board.

All Directors should comply with Rule 3.08(d) of the Listing Rules at
all times to avoid actual and potential conflict of interest and duties. In
each meeting of the Board and special committees of the Board (the
“Meetings”), Directors are required to declare if they have any interest
in the matters being considered in the Meetings. If a Director or any of
his associates have material interests in the matters to be considered/
approved, the Director will not be counted as the quorum and will
not vote at the meeting. The Director may not be present during the
discussion on related matters.

Pursuant to Article 108 of the Articles of Association of the Company
and the Corporate Governance Code, all Directors are required
to retire from office by rotation once every three years. The Board
complies with Rules 3.10 (1) & (2) and 3.10A of the Listing Rules in
relation to the appointment of at least three INEDs, which represents
at least one-third of the Board, and one of the INEDs has appropriate
professional qualifications in accounting or related financial
management expertise.

In accordance with the requirements of code provision C.2.1, the
Directors have conducted a review of the overall effectiveness of the
internal control systems of the Group and concluded that all material
controls, including financial, operational and compliance controls and
risk management are effective during the Reporting Period.
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Responsibilities of the Board

As the decision-making body of the Company, the Board

takes charge of the corporate governance function. The major

responsibilities of the Board include the tasks stated below. The

Board may delegate the responsibilities to other committees as it
thinks fit:

@)

to review the Company’s policies, programs and procedures
and make recommendations as necessary from time to time;

to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices to
ensure compliance with the legal and regulatory requirements;

to oversee the implementation of any code of conduct and/
or business ethics of the Company to ensure the Company’s
compliance with the relevant rules and regulations, including
but not limited to the Listing Rules and the Takeovers Code;

to review the Company’s compliance with the Corporate
Governance Code and disclosure in the Corporate Governance
Report;

to form any committee(s) or panels, appoint members thereto,
delegate at any time and from time to time to any person
or committee(s) or panel(s), any of its powers and functions
conferred on it, review and approve the reports of the
committee(s) and panel(s), review their performance and revise
their composition and terms of reference as appropriate;

to oversee all matters and to formulate policies in relation to the
Company’s internal control, succession plans, remuneration and
compensation for Directors and employees, risk management,
corporate governance and corporate social responsibility, and
to supervise the implementation of such policies conducted by
the Company’s management;

CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2021
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(h) investigate any significant instances of non-compliance or
potential non-compliance of the Company; and

()  to do any such things to enable the Board to discharge its
obligations and responsibilities.

Major work performed by the Board in relation to its corporate
governance function in 2021 includes:

1. reviewing and approving the Board’s major work plan of 2021

(including summary of the Board report of 2020);

2. reviewing and approving the comprehensive risk management
report of 2021 (including summary of risk management situation
of 2020);

3. reviewing and approving the internal audit plan of 2021
(including summary of the internal work plan of 2020);

4. reviewing and approving the internal control evaluation report of
2020;

5. reviewing the interim report on the implementation of
comprehensive risk management of 2021; and

0. reviewing the internal control manual (2021 version).
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APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

All Directors, including the chairman and the chief executive officer,
are required to retire from office by rotation once every three years
and are subject to re-election by Shareholders at the annual general
meeting in accordance with the Articles of Association and the
Corporate Governance Code. The Articles of Association of the
Company provides details in relation to the procedures of election
and appointment of the Directors.

Besides, pursuant to article 112 of the Articles of Association of the
Company, Directors appointed to fill casual vacancy shall hold office
only until the next general meeting after their appointment, and shall
be subject to re-election at general meetings.

All Directors will enter into a director service contract with the
Company immediately after their appointment for a term of two years
and subject to retirement and re-election at least once every three
years. The contract sets out the details of the duties and obligations
of Directors. All Directors understand that they have joint responsibility
towards all Shareholders in terms of the operation, business and
development of the Company. They are required to fulfill Directors’
duties according to the director service contract and relevant laws
and regulations. All Directors confirm that they provide sufficient time
and effort in company affairs, express their views cautiously and
diligently and fulfill their Directors’ duties.

Directors’ Interests

As recorded in the register required to be kept under section 352
of part XV of the SFO, none of the Directors held Shares of the
Company or associated companies as at 31 December 2021.

CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2021
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Directors’ Training and Continuous Professional Development

Newly appointed Directors will receive an introduction package
related to the laws in relation to directors of a listed company and
their duties, which covers the statutory and regulatory obligations of a
director.

Pursuant to code provision A.6.5, directors should participate in
continuous professional development training to develop and refresh
their knowledge and skills. The Company encourages all Directors to
participate in continuous professional development to ensure better
fulfillment of Directors’ duties and contribution to the Company’s
development. During the Reporting Period, all Directors participated
in continuous professional development by attending internal training,
seminar or forum. Furthermore, attending training seminars or reading
materials is also beneficial to continuous professional development.

A summary of training taken by the Directors in 2021 is set out as
follows:

Directors

EERIIRBEERRRE

EZENHESKRIEHR LT ARES
&?ﬁ‘&%%ﬂﬁkﬁﬁﬁi&&ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬂﬁ&ﬁﬁ#
CABRREEFNEENEERMT -

RIBTRANEXFEA6LRRTE EFES
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Type of training

EIER

EDs HITES
Mr. An Junjing TZEFLA ab
Mr. Chen Deshao BRIEARSE A4 ab
NEDs FUTES
Mr. Yu Zhiping REFLEAE b
(resigned on 27 September 2021) (FA202149 A27 HEHT)
Mr. Sun Xu RIBSEE ab
Mr. Yin Xiong BRI a,b
INEDs BYFHTES
Mr. Qiu Xianhong ERSedt S ab
Mr. Gao Pei Ji BIEESE ab
Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis B SE ab
a. Attending training seminars in person/via video: on 25 November 2021, the a. ERE AR SEL INIEHIEEE - ARARR20214F
Company held a training session for Directors, the topic was difficulties, 11 A25 B RPEZHIEEY| - FBR=FT

struggles and solutions for State-Owned Enterprise reform under the Three-Year
Action Plan.

b. Reading training materials relevant to the Company’s business or the Directors’
duties and obligations.
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CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

According to the Corporate Governance Code A.2.1, the roles of
chairman of the Board and chief executive officer should not be
performed by the same individual. During the Reporting Period, Mr.
Yu Zhiping resigned as the chairman of the Board, and the chief
executive officer, Mr. An Junjing, was appointed as the chairman
of the Board. The Board considers that having the same person as
both chairman and chief executive officer ensures consistency in
leadership and operations and balances between power and authority
can be achieved under the Company’s delegated management
system. The Nomination Committee is in the process of identifying
suitable candidates to recommend to the Board for the position of
chief executive officer in compliance with the requirements of Code
Provision A.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code.

NEDS

NEDs, including INEDs, are experienced individuals from different
industries and backgrounds. At least one of them possesses
the appropriate accounting qualifications and related financial
management expertise as required by the Listing Rules. Based on
the expertise and experience of each of the Director, the Directors
assumes related responsibilities to provide independent judgment
and advise on the Company’s management. The number of NEDs
representing more than half of the Board members, which helps the
Company to make objective and independent judgment and decision.
The advice of NEDs shall be considered as major advice, in case
where there are potential conflicts of interest on the matter.

The initial term of appointment of each NED is two years and is
subject to retirement and re-election as required by the Articles of
Association, and will continue thereafter until terminated by not less
than three months’ notice in writing served by either party to the
other.

The Company has received from each INED the annual confirmation
of independence in compliance with Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.
After taking into consider of the factors set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules, the Company is of the view that all the INEDs are
independent.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Zheng Xiaowei (“Ms. Zheng”) the original company secretary of
the Company, has reached the age of retirement and has resigned
on 27 September 2021. Following the resignation of Ms. Zheng,
Mr. She Dong (“Mr. She”) and Ms. Lai Siu Kuen (“Ms. Lai”) have
been appointed as joint company secretaries of the Company on
27 September 2021. Mr. She is currently the general counsel of the
Company, and Ms. Lai is a director of Corporate Services of Tricor
Services Limited and works closely with Mr. She, who is also her
primary contact person at the Company.

The role of the company secretaries is to support the chairman
of the Board, the Board and relevant committees, and to ensure
smooth communications and timely transmission of information. At
the same time, the company secretary plays an important role in
ensuring the Board meetings are convened in accordance with laws
and regulations, and the Board’s decisions are executed correctly.
The company secretary is also an important communication bridge
between the Company and Shareholders, and assists the Board
to perform its responsibility to Shareholders in accordance with the
Listing Rules.

In accordance with the Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules, Mr. She and Ms.
Lai have received no less than 15 hours of professional training during
the Reporting Period.

BOARD PROCESS AND ATTENDANCE OF MEETINGS

There are at least four regular Board meetings held every year, and
ad hoc Board meeting is convened when necessary. In addition to
written resolutions, Directors participated in the meetings either in
person, by proxy or through electronic means of communications.
Board members have full access to the business development of the
Company at the meetings at regular interval.

At least 14 days’ notices of all regular Board meetings were given
to all Directors, who were given an opportunity to add matters in
the agenda for discussion. The finalised agenda and accompanying
board papers were sent to all Directors at least 3 days prior to the
meetings.
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During the Reporting Period, there were six Board meetings held by RMEHRA - ARFIHEBRONESS -
the Company in total. The attendance of each Director at the Board EERHFEESEESRNEFLZEE SR
meeting and relevant committee meetings are as follows: BIERIT

Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings held

HERY, RSB TRY

Board Audit Remuneration Nomination
Position Meeting Committee Committee Committee

Bt Exe ENZEE  FMZEEE 2 REZEE

Mr. Yu Zhiping NED, chairman of both the Board and nomination 3/4 N/A 0/0 1/2
(resigned on 27 committee and member of the remuneration
September 2021)  committee until 27 September 2021

RETREM2021 FRNTES  EFQLR  REZEGIRRF 3/4 TER 0/0 1/2
FOR2TREME) MEEEZEEZE2021F9A27H

Mr. An Junjing ED, chairman of the Board and member of 5/6 N/A 0/0 12
the nomination committee (re-designated
as chairman of the nomination committee
on 27 September 2021) and member of the
remuneration committee

ZEERAE PITEE EFeIF REZEEZE(R 5/6 TEA 0/0 1/2
2021 F9A2TERERREZERER) RFH
ZE®Z%8
Mr. Chen Deshao  ED 5/6 N/A N/A N/A
BB £ HITEE 5/6 TNER NEA MNER
Mr. Sun Xu NED and member of the audit committee 5/6 4/4 N/A N/A
b4 ihtee FHTEEREREZERERE 5/6 4/4 NEH NEA
Mr. Yin Xiong NED 5/6 N/A N/A N/A
BRI FTES 5/6 TEA N NiEfA
Mr. Qiu Xianhong  INED, chairman of both the audit committee and 6/6 4/4 0/0 2/2

the remuneration committee and member of the
nomination committee

AL BUFNTES EREEQIR FWEEE 6/6 4/4 0/0 2/2
IRRREEECZE

I 58 CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2021



Corporate Governance Report
TEERRE

Number of meetings attended/Number of meetings held

Board
Position Meeting
B =g
Mr. Gao Pei Ji INED, member of the remuneration committee 6/6
and the nomination committee
SEALE BUTES  HTMZEQZERIREZER 6/6
%8
Mr. Lee Kwok INED, member of the audit committee, the 6/6
Tung Louis remuneration committee and the nomination
committee
ZERRESE BUNTES  BRLEQZE  FWZE® 6/6
ZENREEESZE

Should a potential conflict of interest involving a controlling
Shareholder or a Director arise, the matter would be considered and
approved in a physical meeting, as opposed to being dealt with by
written resolution. Other Directors and INEDs with no material conflict
of interest would be present at the relevant meetings.

The Company has arranged appropriate Directors and officers liability
insurance in respect of potential legal action against Directors.

DELEGATION AND WORK DONE BY THE BOARD

The Board provides leadership and oversees the Group’s business
management, strategic decisions, performance and affairs.

The Board has formulated a clear written policy that delineates
matters reserved for Board approval of the Group. The reserved
matters include, among other things:

1. business development and planning;
2. corporate policies;

5. financial planning;

4. investment planning;

3, annual budget;

HERE, SEETRY

Audit Remuneration Nomination
Committee Committee Committee
ENZEE PMESE REEZE®
N/A 0/0 2/2

il 0/0 2/2

4/4 0/0 2/2

4/4 0/0 2/2
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6. major disposals and acquisitions;
7. major connected transactions;
8. appointment of Directors, company secretary and other senior

management; and

9. other significant operational and financial matters.

In addition to work relating to corporate governance function, other
major work performed by the Board during the Reporting Period

includes:

1. considering, reviewing and approving the annual results of
2020, annual report and matters relating to the annual general
meeting;

2. reviewing the 2020 implementation report and approving the

2021 business plan;

3. reviewing and approving the 2021 budget planning;

4, reviewing and approving the business proposal for the
“Fourteenth Five-year Plan”;

SF considering the decision-making application for the acquisition
of 49% equity interest in Ortalyk and the continuing connected
transaction of off-take arrangements thereunder;

6. reviewing and approving organizational adjustment and staff
planning of 2021;

7. reviewing the (continuing) connected transactions execution
report of 2020;
8. considering the appointment of the auditor of 2021 and

determination of their remuneration;

9. reviewing and approving the investment strategy of Fission;

10.  reviewing and approving the subscription of new shares under
the general mandate; and

11. reviewing the 2022 business plan preparation ideas.
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The day-to-day operation and management of the Group is delegated
to the senior management. Certain authorities are also granted to
relevant Board committee, the granted authorities and responsibilities
are reviewed by the Board from time to time.

BOARD COMMITTEES

There are three committees under the Board of the Company, which
are the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the
Nomination Committee, with its terms of reference established. Each
specific committee performs on specific area, provides comments
and recommendations to the Board for consideration.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Audit Committee is delegated by the Board to exercise its
specific rights within the ambit of the terms of reference.

As at 31 December 2021, the Audit Committee comprised a NED,
namely Mr. Sun Xu, and two INEDs, namely Mr. Qiu Xianhong
(chairman) and Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis.

The function of the audit committee is to assist the Board in providing
an independent review of the effectiveness of the financial reporting
process, internal control and risk management systems of the Group,
and oversee the audit process. The audit committee also serves as a
focal point for communication, among Directors, the external auditors,
and the management as regards financial reporting, internal control
and the auditing.

Major work performed by the audit committee during the Reporting
Period includes:

1. hearing the report on 2020 audit works by the auditor;
2. considering the annual report and the first draft of result
announcement;

. considering the 2020 internal audit plan (including the 2020
internal audit summary);

4. considering the 2020 internal control evaluation report;
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EERRE
5. considering the report on the implementation of comprehensive

risk management in 2021 (including the summary of 2020
comprehensive risk management);

6. reviewing the 2021 interim results and matters relating to
interim report;

7. considering the interim report on the implementation of
comprehensive risk management report of 2021;

8. considering the internal control manual (2021 version); and

9. communicating on the 2021 audit plan.

During the Reporting Period, the Board had no disagreement with the
Audit Committee’s view on the selection, appointment, resignation or
dismissal of the external auditors.

Internal Control

The Board has overall responsibility for setting up and maintaining
effective internal control system and for reviewing its effectiveness,
to safeguard the Group’s assets and Shareholders’ interest.
The management of the Company at each level assesses on
the adequacy and effectiveness of the internal control system by
performing reviews. Internal control department reports to the audit
committee once a year on key findings regarding internal controls.
Audit committee, in turn, communicates any material issues regarding
internal control system to the Board.

During the Reporting Period, the audit committee conducted a review
on the effectiveness of the internal control system, and no serious
deficiencies were identified. Therefore, the Board considered that the
internal control systems of the Group are effective, and complied with
the provisions of the Corporate Governance Code.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee is delegated by the Board to exercise
its specific rights within the ambit of the terms of reference.

As at 31 December 2021, the Remuneration Committee comprised
one ED, namely Mr. An Junjing (resigned as its member on 14 March
2022) and three INEDs, namely, Mr. Qiu Xianhong (chairman), Mr.
Gao Pei Ji and Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis.

The function of the remuneration committee is to make
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and
structure of all remuneration of EDs, NEDs and senior management
and review the remuneration packages of the EDs and senior
management with reference to the corporate goals and objectives.

No Directors’ remuneration adjustment was made during the
Reporting Period.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5, the annual remuneration of the

members of the senior management (excluding the Directors) by
band during the year ended 31 December 2021 is as follows:

FriNgEE (8 )

Remuneration band (HK$)

Nil to 1,000,000

1,000,001 to 1,500,000
1,600,001 to 2,000,000
2,000,001 to 3,000,000
3,000,001 to 3,500,000

0-1,000,000

1,000,001-1,500,000
1,500,001-2,000,000
2,000,001-3,000,000
3,000,001-3,500,000

Details of the remuneration of the Directors and the 5 highest
paid individuals are set out in note 15 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee is delegated by the Board to exercise its
specific rights within the ambit of terms of reference.

As at 31 December 2021, the Nomination Committee comprised one
ED, namely Mr. An Junjing (chairman) and three INEDs, namely Mr.
Qiu Xianhong, Mr. Gao Pei Ji and Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis.

The function of the Nomination Committee is to review and
formulate the nomination procedure as regards the appointment,
re-appointment and removal of Directors; review the structure,
size and composition of the Board and make recommendations or
any proposed changes to the Board to implement the corporate
strategy; and make recommendation to the Board on candidates
for appointment as Directors. The Nomination Committee follows
rigorous selection procedure in choosing the right person as
a member of the Board. Various criteria such as appropriate
professional knowledge, experience, skills and possible contribution
of the candidate will be considered.

During the Reporting Period, major work performed by the nomination
committee includes:

1. recommending the retirement and re-election of Directors at
the annual general meeting;

2. assessing the independence of INEDs; and
3. considering the re-designation of director.

Board Diversity policy

The Board adopted the “Board Diversity Policy”. The Company
recognises the merits of Board diversity and sees the edge of
Board diversity in driving competitiveness. In making up the Board’s
composition, the Board considers various skills, regional and industry
experience, background, gender and other attributes of the members
of the Board. All appointments of the Board are based on the talent,
skill and experience of the individual, as well as gender diversity, so as
to meet the operational needs.
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As of 31 December 2021, save for gender diversity, the Board
composition can fulfill the diversity requirements on skills,
background, and regional and industry experience. On 14 March
2022, the Company appointed Ms. Xu Junmei as an ED to achieve
gender diversity among directors.

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation
of the financial statements of the Group. In preparing the financial
statements, the HKFRSs have been adopted, appropriate accounting
policies have been used and applied consistently, and reasonable
and prudent judgments and estimates have been made. The Board is
not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions
which may cast significant doubt over the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern. Accordingly, the Board has continued to adopt
the going concern basis in preparing the financial statements.

The Company’s auditor, BDO Limited, acknowledged its reporting
responsibilities pursuant to the Corporate Governance Code. The
auditor’s responsibilities are set out in the independent auditor’s
report.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

During the Reporting Period, the remuneration paid by the Company
to the auditor, BDO Limited and its affiliate company, is set out as
follows:

FriR B0 BR 7%

Services rendered

Audit services ENZIRTE

Non-audit services HEZRTE

The significant amount of fee incurred for non-audit services arose
from review of interim results, consultation service on continuing
connected transactions and consultation service on acquisition
projects.
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SHAREHOLDERS AND SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETING

In order to ensure that all Shareholders of the Company enjoy equal
status and effective exercise of their own rights, the Company
convenes general meetings every year in accordance with the Articles
of Association. During the Reporting Period, two general meetings
were held, namely the extraordinary general meeting on 10 June 2021
and the annual general meeting on 17 June 2021. The attendance of
each Director is as follows:

RERMBRRAE

RIREAARMBRREZR FEMANHE
BT B S R - RNABIRBEEIZA
AR ESFERARERE - |EHA -
RATRITT2RRERE - 9 514£2021
FEA10ARITHIR R FFRIAE fM20214F
6RA17TARITHRIEFAT - TR
RERARGERIAT :

Number of
meetings
attended/

Number of

meetings held

HERE

BERETRY
Mr. Yu Zhiping (resigned on 27 September 2021)  #&&F 54 (R20214E9 527 BEHT) 2/2
Mr. An Junjing TEIFLAE 2/2
Mr. Chen Deshao BRIEAR ST A 2/2
Mr. Sun Xu HIBSHE 2/2
Mr. Yin Xiong BRIES A 2/2
Mr. Qiu Xianhong ER St S 2/2
Mr. Gao Pei Ji AL E 2/2
Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis FEIR A 2/2

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Right to convene an extraordinary general meeting

Pursuant to article 64 of the Articles of Association, on the requisition
of one or more Shareholders at the date of deposit of the requisition
holding not less than one-tenth of the paid-up share capital of the
Company having the right to vote at general meetings, the Directors
are obliged to proceed to convene an extraordinary general meeting
of the Company.

Such requisition shall be made in writing to the Directors or the
company secretary for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary
general meeting and deposited at the registered office of the
Company in Cayman Islands and/or the principal place of business
of the Company in Hong Kong. The requisitionists must state the
purposes of the meeting and sign the requisition letter.
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If the Directors do not convene a meeting within 21 days from the
date of the deposit of the requisition, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may convene a meeting, and all reasonable expenses
incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Directors
shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

Right to put enquiries to the Board

Shareholders have the right to put enquiries to the Board. All enquiries
may be made in writing and sent to the attention of the joint company
secretary, Mr. She Dong, in one of the following ways:

1. By post: CGN Mining Company Limited
Room 1903
19/F, China Resources Building
No. 26 Harbour Road
Wanchai, Hong Kong

2. By facsimile: (852) 2116 4031
3. By email: ir.cgnmc@cgnpc.com.cn

Voting by poll

Pursuant to Rule 13.39 of the Listing Rules and article 72 of the
Articles of Association of the Company, any votes of the Shareholders
at a general meeting must be taken by poll, except where the
chairman decides to allow a resolution which relates purely to a
procedural or administrative matter to be voted by a show of hands.

Procedures to put forward proposals at general meetings

Shareholders who would like to put forward proposals at a general
meeting shall follow the procedures below:

On the requisition in writing of either: i) any number of Shareholder
of the Company representing not less than one-fortieth of the
total voting rights of all the Shareholders having at the date of the
requisition a right to vote at the meeting to which the requisition
relates; or ii) not less than 50 Shareholders, the Company shall, at the
expense of the requisitionists:
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a) circulate to Shareholders entitled to receive notice of the next
annual general meeting notice of any resolution which may
properly be proposed and is intended to be proposed at that
meeting;

b) circulate to Shareholders entitled to have notice of any general
meeting sent to them any statement of not more than one
thousand words with respect to the matter referred to in any
proposed resolution or the business to be dealt with at that
meeting.

The requisition must be signed by the requisitionists and deposited
at the registered office of the Company in Cayman Islands and/or
the principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong for
the attention of the company secretary not less than 6 weeks before
the general meeting, in case of a requisition requires notice of a
resolution, or not less than 1 week before the general meeting for any
other requisition.

Change in Constitutional Documents

During the Reporting Period, there was no change in the constitutional
documents of the Company.

Risk management and internal control
Comprehensive risk management

The Company has basically established a relatively comprehensive
risk management system. With reference to relevant risk management
requirements of the “Risk Management — Principles and Guidelines”
of 1ISO31000:2009 standard and the Corporate Governance Code,
the Company effectively identified, tracked and controlled the risks.
It also strictly implemented the Comprehensive Risk Management
Policy. Meanwhile, the Company classified the overall risk business
into four levels, namely major operating risk, non-investment specific
risk, project investment risk and general risk, and clearly defined
risk management process respectively. The Board, management,
the risk management department and business departments were
responsible for their relevant duties within risk management to ensure
the efficient operation of the system.
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Internal audit

During the Reporting Period, the Company conducted audit work
such as risk management assessment, internal control assessment
and the preliminary audit work on the acquisition project of 49%
equity interest in Ortalyk. By implementing specialized audit and
risk management reviews and internal control assessments, regular
management advices were provided to the Board to effectively
prevent and monitor the risks inherent in the operation and
management of the Company in the relevant areas, which has played
an active role in the internal audit in risk prevention and control and in
ensuring the legal and compliance of the Company.

At the same time, the audit department of the Company, as the
lead department for investigation responsibility for violations of
business operations, has regularly confirmed with various functional
departments and affiliated companies whether there is any non-
compliance every quarter, and established a complete notification
and monitoring mechanism. During the Reporting Period, no clues
or problems were found for investigating responsibility for illegal
operations and investments. The establishment of a sound system
of investment accountability for non-compliance provides further
protection to the Company’s asset safety and legal compliance
operations.

The Company regulates the handling and dissemination of inside
information as set out in the information disclosure policy which
contains the detailed procedures to ensure that inside information
could be identified timely and remain confidential until the disclosure
of such information is appropriately approved, and the dissemination
of such information is effectively and consistently made.
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Human Capital ANEZR

We have built up an excellent team of management and professional AREQFNFERRERE  BAUER
talents, with the guidance and value of treasuring, caring for and AT BEAT - BAASOIREBEM
optimizing talents to support the sustainable development of the BESD  TET —XEFNEEMEE
Company. AA B o

As at 31 December 2021, the Group had 22 employees, among R2021F12A31H » ZEBELF22%E
which 6 in Hong Kong, 6 in Beijing (to be expatriated to Kazakhstan), 8 HheRHNEE  cBHMNt R (5
3 in Kazakhstan and 7 in UK. For further information about staff ~ SMNREMEZHIA) - 3RERKBERE
remuneration, please refer to the relevant contents in notes 14 and HETR - 7TRENEE c FHEEES

15 of the consolidated financial statements. 15 BREBLRAEMBERERMF14R156H
Talents AT B
Employee composition EIT#%E

HERMAR

Technical personnel

BIEAR
Management
personnel

B stens
PhD

ETifRE
Master’s degree

B cexn
68% Bachalor’s
degree
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Professional qualifications

Among the existing workforce, employees holding professional
qualifications of middle-level and above represented 73%.

Employment Mechanism
Path of development

The Company cares growth and career development of each
employee, and has set two paths of career development, namely
the management and the professional technical path, and has
established the switch mechanism between the two paths. Staff can
freely choose from the two career development paths and show their
talents. Meanwhile, the Company provides guidance to staff to set up
their personal career development plan, so as to help them to make
rapid career growth.

Internal talent market

For better use of the ability and expertise of each employee, the
Company established the internal talent market. Vacancies will first
be filled by internal talents, through which the aspiration of individual
employees can be better realized and optimized the allocation of
internal human resources, thus to accomplish the development of
both the Company and employees.

Evaluation System

In order to ensure the Company’s objectives can be effectively
implemented, we have established both incentive and restraint
mechanisms, and tends to guide employees’ conducts by way
of continuous communication, feedback and improvement. The
Company established a complete performance management
system by following the steps of communication, coaching, tracking
and assessment during the formulation and implementation of the
performance plan, so as to reach the expected performance results,
and promotes the co-development of the Company and employees.
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Cultivating talents

The Company adheres to the concept of “cultivating prioritizes
training”, follows the principle of “authorized employment, training for
all employees and lifelong education” by absorbing the experience
of international talent training, and formulate the rolling plans and
supporting systems for key positions, forming a standardized and
efficient independent talent training system.

Training resources

With close combination of its business needs, the Company fully
utilises its own advantages and has established a comprehensive
training system for all employees, covering management cadres,
key positions and internationalized talent pools. At the same time,
relying on the extensive training resources of CGN Group, we have
shared more than 1,000 online courses of the CGN Group, allowing
employees to learn and to have on-the-job training at any time on
demand, effectively meeting the rapid development and talent training
needs of the Company.

Remuneration system

Combined with the characteristics of the industry, the Company
constructed a competitive remuneration system which appeals to
quality talents and motivates employees effectively. The remuneration
system reflects the value of positions and individual contribution
and encourages long-term service of employees, jointly striving for
continuous growth and sustainable development of the Company and
sharing the results of corporate development. Remuneration is mainly
composed of monthly salary, performance bonus, over-time pay,
allowance and subsidy and benefits.

CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2021
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The Board is pleased to present the Directors’ report and audited
consolidated financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2021 as follows.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND ANALYSIS OF
OPERATIONS

The Company is mainly engaged in properties investment, trading of
natural uranium and other trading. The principal businesses of our
subsidiaries include trading of natural uranium and investment of
natural uranium resources. An analysis of the Group’s business for
the year is set out in note 6 to the consolidated financial statements.

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS IN HONG
KONG

The head office and principal place of business of the Company in
Hong Kong is located in Room 1903,19/F, China Resources Building,
No. 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

EARNINGS AND DIVIDEND DISTRIBUTION

The earnings of the Group for the year of 2021 are set out in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income on pages 144 and 145 of the annual report.

Since the Group intends to retain sufficient capital for business
expansion, the Board did not recommend the payment of any final
dividend for the year 2021 (2020: HKO.5 cent per share).

ANNUAL RESULTS

Details of the Group’s business performance for the year of 2021 and
its analysis are set out in the section “Management Discussion and
Analysis” to this annual report.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company has adopted a dividend policy, pursuant to which
allowing Shareholders to participate in the Company’s profits whilst
to retain adequate reserves for future growth. The declaration
and payment of dividends by the Company is also subject to any
restrictions under the laws of the Cayman Islands, the Articles of
Association and any applicable laws, rules and regulations.
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The Directors may from time to time determine and pay to the
Shareholders such interim dividends as it considers appropriate. The
Board may also recommend the payment of final dividends which are

required to be approved by Shareholders in general meetings.

The ratio of final dividend distribution for the end of the year is
based on the various factors such as business performance of the
Company, including future cash commitments and investment needs
to sustain long-term business growth. In case of distributing a final
dividend, it is expected to be not less than 20% of distributable profits

of continuing business.

BUSINESS REVIEW

The business review of the Group during the period, the Group’s
exposure to potential risks and uncertainties, business prospects,
financial performance and relevant analysis, together with compliance
with the relevant laws and regulations that have a significant impact
on the Group are set out in the section headed “Management

Discussion and Analysis” to this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment and
investment properties of the Group are set out in notes 16 and 18 to

the consolidated financial statements respectively.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the major subsidiaries held by the Company are set out in

note 33 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company are set out

in note 30 to the consolidated financial statements.

CONVERTIBLE BONDS

During the Reporting Period, the Company did not issue any
convertible bonds nor or has any convertible bonds outstanding.
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DIRECTORS

During the Reporting Period and as at the date of this report,
Directors of the Company are as follows:

EDs

Mr. An Junjing (chief executive director, appointed as the chairman of
the Board on 27 September 2021)

Mr. Chen Deshao (resigned on 14 March 2022)

Ms. Xu Junmei (appointed on 14 March 2022)

NEDs

Mr. Yu Zhiping (resigned on 27 September 2021)
Mr. Sun Xu
Mr. Yin Xiong

INEDs

Mr. Qiu Xianhong
Mr. Gao Pei Ji
Mr. Lee Kwok Tung Louis

In accordance with Article 112 of the Articles of Association, any
Director appointed to fill a casual vacancy or as an additional Director
shall hold office only until the next following general meeting of the
Company and shall then be eligible for re-election at the meeting
but shall not be taken into account in determining the Directors or
the number of Directors who are to retire by rotation at such general
meeting.

In accordance with Articles 108 and 112 of the Articles of Association,
Ms. Xu Junmei, Mr. Sun Xu and Mr. An Junjing will retire from office
by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting, but are eligible
for re-election.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

There is no service contract, which is not terminable by the
Company within one year without payment of compensation (other
than statutory compensation), in respect of the Directors who are
proposed and offered for re-election at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

Save for the transactions set out under “Connected Transactions”,
there were no any other transaction, arrangement or contract of
significance of the Group in which a Director or an entity connected
with a director is or was materially interested, either directly or
indirectly, subsisting during or at the end of Reporting Period.

DIRECTORS’ INDEMNITIES

Pursuant to the Articles of Association, every Director shall be entitled
to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all losses
or liabilities which he may sustain or incur in or about the execution of
the duties of his office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company
has arranged appropriate liability insurance coverage for the Directors
and senior management.

BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 42 to
45 of this report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 31 December 2021
amounted to approximately HK$715 million.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Articles of
Association and there was no restriction against such rights under the
laws of the Cayman Islands.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

The Company completed its acquisition of 49% interest in Ortalyk at
the consideration of approximately US$435 million on 30 July 2021
to increase the amount of uranium assets held as well as expanding
its natural uranium trading business. In order to replenish its capital for
its natural uranium trading business as well as for future acquisition of
competitive overseas uranium resource projects as part of the Group’s
development strategy, the Company entered into share subscription
agreements with eleven investors on 26 November 2021 for the
subscription of an aggregate of 1 billion new Shares (nominal value:
HK$10,000,000) at the subscription price of HK$0.80 per Share.
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As at the date of the subscription agreements, being 26 November
2021, the closing price of the Shares as quoted on the Stock Exchange
was HK$0.98 per Share. In addition to the largest subscriber, The China
State-Owned Enterprise Mixed Ownership Reform Fund Co., Ltd. ( ¥
BERERERASINEESBR AT, eight of the remaining
subscribers are investment funds that invest in different equity securities
and other investments, while the remaining two subscribers are individual
professional investors.

Upon completion, the expected net proceeds of approximately HK$776
million (i.e. net proceed of HK$0.776 per Share) will be used as general
working capital and for the acquisition of uranium resources projects.

As at the end of the Reporting Period, the subscription has not been
completed. Subsequently, the Company has allotted and issued
240,700,000 new Shares on 28 March 2022, with the remaining Shares
pending fuffilment of conditions precedent.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries had purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
listed securities during the Reporting Period.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

During the Reporting Period, the Company does not have any share
option scheme or outstanding share option.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Details of the retirement benefit schemes are set out in notes 14 and
15 of the consolidated financial statements.
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DISCLOSURE OF INTERESTS

(@)

(b)

Name of Substantial Shareholder

The Directors’ and chief executives’ interests and short
position in the shares, underlying shares and debentures
of the Company or any associated corporation

As at 31 December 2021, none of the Directors, the chief
executives of the Company had any interests or short
positions in the Shares, underlying Shares and debentures of
the Company or its associated corporations (as defined in the
part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to divisions 7 and
8 of part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions
which they were taken or deemed to have taken under such
provisions of the SFO), or which were required, pursuant to
section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred
to therein, or which were required pursuant to the Model Code
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Substantial Shareholders’ interests and short positions
in the shares, underlying shares of the Company

As at 31 December 2021, according to the register kept by
the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO and so far
as is known to, or can be ascertained after reasonable enquiry
by the Directors, the following persons/entities, other than a
Director or chief executive of the Company, had an interest
or short position in the Shares and underlying Shares and
debentures of the Company which would fall to be disclosed
to the Company under the provisions of divisions 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO:

Capacity

TERREH af

CGNPC (Notes 2, 3, 4 &5)
PREEERR (M52 3 415)

OGNPC-URG (Notes 2, 4 &6)
REZMERRE (32 - 4K6)

China Uranium Development (Note 4)
hEIEE R ()
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Notes:
1. The letter “L” denotes long position.
2. CGNPC held the entire equity interest in CGNPC-URC, and CGNPC-URC held

the entire issued share capital of China Uranium Development. Accordingly,
each of CGNPC and CGNPC-URC was deemed to be interested in the interest
held by China Uranium Development.

3. CGNPC was also interested in 100,816,906 Shares in other wholly-owned
subsidiaries.

4. The long position included (i) 4,278,695,652 Shares held by China Uranium
Development; and (i) the interests in 10,000,000 Shares pledged by a third
party.

5. Mr. Yin Xiong and Mr. Sun Xu, NEDs, are also employees of CGNPC.

6. Mr. Yin Xiong and Mr. Sun Xu, NEDs, and Mr. An Junjing, an ED, are also

directors of CGNPC-URC. Mr. An Junjing, Ms. Xu Junmei (appointed on 14
March 2022) and Mr. Chen Deshao (resigned on 14 March 2022) EDs, are also
employees of CGNPC-URC.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any person
as of 31 December 2021 who had an interest or short position in the
Shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company pursuant to Divisions 2
and 3 of Part XV of the SFO.

RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE THE COMPANY’S
SECURITIES

None of the Company, or any of its holding companies or
subsidiaries, or any fellow subsidiaries, a party to any arrangement
enables the Directors or chief executives of the Company or their
respective associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) to have any
right to subscribe for securities of the Company or any of its associated
corporations as defined in the SFO or to acquire benefits by means of
acquisition of shares in, or debentures of, the Company or any other
body corporate.
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Connected transaction
Acaquisition of 49% equity interest in Ortalyk

CGNM UK, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered
into a sale and purchase agreement with Kazatomprom on 22 April
2021 pursuant to which, among other matters, CGNM UK agreed
to acquire 49% equity interest in Ortalyk at the consideration of
US$435,071,181. As the acquisition is inter-conditional with the fuel
project, a project between a subsidiary of Kazatomprom and CGNPC-
URC (Controlling Shareholder of the Company), Kazatomprom has
been deemed as a connected person of the Company. For details,
please refer to the circular of the Company dated 25 May 2021.

The acquisition, which constituted a very substantial acquisition and
connected transaction of the Company, has completed on 30 July
2021.

Continuing connected transactions

The Company entered into the following continuing connected
transactions with the connected persons as defined in the Listing
Rules, and transactions have been conducted in accordance with
the agreed terms. Details of the continuing connected transactions
conducted during the Reporting Period are set out as below:

Name of agreement,  Transaction
date and existing party of the

Nature of transaction and

BEX S
EERS
WAB R F49% IEAE

CGNM UK(AR R RIZ & E AR 1K2021
FAAHEMR I VESHE - 1B
Bzt (P e1E) - CGNM UKRE A
R(B435,071,181F T BB R N F149% 4
oo ARIEESIREM A IE B (R R TR
BARIEARN AR R P E i E S
WIEE) B REY  WRIFKARAR
ZBEBEATLT - BHEFHE  F2HEARF
202145 A25 HHYEK o

W EEBKARR —TBIEEERANES
ERBEERS  WER2021F7 308K

2o

RAFE ETRAERNEEATEEI L
TRSERRERZ S - WL R
‘AR5 - MEHRARBBEREEIHHITIE
AR

Annual cap, actual

term Group Counterparty ~ description Pricing basis transaction amount
(E S EELR
RERAELR KEERAE  BERZHE  REMERER EEER RBRaE
1 The Sales Framework The Company ~ CGNPC-URG  The sale of natural uranium  The price per pound of natural uranium shal be determined by arm’s HK$2,035,000,000/
Agreement entered on 14 (Controlling to GGNPC-URC Group by length negotiation between the Group and relevant members of HK$610,918,000
June 2019, with a term Shareholder of * the Group. CGNPC-URC Group on normal commercial terms, with reference
from 1 January 2020 to the Company) to the arithmetic average prices of the long-term price indicators
31 December 2022 published by UxC and TradeTech in the second month prior to the
delivery month, subject to a floor price and a callng price.
1 (BEERBA)R 207 PREHRER ARELERMMTRRN AMUSEERRIEARATSZUCKTadeTchRRAAR 2085000000/
201956A14RET T - (RRATERR  HFEEEE- HE_EANMRHBERERNENTHE - YAASER R 610918 00057
B 20205151 %) SEERENERA AR TEBRET - BERAREERHT
BZ222F12A318 e
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Name of agreement,
date and existing
term

AR
RERAEHR

2 The Financial Services  The Gompany

Framework Agreement
entered on 14 June
2019, with a term from
1 January 2020 to 31
December 2022

Transaction
party of the
Group

KEERAH

Counterparty

BERFHS

GGN Finance
and CGNPC
Huasheng
(subsidiaries
of the ultimate
Gontrolling
Shareholder of
the Company)

Nature of transaction and
description

RARERMER

The Group shall set up and
maintain RMB and foreign
currency deposit accounts
with CGN Finance and place
deposit. The Group shall
also authorise the Group’s
accounts at third party
commercial banks outside
the PRC to be linked as a
participant account to a cash
pooling master settlement
account maintained by
CGNPC Huasheng, which
allows auto-transfer of cash
balance in the Group’s
participating accounts to the
cash pooling master accoun.
The sums fransferred to the
cash pooling master account
constitute money deposited
by the Group with CGNPC
Huasheng.

CGN Finance and CGNPG
Huasheng may provide
settlement and similar
senices to the Group from
time to time.

From time to time, CGN
Finance and CGNPC
Huasheng may grant loans
and other facilities to the
Group, including but not
limited to loan facilties, credit
limits, notes commitments
and discounted bills.

Pricing basis

ERER

Depostt senvices: The Interest payable by CGN Finance to the Group
shal not be lower than () the interest rates for the same type and
term of depostt offered by China’s big four commercial banks to the
Group and (i) the interest rates for the same type and term of depostt
provided by GGN Finance to the other PRC subsidlaries of the OGN
Group. The interest payable by CGNPC Huasheng to the Group
shall be equal o or higher than () the interest rate for similar type of
depostt offered by CGNPG Huasheng to other members of the CGN
Group; and (i) the interest rate for similar type of deposit as quoted
by other independent commercial banks in Hong Kong (such as
Industrial and Gommercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited and Bank of
China (Hong Kong) Limited) from time to time.

Settlement services: The fees charged by CGN Finance for the
provision of settlement services shal be in accordance with the
fees standards prescribed by the People’s Bank of China or China
Banking and Insurance Regulatory Commission in respect of such
senvices. If no such fees stancard is available, the service fees shal
be determined on normal commercial terms and not higher than (j
the fees charged by China's Big-Four Commercial Banks in the PRC
for the same type of financial senvices; and (i) the fees charged by
CGN Financ for the provision of similar type of financial senvices to
the other PRC subsidiaries within the CGN Group. The fees charged
by CGNPC Huasheng shall be () equal to or lower then the settlement
and simiar services fees charged by CGNPC Huasheng to other
members of the GGN Group in settlement senvices arrangements;
and (i) equal to or lower than the settlement and similar services fees
charged by other commercial banks in Hong Kong (such as Industrial
and Commercial Bank of China (Asia) Limited and Bank of China
(Hong Kong) Limited) from time to time for settlement and similar
services provided.

Loans and other facilities: CGN Finance and CGNPC Huasheng
may grant loans and other facilties, including but not fimited to
loan financing, credit Iine, bill acceptance, and note discounting
services, to the Group from time to time subject to compliance
with the applicable laws and requlatory requirements. The terms
and conditions of such deposits shall be determined after am'’s
length negotiations between (i the Group and (i) CGN Finance
or GGNPG Huasheng, as the case may be, including the amount
to be deposited, term of the depostt, the applicable interest rate,
interest payment method and time of payment, etc, which shall be
determined upon each deposts.

hEZEEAR AR

Annual cap, actual
transaction amount
FELR.
EBRG%

Deposit cap:
JS8500,000,000

Highest dally depostts:
RMB1,293,511,000

Settlement service
cap: US8300,000

Settlement senvice fee
charged: RMB94

NA
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Name of agreement,  Transaction

date and existing party of the

term Group

H#ER

RERAHHR ARBRAR
2 (IRRBEREZIR 207

19E6F14R1L " A

e 202081718

E022E128317

3 Tenancy Agreement
entered on 9 May Kazakn
2019, with a term from
1 January 2019 to 31
December 2021

3 RERE R01055 H Rk
ROBHY - AR
201951 F1RE2021 )
F12A31H
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Counterparty

BERFHS

RRAEHRT
RUEE (D
ARKERHR
ZHELT

Beijing Sino- CGNPC-URC
(Controlling
Shareholder of
the Company)

PREAZEE
(AR FERMK

Nature of transaction and
description

RARERMER

REENPRISHR L
REARERABERP
15 - REETRERR
REENE TR
BPEAZEEEPEAE
RRIZENENRLLE
BERP ERGIZEZ
EEFNELHERER
EREMBLERF 83
TRELEETRFNLE
RRARERENGRYE
BhzEe

PRIEHR REELT
TEAEERRERRL
MR °

RRIEH R ENEET
THASER AR
68 - BERTRAER
BE GEEE REAR
RERHZRE -

Beiiing Sino-Kazakh leases
29/F, Block A, Shi'ao
International Genter, 101
Shaoyaoyu North Lane,
Chaoyang District , Beijing
to CGNPC-URC. The total
gross area of leased property
i51,035.14 sq.m.,

FRPREEIR Y RIS
FESAEILEI0IKTR
ABRnOABIENEEH
RehESEEE - fE
FEEMEL,035.14F
Fke

Pricing basis

ERER

BERH : PRIGBENRI B HERTER 1P EEAR
FEMHRAREE AR ERIANE : RORRIETHHR
SRBFET R EE T AT ENE D RRENAE - 2R
VERENAEE NERSNASR 1 RIE R BIRAR
PEEEEE T AMRRLARENE  ROBRALATAR
7 (e E T () AR AR R ERT (27 BRAT)
ARG IE -

EERH  PRASRREERANERARERE ARSI
PR TRREE R R 2 EHABRBAAROEERRAT -
WERBLEER  ARKERAL-RALARNER  B1R
R ARABRETHRRRETARNER : RO R
ARABURH T RRE BN E bR ANELTAIROER -
PEIERFIBN BRESIER (P R E AR RIEE
EMARELARRENEERBHID B ROEERL
BB OrR AR N AR AR FERT @R ARD
A MR EERRNRRER -

ERREMEE  DRUGBRRUEEIIEERRRRAE
RASATARRET  RASERLEHRANRE  ORETR
REFRE - ERER - REARRREWRRS - USEHEA
HHEZHFRETRERHART - ATERNERARR
RTARSRROSH AR ES RNEHHE  ROrRAH
Hin TG R A R IR PR R D AR KR
%o

The annual rent of RMBB3,000,000 (tax inclusive) as stipulated in the
Tenancy Agreement, which in tum was determined after taking info
account: ) the then market rentals and management fees payable for
similar properties; and () the demand and supply of similar properties
on the market,

EERERENEFRCAANETARN (3R) HEREAZE
IENzEEDSHRERERR  RORNZNTALOIAE

Eu

Annual cap, actual
transaction amount
FELR.
EBRG%

F3f £+ 500,000,000
eI

SR8RE:
1293511 000AE %

ERRHR LR
3000007

LERRE:
UARE

¥ i

R\B3,000,000/
RMB3,000,000

3000000AE %/
3,000,000 K%
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Name of agreement,  Transaction
date and existing party of the Nature of transaction and Annual cap, actual
term Group Counterparty ~ description Pricing basis transaction amount
R EELR
RHRREER K5ERG  BERZHS  REMERER EBER ERR5%
4, Off-take Agreement The Company ~ Kazatomprom?  The parties shall have the  Price per pound of natural uranium to be paid by the Group: 466 tonnes of natural
entered on 17 June and CGNM UK obligation to acquire the - Spot price x 0.98 uranium?/
2021 which come into natural uranium concentrates 292 tonnes of natural
force from the date produced by Ortalyk in  Price per pound of natural uranium to be paid by Kazatomprom: uranium
CGNM UK becomes a proportion to their respective  Spot price x 0.98 - Transportation cost
participant of Ortalyk participation interests, as
unti the earlier of () the follows: () Kazatomprom shal
date CGNM UK exits acquire 51% of Ortalyk's total
from participation in annual production; and (i) the
Ortalyk or (i) the end of Company or CGNM UK shal
the commitment period acquire 49% of Ortalyk's total
of the fuel assembly annual production, subject to
purchase obligation the quaranteed entilement of
under the cooperation 20,000 tonnes of uranium in
agreement’ aggregate.
4 BERE R21E6 FRFECGN BRI N7 RERREENS TRERNNEERRENER  REEX0% UpIER A/
FATEATL - 5C6NM - UK PRELEERAALE 2R

UKRARARNSE WRMSANER AR BRIBRRNSEAMMOER  REEx098- ERAA
EZAREN E2) WT:(RRIREERD
CONM UK 22 E] AFBEENS1%  R(JE
LB RAEREE AAIZCONM UK EE R
THRHENTES] AFLESHI%  FER
HEBER RIME20,000EHARER
gg 0
Notes: g3
1. For details, please refer to the circular of the Company dated 25 May 2021. 1. ARFE - F2HARF202145 258 &)
ALK o
2 The acquisition of Ortalyk is inter-conditional with the fuel project, a project 2. qm%;g%ﬁ]gﬁiﬁﬂlﬁ B (R T8 2 A8
between a subsidiary of Kazatomprom and CGNPC-URC (Controlling ?Qa&ﬁﬁﬂﬁﬁfﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁéﬁwﬁ BE
Shareholder of the Company), Kazatomprom has been deemed as a connected loses ;%EI%&%EE,K@ET\ZE%E)\i °
person of the Company. For details, please refer to the circular of the Company ﬁﬁa?ﬂﬁ WS HARR BB A202145 7
dated 25 May 2021. 25 B AR -
& The Company has applied and the Stock Exchange has granted a waiver from 3. ARFIEHH - MBRAMEAER R R

S ETTRAIE14A.53(1) 16 - {EmiE BT HE
BANEERRNERFEELR  BEREE
Mg RRE—AATEF AR TNEE £
R HRAFE - E2MAARI2021F5 25
HEYi K o

strict compliance with Rule 14A.53(1) of the Listing Rules such that annual caps
expressed in monetary terms for the Off-take Arrangement is not required on
the condition that, among other conditions, an annual cap expressed in fixed
quantum is proposed. For details, please refer to the circular of the Company
dated 25 May 2021.
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Annual review of continuing connected transactions

The INEDs of the Company have reviewed and confirmed the
continuing connected transactions set out above are:

in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
on normal commercial terms or better; and
entered into in accordance with the relevant agreement

governing them on terms that are fair and reasonable and in
the interests of the Shareholders as a whole.

The external auditor of the Company has also reviewed these
continuing connected transactions and confirmed to the Board that
these transactions:

have been approved by the Board;

have been entered into in accordance with the relevant
agreement governing the transactions;

are in accordance with the pricing policies of the Group (if
the transactions involve provision of goods or services by the
Group); and

have not exceeded the relevant annual caps disclosed in
previous announcements.

The Board acknowledged the receipt of the auditors’ confirmation
letter dated 25 March 2022 which confirms the matters as required
by Rule 14A.56 of the Listing Rules.

CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2021

FERER S NFEEMN

ARRRVEBMIFATEEDERN L8
MERS  WHERZEREBMEZIIR
1. BRAKE—REAEEHHE
2. RIERREEOHREET &

3. REEERERINEEHE B
AFARRAARD FRREBT
RO BERATL ©

AATSNEERAE BHREHERER
5 AMEFERALIRS -

1. EEERSHE

2. EREEEZERHNEMGZER
VA

3. HAREENEERR (WZER
55 RS BIRHRE MERTE)
I54

4. ABEZANAEFRENRESF
B LR -

FE RN EAIR202243 A25H
BHAERE AR TR AIZE14A.5615
FIiEMEE -



Directors’ Report

EEERE

Continuing connected transaction entered during the
Reporting Period which will take effect after the Reporting
Period

Tenancy agreement in relation to Beijing premises

Beijing Sino-Kazakh, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and
CGNPC-URC, a Controlling Shareholder of the Company, entered
into a new tenancy agreement on 31 December 2021 to renew the
tenancy agreement dated 9 May 2019 disclosed under no.3 in the
paragraph headed “Continuing Connected Transaction” above.
Pursuant to the new tenancy agreement, Beijing Sino-Kazakh shall
continue to lease its premises at 29/F, Tower A, International Center
of Times, 101 Shao Yao Ju Bei Li, Chaoyang District, Beijing, PRC to
CGNPC-URC for another term of three years from 1 January 2022
to 31 December 2024 at the rent of RMB3.0 million (tax inclusive)
per annum. For details, please refer to the announcement of the
Company dated 31 December 2021.

Subsisting connected transaction entered in previous year
Sale and purchase agreement of Husab uranium concentrates

CGN Global, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into
the sale and purchase agreement of Husab uranium concentrates
with Swakop, a fellow subsidiary of Controlling Shareholder of
the Company, on 14 June 2019, pursuant to which CGN Global
shall buy and Swakop shall sell 1.55 million lbs of Husab Uranium
Concentrates, which shall be delivered in batches over a period of
seven years from 2019 in accordance with the stipulated delivery
schedule.

REBEHRRT LI AR R ERREMBFF
BREXS

I RYFEHEE

AARZEWB AR R RHEAR T
ERR IR R R B i RN 20216128
1A FEERZ - UWEMR L8
ER 5 | —ERE = IAFT#FE2019F5H9
HeHERZ - REFEERZ - LRF
B RPEZHERREELHEGR
PRI R TG E A SEE 1L B 10150t B
BIFR AR DARE29IEMYIZE =5+ B320224F
1A1BE2024F12831H - 8F &5
ARB3.0BET(ER) - BRFE &
SHARAT2021F12A31BHRE ©

WA EEHTNNEDTHNEERS

AL K 0 B B [

KRB ZEZEMBARREZBEHEER
A AR EHERAR R 2 B R B A A T
BIATIR2019F6 A14 B 5T 4 1L K58 8
EE W B EZBEEEEQRGE
B RHTRIA R HE1.558 85I KA
i WIRATRAM RS 5TE - FE2019F FBHY
+FRDHRAM o
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The Group entered into certain transactions with “related parties” as
defined under the applicable accounting standards. A summary of the
related party transactions entered into by the Group during Reporting
Period is contained in note 34 to consolidated financial statements.

Save for (i) purchases of natural uranium resources from Semizbay-U
and (i) dividend income received from Semizbay-U, which do not
constitute connected transaction of the Company, all the other
related party transactions constitute connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions of the Company, among which
all such transactions are fully exempted connected transactions or
continuing connected transactions, as the case may be, save for (i)
sales of natural uranium resources to China Uranium Development
(a subsidiary of CGNPC-URQ), (ii) purchases of natural uranium
resources from Ortalyk, (i) interest income from CGNPC Huasheng,
(iv) interest income from CGN Finance, (v) rental income from
CGNPC-URC, and (vi) purchases of natural uranium resources from
Swakop.

The disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the
Listing Rules have been complied in respect of the non-fully exempted
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions under
the announcements of the Company dated 9 May 2019, 14 May
2019, 14 June 2019 and 22 April 2021 and the circulars of the
Company dated 9 September 2019 and 25 May 2021.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The percentages of purchases and sales attributable to the Group’s
major suppliers and customers for the Reporting Period are as
follows:

Purchases Sales
- the largest supplier: 35%
—five largest suppliers: 75%

- the largest customer: 16%
- five largest customers: 68%

CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2021
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China Uranium Development, the controlling shareholder, is the
largest customer of the Group for the Reporting Period. Mr. An
Junjing, an ED, the chairman and the chief executive officer of the
Company, Ms. Xu Junmei, an ED and the chief financial officer of the
Company, Mr. Sun Xu, a NED, Mr. Yin Xiong, a NED, Mr. Yu Zhiping,
a former NED and the chairman of the Company, and Mr. Chen
Deshao, a former ED of the Company were the directors and/or
the senior management of CGNPC-URC, the holding Company of
China Uranium Development, at different times during 2021. Save
as disclosed above, none of the Directors, their associates or any
Shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors owns more
than 5% of the Company’s share capital) had an interest in the above
major suppliers or customers of the Group.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

During the Reporting Period, the Company (as service receiver)
and CGNPC-URC entered into “Shared Administrative Services
Agreement” for provision of shared administrative services to the
Company by CGNPC-URC.

CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE WITH
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS OR ITS
SUBSIDIARIES

Save as disclosed in this report, there were no contracts of
significance or material contracts on provision of services between
the Company or any of its subsidiaries and the Company’s Controlling
Shareholders or any of its subsidiaries during the Reporting Period.

OTHERS

Environmental Protection

The Company, as a green energy related corporation, pays high
attention to environmental protection. We vigorously promotes
environmental protection by promoting green, energy saving and
environmental protection concept, such as advocating the green
office, encouraging the replacement of paper document with
electronic document, the use of double-sided printing and eco-
friendly appliances, etc. At the same time, the Company also
organizes irregular tree planting activities for employees and promote
the use of public transportation or walking instead of driving by
publicity activities, etc.
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Relationship with Suppliers and Customers

During the period under review, the Company maintained a good
relationship with its suppliers and customers.

Social Participation

The Company actively participates in social charity, encourages and
organizes employees to participate in the “Love” activities such as
helping and visiting people in need.

Equal Opportunity and Diversity

The Company respects and treats every employee the same, and
promotes equal opportunity and policy of diversification regardless of
age, sex or marital status.

Compliance with laws and regulations

As of 31 December 2021 and thereafter and up to the date of this
report, to the knowledge of the Directors, the Group complied in all
material aspects with applicable laws, rules and regulations that have
a significant impact on the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING
BUSINESS

During the Reporting Period, none of the Directors or their respective
associates (as defined in the Listing Rules) had an interest in a
business which competes or likely to compete, either directly or
indirectly with the business of the Group and any other conflicts of
interest which any such person has or may have with the Group.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

During the Reporting Period, the Company has not entered into any
equity-linked agreement.

DONATIONS

During the Reporting Period, the Group did not make charitable
donations.

CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2021

RUEEREFNEE

REESA - ARBEEEEREF ZH
REFRAFRAR

ARBES R RS  BRILAMET
SRMBEL I EDNRBNEHERE

FPEHEERZ T
ARPBERTFEHFF BT » Wik
EBHREFZERTDER - ER - BRI R
LML IR -
B EERER
HE2021F12A3MHREEARE 2 H

B BEEMY AKREEMEEANTE
VBT HEBAR - MANER -

EERBERBHER

BEHRA - ARREERFEFEEHEA
T(ERR MR MEE R AR RER
2N SEE SR DR R = 0
B A T4 o

IR R A 88 175

WP - A FL T ST IR
5% -

HERX

BERA - AEERETESERE -



Directors’ Report

EEERE

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available and to the best
knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the Company’s issued
shares has been held by the public throughout the Reporting Period
and thereafter up to the date of this report, in compliance with the
requirements under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

In the annual general meeting of the Company on 18 June 2020,
the then auditors of the Company SHINEWING (HK) CPA Limited
did not stand for re-appointment upon retirement as the auditors of
the Company at the conclusion of the annual general meeting, and
BDO Limited has been appointed as the auditors of the Company
on the same annual general meeting. For details, please refer to the
announcements of the Company dated 14 May 2020 and 18 June
2020.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
December 2021 have been audited by BDO Limited who will retire
and, being eligible, offer themselves for re-appointment at the
forthcoming annual general meeting.
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Directors’ Report

EEERE

EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

On 14 March 2022, Mr. Chen Deshao resigned as an executive
Director and the chief financial officer of the Company and ceased
to be the authorised representative of the Company under both the
Listing Rules and Part 16 of the Companies Ordinance of Hong Kong.
Ms. Xu Junmei has been appointed as an executive Director, the chief
financial officer and the authorised representative of the Company
under the Listing Rules, while Mr. Zhou Jun has been appointed as
the authorised representative of the Company under Part 16 of the
Companies Ordinance of Hong Kong on the same day.

In addition, as disclosed in the paragraph headed “Purchase, Sale
or Redemption of the Company’s Listed Securities” in the Directors’
Report of this annual report, completion of part of the subscription of
new Shares has taken place on 28 March 2021 and the Company
has allotted and issued 240,700,000 new Shares to certain of the
subscribers.

Save as disclosed above, there is no material event affecting the
Group need to be reported to the Shareholders that has occurred
after the end of the Reporting Period.

By Order of the Board
An Junjing
Chairman

Beijing, 25 March 2022
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Enterprise Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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ABOUT THIS REPORT

This environmental, social and governance report (the “Report”)
discloses the practices and performance of the Group in
environmental, social and governance issues in the past year. The
Report is in compliance with the “comply or explain” provisions of the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG
Reporting Guide”) and contains all recommended disclosures in the
Guide.

REPORTING SCOPE

This Report covers the Group’s main operating sites including the UK
office and the Hong Kong office, and Semizbay-U in Kazakhstan, in
which the Company holds a 49% equity interest, as well as the two
mines under its management, Semizbay Mine and Irkol Mine (the
“Mines”). Although Semizbay-U is not a subsidiary of the Company
and its Mines are not directly operated by the Group, staff of the
Group have been sent to participate in its management and control.
In view of its significant impact on the Company’s operation and ESG
performance, it is included in the scope of this report.

In addition, the Group acquired a 49% equity interest in Ortalyk last
year. Since the Group has only participated in its operation for a few
months, the ESG performance of Ortalyk will be reported in the next
reporting year.

The reporting period is from 1 January to 31 December 2021, the
same as the financial period of the annual report.
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REPORTING PRINCIPLES

The Report follows the ESG Reporting Guide and applies the
following principles:

Materiality: We regularly communicate with our stakeholders to
better understand their concerns about sustainability issues that
affect them. When we review our sustainability situation, materiality
and disclosures, we regularly refer to peer and local and regional
sustainability standards to ensure that our sustainability priorities
and strategies are aligned with them. Risk factors related to
material sustainability issues are incorporated into the Group’s risk
management framework. The Board of Directors regularly review
the sustainability issues that are most important to our business and
operations and consider the issues discussed in this report to be
important to the Group.

Quantitative: The relevant departments of the Group record and
estimate the quantitative data. Where feasible, this report will conduct
an annual performance comparison on the appropriate quantitative
data, and list the relevant standards, methods, assumptions and/or
calculation methods where appropriate.

Balance: The information and cases herein are mainly sourced
from the Group’s statistical reports, relevant documents and
communications for 2021. The Group undertakes that there are no
misrepresentations and misleading statements in the Report.

Consistency: We follow the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange for reporting.
Where there are any changes in the future that may affect the
comparison with previous reports, the Group will add notes to the
corresponding content of the report.
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FEEDBACK

We welcome comments from on our environmental, social and
governance measures and performance. Feel free to send your
suggestions or opinions to us via email at ir.cgnmc@cgnpc.com.cn.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
STATEMENT OF THE BOARD

The Group has been committed to becoming a world-class nuclear
fuel supplier that provides safe, economical and reliable nuclear
fuel products and services for nuclear power plants. The Group
strives to create a more prosperous and sustainable society, and
hopes to bring long-term benefits to the society while pursuing good
business performance and sustained growth. The Board takes full
responsibility for the sustainable development of the Group and
leads the Group to fulfil its social responsibility. We also perform
sustainability risk management and maintain communication with
stakeholders to ensure that our development meets the expectations
of stakeholders. The Board is in overall charge of developing the
Group’s environmental, social and governance strategies and reports,
as well as monitoring and managing ESG-related risks. The Report
has also been confirmed and approved by the Board.

In order for the Group to fulffil its vision of corporate social responsibility,
we have developed a set of core values of corporate social

» oo«

responsibility, including “undertaking responsibility”, “being rigorous
and pragmatic”, “seeking innovation”, “being customer-oriented” and
“creating value”, and follow the basic principles of “safety first”, “quality
foremost” and “pursuing excellence” for all production and operating

activities.
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Undertaking Responsibility

We believe that building a sustainable future for the earth leads to the
responsible growth of our business. Accordingly, the Board takes
ultimate responsibility for sustainable development of the Group. The
Board is tasked with formulating policies and strategies, and ensuring
environmental, social and governance risks are integrated into the
Group’s risk management mechanisms and long-term business
plans. The Company has established a sound comprehensive risk
management system to effectively identify, track and control risks
with reference to the 1ISO31000:2009 standard “Risk Management-
Principles and Guidelines” and the requirements of the Code on
Corporate Governance Practices on risk management. We strictly
implement the Comprehensive Risk Management Measures, and
have set up separate risk management procedures for comprehensive
risk management. The Board, the management, the risk management
department and business departments perform their respective duties
for risk management to ensure that the Group’s risk management
system is running efficiently. We have established a risk management
and internal control system.

Rigorous and practical

Good corporate governance is crucial to the long-term and healthy
development of the Group. The Group’s sustainable development
management is undertaken by the Chief Executive Officer and
Executive Directors, whose management is delegated to all levels of
departments that are responsible for managing important sustainable
development issues and monitoring their trends, so as to seize all
opportunities to improve sustainable development performance of the
Group.

Throughout its business, different departments of the Group are
responsible for monitoring and achieving the Group’s sustainable
development performance and goals, reviewing the opinions of
stakeholders, collecting ESG data and information, in order to prepare
the ESG Report to be reported to and approved by the Board. This
report was approved by the board of directors on 25 March 2022
after being confirmed by the management.

CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2021
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At the operational level, our business units and departments keep
track of our operational performance and ensure compliance
with all applicable laws and regulations. We also engage external
professional consultants to comprehensively review the soundness
and effectiveness of the Group’s risk management and market
value management systems. By conducting special audits, risk
management assessment and internal control evaluation, and
regularly providing management recommendations to the Board,
the Audit Department effectively prevents and monitors risks existing
in the operations and management of the Group in relevant fields,
has internal audit play a positive role in risk prevention and control
and internal control, and ensures the operational compliance of the
Group.

Innovation

We constantly look for ways to improve our business, and introduce
innovative environmental management projects to reduce pollution
and save natural resources. A large wastewater recycling system has
been built to save industrial water consumption of the Mines by 10%
every year. In addition, the Mines have installed solar heat exchangers
for indoor heating and built photovoltaic power stations to meet their
daily lighting needs using solar energy, saving approximately 5% of
electricity consumption. These measures reduce carbon emissions
and energy consumption.

Customer oriented

We always adhere to the basic principles of “safety first”, “quality
foremost” and “pursuing excellence”, and strive to deliver products
and services that attain the highest levels of safety and quality. The
Group has formulated strict quality and safety policies providing clear
basis for all its operations, so as to enhance the quality and efficiency
of work.

Creating value

In the context of deepening reform of the industry, the Group is
reorganising its employee training programmes. It is crucial for us to
ensure that our employees can develop and improve their skills in their
career. In addition to our employees, we also care about community
development. In the past year, the Group contributed to community
development in different fields through charitable donations, cultural
and educational support and other activities.
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Looking forward, the Group will continue to improve its internal control
system, incorporate the requirements for strengthening internal
control into the management procedure documents, and strengthen
supervision over the implementation of various measures of the
Group to prevent internal control risks. The Group is studying how to
establish a sound long-term incentive and restraint mechanism to link
the growth of employees with the development of the Group, so as to
encourage employees to make maximum contribution to the Group,
stimulate the vitality of the Group as a whole, and promote its high-
quality development.

STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT AND
MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

The Group understands that listening to stakeholders’ opinions and
effectively and continuously responding to and addressing their
concerns are indispensable for its business plan and development
and the fulfilment of its corporate social responsibility. As such, we
endeavour to get a deep understanding of the concerns of different
stakeholders, and build a relationship of mutual trust and mutual
benefit with them to promote sustainable development.

The Group endeavours to adopt the opinions of stakeholders
(including shareholders, customers, employees, suppliers, regulators
and the public) through constructive communication and protect
their rights and interests, so as to determine the Group’s long-term
development direction and maintain close relations with stakeholders.
According to the requirements of the Listing Rules, we regularly
disclose the Group’s operating performance and project progress
on the Group’s website (www.cgnmc.com) and the information
disclosure website designated by the Stock Exchange (HKEXnews:
www.hkexnews.hk). All disclosures are prepared and published in
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules. In addition,
when receiving inquiries from investors, the Group will promptly
get in touch with them and invite them to visit the Group or attend
teleconferences where the Group will answer their questions to help
them understand its operating information. Meanwhile, the Group
holds roadshows in various forms such as results presentations to
introduce the latest information of the Group from time to time and
invites investor representatives, potential investors and analysts to
attend the roadshows.
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The Group communicates with stakeholders in the following ways: AEBEBHEREBAADOT

Major stakeholders Communication methods

ERHHE BEARX

Investors Maintain close, transparent and efficient communication with

shareholders through regular investor meetings, annual general
meetings, emails, investor relations hotline and investor mailbox and

announcements.
KEE MBTHREESSR BRRAFAG BB REEUERRERKE
EEMRAEELN  BRHEREERT BRALRSRESR -
Customers Set up a customer service hotline for customers to express their

opinions. Where a complaint is received, customer service staff shall
give the customer a proper reply as soon as possible.

EY FEFHFIRFEAYEOR P FRI R IR MBS T RE -

Employees Develop measures for employment and employee benefits, and
strengthen employees’ awareness of occupational safety and health
through training.

8T HERRELELEMNHE - BREIMEE THRELZEREEZE

Suppliers Carry out open and transparent procurement through emails,

meetings, review and evaluation process to achieve mutual benefit
and win-win results with suppliers.

HEm FRER - @3  FERNHMIRE - ERARBANRBRE - st
JEBE R R

After internal communication in the Group, we identified the following RNEBKLIBAIE DR - BFEBLEAT

aspects recognized as the key concerns to the Group’s sustainability, HIER AU ARER A EEEREEATE

which substantially impact the sustainability of the Group. R ° BLETEHEWY AREE A RFE
BRNOBHETE

Environmental Social

RIEFME HESE

e Pollution Control e Equal Employment e Supply Chain Management
VEE el T E BN HEEER

e Making Good Use of Resources ® Occupational Health and Safety e Quality Products
=ZRER BEERETE BEEm

e Promoting Green Operations e Training and Development e Corporate Governance
HEREEE EIIER e iyt

e (Climate Change e Protection of Rights and Interests e  Giving Back to Society
RIRE L R IRIE [l g8 4t [@
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A.

Environmental

1.

Emissions

The Group is committed to environmental protection
and sustainable development in a drive to fulfil its
social responsibility as a corporate citizen. To achieve
a better green life, we have formulated a series of
measures to reduce environmental impact, control
exhaust and greenhouse gas emissions and discharge
to water and land, reduce the generation of hazardous
and non-hazardous waste, so as to honour our
continued commitment to environmental protection.

For emission and waste management, the Group aims
to fully comply with the regulatory requirements and
strictly abide by all applicable environmental laws and
regulations, such as the Environmental Protection
Law of the People’s Republic of China. During the
Reporting Period, the Group had no violation of any
relevant regulations.
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The Group undertakes to reduce the impact of its
business operations on neighbouring areas. Due to
our business characteristics, none of our offices has
a significant amount of exhaust emissions. However,
we require all offices and the Mines to strictly abide
by local regulations on exhaust emissions. The Mines
have each obtained an exhaust emission permit issued
by Kazakhstan’s environmental protection authority,
and regularly conduct exhaust emission tests to ensure
that the exhaust emissions do not exceed the emission
limits stipulated by relevant laws and regulations. The
air pollutants emitted by the Group mainly come from
fuel consumption during operations and by vehicles. It
is crucial to implement emission control measures to
reduce environmental impact and protect the health
of employees. We gradually upgrade machinery
and transportation equipment to replace diesel and
gasoline with natural gas. This move can lower the
consumption of diesel and gasoline and reduce the
emissions of sulphur dioxide and other exhaust gases
and carbon dioxide caused by the combustion of
diesel and gasoline. During the Reporting Period,
the gasoline-fuelled administrative vehicles at the
headquarters of the Mines were converted to run on
natural gas.

The annual emissions of gas fuel and vehicles at the
Mines are as follows:

Pollutants

SR

Nitrogen Oxides (NOXx) kg
AE(EPINOX) T
Sulphur Dioxide (SOx) kg
&L ¥(SOx) T
Particulate Matter (PM) kg
FEHL(PM) TR
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It is an indisputable fact that global warming is
getting worse and worse. To solve such problems
as environmental pollution and greenhouse effect,
the world is focusing on developing clean energy.
The Group and the Mines are also involved in this
effort by mining natural uranium to provide a key fuel
for the nuclear energy industry. Yet, in the course of
operations, we inevitably generate some greenhouse
gas emissions. As a responsible enterprise, we
have formulated a series of regulations and rules in
accordance with relevant local laws and regulations to
reduce emissions.

To reduce emissions, the Group has adopted and
implemented a series of measures:

o We provide, and encourage employees to use,
video and telephone conference systems to
reduce the frequency of business travel and
the greenhouse gas emissions caused by
transportation;

o We have developed a regional procurement
policy to give preference to local suppliers, so as
to reduce energy consumption and greenhouse
gas emissions resulting from additional
transportation; and

° We give priority to the use of eco-friendly
equipment, such as choosing variable
frequency air conditioning, using refrigerants
with less damage to the ozone layer, and
replacing gas stoves with induction cookers.
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The greenhouse gas emissions of the Group are as

follows :

Greenhouse gas
emission category

BERBEHFBER

SENRERBHEREN
T

Hong Kong Offices
REREBRAE

Greenhouse gas emissions
in total
HRERBINE

Direct emissions (Scope 1)

HEHR(FEEN)

Energy-related indirect
emissions (Scope 2)

BUIR MR BE R (FBE12)

Tonnes of carbon dioxide
equivalent
AE_E/tiRE=
Tonnes of carbon dioxide
equivalent
PSR E=
Tonnes of carbon dioxide
equivalent
PSR E=

Note:

The calculations were based on the Reporting Guidance on
Environmental KPlIs issued by the Stock Exchange, 2006 IPCC
Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories, IPCC Fifth
Assessment Report, and latest grid emission factors;

Scope 1 includes emissions from stationary combustion of diesel and
emissions from direct combustion of diesel from mobile sources; and

Scope 2 includes indirect energy emissions from purchased power.

Solid waste disposal

We have introduced several waste emission or
discharge reduction and control measures to
reasonably reduce the amount of waste generated
in the production process and ensure effective
management of temporary waste storage. The Group
has asked its factories to keep informed of laws and
regulations and other requirements published by local
governments as well as actual conditions, and actively
and scientifically sort, collect, and store waste from
within the Group.

UK and
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The solid waste generated in UK and Hong Kong
offices is mainly composed of three types: non-
recyclable domestic waste, recyclable domestic waste
(cartons, papers, waste metal, waste plastic bags,
glass, etc.), and hazardous waste (waste batteries,
waste toner cartridges, waste ink cartridges and other
toxic and hazardous waste). Recyclable wastes will
be reused as much as possible in day-to-day office
operations, or disposed by waste recycling stations.
Hazardous wastes will be stored separately and
handed over to external agencies or returned to the
manufacturer(s) for disposal, and shall not be discarded
at random in order to prevent re-contamination.
Non-reusable domestic wastes produced from the
Hong Kong office’s operation are under centralised
management by property management personnel of
the office building, and will be transported to a waste
transfer station for classification, and then transported
to the site designated by the municipal sanitation
department for disposal. Those produced from United
Kingdom’s office operation will be delivered to waste
collection station of the office building by cleaning
workers and then arranged for collection and treatment
by the municipal government.

In addition, we require the Mines to, in strict
accordance with local environmental laws and
regulations, transfer the hazardous waste generated
in the production process, such as lead-containing
accumulators and batteries, waste oil, and waste
chemical reagents, to qualified agencies for recycling
and disposal. In addition, in order to reduce the
generation of waste, the Mines also collect, classify,
and arrange recycling of non-hazardous waste such
as plastic glass and metal to encourage recycling.
For example, the Mines collect iron-containing solid
waste and put it in leaching solution pools to help
extract more natural uranium, thus reducing waste and
increasing output; and engage qualified processing
companies to recover, process and recycle hazardous
waste such as waste oil and drilling fluid.
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SENEEREZERED
EEEWT

The amounts of hazardous and non-hazardous waste
generated by the Group are as follows:

Unit Mines in Kazakhstan

Waste category

EEEY 5 R By IS B R TR TS
Hazardous waste tonnes 3.55
BEEEY NI

Non-hazardous waste tonnes 33.50
BEREEY NI

Note: MEE

Due to business characteristics, none of our operating offices have
significant hazardous waste products, and due to the low production
of non-hazardous waste, the impact on the overall sustainable
development of the Group is minimal, so no data records are provided
based on the principle of materiality.

Use of Resources

Climate change is a huge and complex challenge we
are facing nowadays. The Company understands that
all companies have the responsibility to protect the
environment. Accordingly, we require that the Group
and the Mines implement a range of measures in
three major aspects, i.e. energy use, water resources
and the extraction of raw materials, to improve the
efficiency of the use of resources of energy. Due to our
business characteristics, our offices do not need to use
any packaging materials in the course of operations.
The transportation and packaging of nuclear materials
in the Mines are carried out according to international
safety standards and the highest specifications, so as
to prevent any leakage and ensure public safety.

We advocate the use of energy-saving, efficient and
environmentally-friendly construction equipment,
machinery and office appliances recommended by the
state and the industry, and give preference to such
equipment with an aim to gradually improve energy
efficiency. Meanwhile, we keep ourselves updated on
the latest environmental news to optimise the existing
services, so as to reduce environmental pollution.
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TRERR dERER/BRE

During the year, the Group implemented the

FA-ANEBETATH

following energy-saving measures to control power BREIERE AR RIFEE S -

consumption:

Energy-saving measures

EiREIE e

The Mines:
&%
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Conduct electricity consumption management in the
mine areas, and turn off lighting in warehouses and
dormitories when no one is there; power consumption
shall not exceed the average at full-load production;
HipRBITELMAEER  BEEXEEEARSHEH
fREA - AE T HEBATER4EENTHRES

Set production schedule for continuous production
and make reasonable production plans for the Mines
to prevent uneven power consumption and minimise
the waste of power arising from machine idling;
BRENEEEEER  REETE > SIBTHEE
FTE BEAENY  BAMSETEMERTUEN
Review power consumption on a regular basis, and
assess and inspect those departments and workshops
with abnormal power consumption to ensure
reasonable power consumption;

EHRHEER - HEREBNEFIRMETI AR
& HBRAES

Prohibit the use of incandescent lamps in the Mines,
and install and use energy-saving LED lighting systems
instead;

REILEE EEARRE - IR E R A& a2 A LEDIREA
EEBRRERAEER

For indoor heating, solar heat exchangers have been
installed to replace traditional fossil fuels through heat
exchange principles, thus reducing carbon emissions
and energy consumption; and

2R T RGRARREBREAMRE - MR
BAAES AR EHR A EEE - DUR AR N BETR
HRE R

Photovoltaic power stations have been built to meet
the daily lighting needs of the Mine, which is expected
to save 5% of power consumption.

BET KRB ARG EERBESREAFR
B - FEETAIEAES%HIFEEE °
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Energy-saving measures

BigETE e
UK Office and Hong Kong Office: e Turn off the air conditioning and lighting equipment
REPAEREBRAE ¢ immediately after leaving the office/conference room

and other rooms. Put up a “Save Energy” label at the
exit of each room as a reminder;

s EMAE /" GREZFEREATER  EBU@EEZ
SRR R o WAEE R O8S E[EF 408 TR 2Rk LA
YRR

e Turn off excessive lighting in places that are very bright.
Keep the indoor temperature at 25.5C;

o ERZBERMT - FRRBENRBRE - RIFE
MIREAE25.5T :

e Wear light clothes in hot months to minimise the need
for air conditioning;

o ERBMANFERENRE  [EBRNEHZERNE
ks

e Tumn off computers and unnecessary lighting during
non-working hours or when leaving the workplace to
reduce power consumption;

o TEIEM ARSI R TIEMRER - BB R T
ZMREARRRE - LU HEE

e Activate the lock or sleep mode of computer through
the “power management” function when needed;

o RERIEN - FEEBIEREEIRINREBRENRF L
FRRERER

e Turn off unnecessary servers at night, Saturday
afternoon and public holidays; and

o HRME - BHRNTFMARRE @ i 3EL TR
BRas + &

e Use energy-saving lighting fixtures, such as LED
lighting, to achieve higher energy efficiency.

o REFHEARABE - KX _HELED) L&

ERSRLRME ©

HERBEEARLIR —T-—FFRH
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The total energy consumption of the Group is as

follows:

Energy type
BERER

Total energy consumption

HBELRFEE

Total energy consumption
intensity

BEERFEERE

Direct energy consumption

BEEERAEE

Direct energy consumption
intensity

HERRREETE

Indirect energy consumption

LR EE

Indirect energy consumption
intensity

EEEREERE

thousand kWh
T & F FL B
thousand kWh/person

FEFEEA
thousand kWh
FET S
thousand kWh/person

FETEER /A
thousand kWh
TEFFA
thousand kWh/person

FEFTER A

Note:  The unit of energy data is converted into kWh based on the

lower heat value;

Direct energy consumption represents diesel consumption;

and

Indirect energy consumption represents power consumption.
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SEe@FERNT

UK and Mines in

Hong Kong Offices Kazakhstan
REREBRAE WKERIEREES

17.87 39172.16
0.85 72.27
N/A 9096.69
NEH
N/A 16.78
NEH
17.87 30075.47
0.85 55.49
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The water used in all of the offices of the Group is
mainly sourced from municipal pipelines. Although the
operating offices of the Group do not have difficulty
in sourcing water in their daily operations, we still
persistently reduce the water resources used in
business operations and instruct the operating offices
and the Mines to strictly control the discharge and
treatment of sewage and strengthen the management
of water resources, with a view of “saving water and
using it wisely”. All of our operating sites and the Mines
implement a variety of water management measures,
including:

° Promote the concept of water conservation to
employees, and put up the “Save Water” label
in appropriate places to remind employees to
reduce water use in daily operations and turn
off the faucet immediately after using it, so as
to reduce unnecessary waste and achieve the
purpose of water conservation;

o Regularly inspect water use areas in the plants,
strengthen the daily maintenance management
of water equipment, and regularly maintain
water supply facilities such as water pipes and
hoses to reduce hidden leakage and prevent
water waste caused by facility damage;
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TRERR dERER/BRE

o A large sewage recycling system was built
where sewage generated in production will be
transported to a biological purification station
for purification and disinfection, and then be
reused in garden irrigation, equipment cleaning
and production. The system can save 10% of
industrial water for the Mines each year;

o Optimize work procedures and introduce
advanced alternative materials and equipment,
and calculate the amount of wastewater
generated each year and estimate future
wastewater generation;

° The domestic wastewater of the
hydrometallurgy workshop is transferred to
the septic tank after chlorination, transported
to a biological purification pool through plastic
pipeline for purification, and then reused; and

° Arrange reasonable use of water based on
production plan, and conduct assessment
of water consumption on a regular basis to
develop more effective water-conservation
plans and measures, thereby reducing
unnecessary waste.

The total water consumption of the Group and the
Mines is as follows:

Unit

B
Water consumption m3
FEKE SR
Water consumption intensity m?3/person
FREZE SHEARSAN

Note:  The water consumed in the HK and UK offices is provided by
the property management and included in the rent. So there is
no record for the water consumption of both offices.
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Environment and natural resources

The Group actively integrates environmental protection
responsibility into its daily operations. We will continue
to examine feasible strategies and measures for
energy conservation and look for more opportunities
for energy conservation and carbon reduction. The
Group also encourages its member companies and
the Mines to comply with the state’s green economy
policy to reduce the consumption of the environment
and natural resources.

The success of environmental management relies
on the support and cooperation of employees. As
such, the Group and the Mines provide environmental
protection education to employees, encourage them
to practice energy conservation and environmental
protection in every aspect of work and life, and
advocate the conservation of water, electricity, paper
and office supplies. Employees are also organised
to take environmental protection training courses
and examinations on a regular basis to enhance
their awareness of environmental protection.
We also encourage employees to participate in
environmental protection activities organized by
various organizations from time to time to enhance
employees’ understanding of environmental protection
and environmental management. Moreover, we inform
employees of energy savings through environmental
protection signs displayed at prominent location of the
operating sites, such as well sites, hydrometallurgy
workshops, office area and computers.

In order to undertake its responsibility as a corporate
citizen, the Group promotes green operations and
works on all aspects of its operations to reduce
environmental damage. Our operating offices
and the Mines have a safety and environmental
management department to take charge of inspecting
and supervising the environmental protection and
management of the Mines.
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In terms of conservation, it is strictly forbidden to hunt
and kill animals in the Mines and the surrounding areas,
and vehicles of the Mines and external contractors are
prohibited from entering the vegetation area outside
the Mines. Without the permission of the government,
the Mines shall not destroy or transplant plant species
protected by the state; the explored mining areas
will be reclaimed with surface vegetation to restore
the original ecological environment and reduce the
damage caused to the environment. In addition, as
to the procurement of materials, we give preference
to materials that have a relatively low impact on the
environment. For example, the Mines use casing
pipes made of non-toxic polyethylene and polyvinyl
chloride for well completion to prevent pollution of the
underground environment.

We have put in place green office measures for office
operations, including: attaching a power saving sign to
each power control device; setting the air conditioning
system to keep the office room temperature at 25°C;
building an auxiliary office automation (OA) system to
reduce the use of paper for application submission;
and implementing paperless office by using email
communication at work as much as possible to
reduce paper consumption. We also conduct internal
communication from time to time to strengthen the
implementation of these measures. Moreover, as
for purchasing stationery items and equipment, it
is the Group’s on-going task to encourage green
procurement strategies. For instance, prioritizing to the
use of refrigerators and other electrical appliances with
energy efficiency labels, using various environmentally
friendly materials such as reusable ink cartridges,
recycled papers and second-handed furniture, so as to
avoid consumption of excessive resources.
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Climate Change

The Group has always been concerned about climate
change issues. For this reason, the Group strives to
take the best measures to reduce greenhouse gas
emissions from business operations and combat
climate change. In order to cope with unexpected
extreme weather such as severe cold or typhoon, the
Mines have formulated emergency response plans for
extreme and severe weather. For example, the Mines
provide heating for employees in the northern mining
area where it is often very cold in winter; equip dressing
rooms with sauna to help outdoor workers quickly
recover their body temperature; and set up observation
stations in the mining areas to provide necessary
support for outdoor workers. In case of severe
weather such as typhoon, rainstorm and extreme heat,
managers need to mobilise staff and take preventive
measures, and schedule employees’ commuting to
and from work in accordance with relevant regulations,
so as to ensure the safety of employees. The Group
also takes advice from local government departments
and develops relevant protective measures to avoid
physical damage as much as possible.
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B. Social

Employment

Employees are the most valuable asset of the Group.
We protect the rights and interests of employees,
care for their health and safety, improve their working
conditions, and explore better career development
opportunities for them. As an employer that advocates
equal opportunities and cares about employees,
the Group and the Mines uphold the principles of
“fairness, openness, and employee-position matching”
for recruitment management. According to such
principles, we only focus on whether each applicant’s
capabilities and qualifications fit the requirements of
the relevant position during recruitment. The Group
respects employees’ personal freedom, protects their
personal privacy, establishes a diverse culture, and has
zero tolerance for any discrimination against employees
based on race, colour, age, gender, sexual orientation,
ethnicity, pregnancy, belief or marital status.

The Group and the Mines have always entered into
employment contracts with employees in accordance
with employment laws of the regions in which we
operate, specifying the rights and obligations between
the Group and employees, so as to create the stable
and sustainable employment. We have established
specific measures for dismissal and compensation.
If an employee seriously misbehaves in the course
of work and causes damage to the interests of the
Group, the Group and the Mines may terminate his/her
employment contract in accordance with the relevant
employment laws and request compensation from
him/her according to law.
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The Group and the Mines adhere to the management
philosophy of “setting post-specific salaries and
adjusting salaries for job changes”, and have
developed a comprehensive annual salary review
mechanism. According to its annual total salary budget,
the Company formulates a salary adjustment plan as
appropriate based on the benchmarking against similar
positions in the market and the performance appraisal
grades of employees for the previous year to provide
employees with fair and competitive compensation
packages.

We have a set of management policies for promotion
and transfer of employees. The transfer or promotion
of an employee’s position is suggested based on
business needs, and an appraisal will be conducted
on the performance of such employee. The appraisal
result will be reviewed by the human resources
department and approved by the general manager.
Career progression of an employee is determined
based on the performance in its results and works and
the qualification of individual. We encourage employee
development and give priority to internal selection for
hiring talents under the same conditions.

Providing employees with generous benefits can help
a company attract and retain talents. As such, the
Group provides employees with medical insurance,
maternity leave for women and paternity leave for men;
the Mines offer holiday allowances and maternity leave
subsidies to care about the lives of employees, and
provide employees with maternity leave of up to three
years and one month of paid leave in accordance with
local labour laws.
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The Group understands that the cohesion of
employees is a key driving force for corporate
development, and good communication channels
with employees serve as a cornerstone of the Group’s
operations. As such, the Group welcomes and
values employees’ opinion. Employees can express
their suggestions to the Group at any time through
suggestion box, email, telephone, and social media.

We always value the physical and mental health of
employees and support them to enjoy living a full life
in their spare time. The Group has set up a 24-hour
psychological counselling hotline service for employees
and issued them Happy-feeling cards. The Company
also provides stress training to stimulate employees’
awareness of stress management and expand their
physical and mental resources, so as to reduce the
impact of stress on themselves and the Company and
help them manage stress more effectively. In addition,
the Group’s employee handbook stipulates that
employees are not encouraged to work overtime in
order to ensure that they have enough rest time.

The Group strictly abides by relevant laws and
regulations on remuneration and dismissal, recruitment
and promotion, working hours, holidays, equal
opportunities, diversity, anti-discrimination and other
benefits and welfare, such as the Labour Law of the
People’s Republic of China, the Labour Contract Law
of the People’s Republic of China, and the Social
Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China in the
PRC; the Employment Ordinance and the Employees’
Compensation Ordinance in Hong Kong; and the Equal
Opportunities Employment Policy, the Equality Act
2010 in the United Kingdoms. There was no violation
during the period.
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SEIRTRER B Do E

The number of employees of the Group by category is

as follows: BAEMT
UK and Mines in
Category Hong Kong Offices Kazakhstan
PE EEREBRAE It % 52 Hir 38 45
By gender RERIE S
Male B 17 489
Female 2 5 53
By employment type RERERE S
Full-time 2 22 511
Part-time E3:
Apprentices and interns BREMEE4
Contract BH 31
By age group BFERER B 5
Under 25 255 A TN 0 139
25t0 34 252 345% 8 137
35to0 44 35F445% 6 140
4510 54 45 5458% 4 97
55t0 64 552 645% 4 29
65 or above 6553 IA I 0 0
By region Rt EE 5
The PRC i 6 0
Hong Kong ' 6 0
Others Ht 10 542
Note: BT
The calculation was based on the Reporting Guide for Social Key FHETDERER BRGNS AR
Performance Indicators issued by the Stock Exchange REETRE RS
hEZIEE AR AR
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The employee turnover rate of the Group by category is SEETRBENESNE
as follows: BRI EAT
UK and Mines in
Category Hong Kong Offices Kazakhstan
PE REREBBRAE It % 5o HiT 38 457
By gender b7 =k
Male E1is 0% 4.09%
Female egi 60% 15.09%
By age group RERERIE D
Under 25 2558 A T 0% 2.16%
2510 34 252 345% 13% 10.22%
3510 44 355 445% 33% 5.00%
45 to 54 45ZF545% 0% 3.09%
55 to 64 552645 0% 3.45%
65 or above 655% 3 A 1= 0%
By region T EE D
The PRC & 0% 0.00%
Hong Kong 5B 50% 0.00%
Others H 0% 517%
Note: BT

The calculation was based on the Reporting Guide for Social Key
Performance Indicators issued by the Stock Exchange

Health and Safety

The Group and the Mines always put the safety of
employees first. Accordingly, we have established a
safety management system to ensure that employees
can work in a safe working environment at all times.
In order to implement the safety production policy of
“safety first, prevention prioritized, and comprehensive
governance”, improve the Group’s ability to cope
with risks and prevent accidents, protect employees
from occupational hazards during production and
operations, and prevent occupational safety accidents

AEDERBIAEANL SR
FBETRE RS

REHEZ 2

AEERES-BHEIEET
MRZEREENM - B
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HE  BRSEBETRZGE
ELZ 2 TERRERE
X RTEREEIZES
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MEZ2EEN  RE&E
I R e 4 37 86 55 AR Y
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and occupational diseases, the Group has developed BRBRIEBEREE
management systems for safety management, EEmEE BHRELR
accident prevention, emergency rescue, and EEMMBERHBEOELE

occupational health of employees.
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In order to improve its safety management, the Mines
have set up a safety department to take charge of
the safety affairs in the Mines. The safety department
conducts safety inspections on the work sites on a
weekly basis to review the Group’s occupational health
and safety performances, reports the existing risks
and proposes relevant rectification measures, and
supervises and tracks the progress of the rectification
measures to further reduce the accident rate. There
is one occupational health and safety specialist and
two first-aiders to take care of the safety matters in UK
office. Moreover, we conduct safety risks assessment
on a yearly basis, and take immediate rectification
actions for the problems appearing to minimize the
safety risk of possible problems.

The Group recognizes that safety risk assessment of
the production sites can effectively prevent accidents.
As such, the Mines will conduct analysis and risk
assessment of the working environment to identify the
processes and areas with risks, and take appropriate
corrective and preventive measures for operations that
fail to comply with the internal occupational health and
safety regulations. Based on the safety risk assessment
results, the Mines have developed a number of specific
safety measures, such as: provide sufficient personal
protective equipment, like safety belts for aerial work,
anti-dust and anti-harmful gas masks and acid-
proof overalls, and require that employees must wear
these equipment when entering a workplace; arrange
for motor vehicle safety inspectors to inspect the
driving conditions of mineral vehicles and the health
conditions of drivers in order to ensure the safe driving
of vehicles; and test the operational status of relevant
equipment and mineral vehicles on a regular basis. We
are dedicated to promoting safety culture to ensure
the occupational safety and health of employees.
The Mines require all employees to receive safety
training and pass a safety examination before taking
up a job. In addition, the Mines also arrange a safety
examination every two years so that employees can
review and update their safety knowledge.
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The Mines are very concerned about the health
of employees. Each year, the Group provides
comprehensive physical examinations for employees,
and invite medical experts to give health lectures to
increase the health knowledge of employees. We
are also concerned about employees’ mental health.
The Group and the Mines organized psychological
awareness workshops for employees on a regular
basis, in order to improve their social skills, emotion
management skills and productivity. Meanwhile,
we specifically purchased mental health consulting
services that offered full mental support to employees
with individual counselling over the phone.

The Group strictly abides by relevant laws and
regulations on the provision of a safe working
environment and protection of employees from
occupational hazards, such as the Law of the People’s
Republic of China on the Prevention and Control of
Occupational Diseases. There was no violation during
the period.

Development and Training

To maintain the Group’s competitiveness in the world
of rapid development of technology, it is important
that we keep our skills and knowledge up-to-date.
Therefore, the Group heavily invests resources in
the training and continuous education of employees
and establishes an on-the-job training system.
We encourage and promote the vocational and
professional development of employees. Each year, we
develop annual personal training plans for employees.
Every employee will be arranged to take a series of
job skills training courses every year based on his/
her annual training plan. The subjects of the courses
are closely related to the actual work of the employee,
which can help quickly improve his/her job skill in both
theory and practice and thus continuously enhance
his/her vocational and professional capabilities.
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In order to speed up the adaptation of new employees
to the working environment and their integration into
the Group’s culture, new employees will receive short-
term induction training after joining the Group to learn
about the Group’s history, mission, corporate culture,
and system and policy requirements. The Group
will assign an induction mentor to each employee
to help them start their work smoothly as soon as
possible. The Mines provide various training courses
on professional skills and language skills for employees
to equip themselves for work. The courses cover
engineering design, instrumentation and software
applications, and English and Kazakh learning. Since
2017, the Mine have carried out winter and summer
camp learning programs every year for employees to
acquire knowledge regarding lean production through
a relaxed team learning model, thereby enhancing
the professional management skills of employees and
improve the operating efficiency of the Group.

The Group is well aware that it is extremely important
to provide opportunities for the younger generation
to give full play to their strengths and develop their
careers. In order to broaden the horizons of young
personnel, the Mines encourage them to receive
continuing education and sign further study contracts
with them to fund their study and retain their jobs.
The Group matches its development needs with the
career development goals of employees, and guides
employees to realise their value and dreams in life by
accumulating knowledge and upgrading skills, so that
they can grow together with the Group.
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The Group’s percentage of employees trained by SBEZRTEEREDHF

category and the average hours of training completed R L RBRES

per employee are as follows: SERK X P B9 5 0 g
I

UK and Hong Kong Offices Mines in Kazakhstan

RERBEBHAE RER RS
Average Average
training training
hours of hours of
employees employees
Percentage ineach  Percentage in each
of employees category of employees category
Category trained (%) (hours)  trained (%) (hours)
hEI ZERHEIMN BRI ZERHEIN
EEH TG ESH T3
BAk(%)  EBHONE) BAtk(%)  BHONE)
By gender G )
Male Bl 87.5 102.24 94 22.27
Female Tt 12.5 1.8 6 22.60
By employee type RESERIES
Senior management BREEE 0 0 2 43.00
Middle management hRERE 25 50.13 12 37.76
Supervisor I8 0 0 8 26.18
General employee —®ET 75 85.92 78 19.82
Note: B 5T
The calculation was based on the Reporting Guide for Social Key SHE RN PR RS
Performance Indicators issued by the Stock Exchange REIETRE RS
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Labour Standards

The Group has been committed to protecting its
employees’ rights and interests and creating a fair
working environment for them. Therefore, the Group
strictly prohibits the recruitment of child labour and
illegal labour and the use of any forms of forced
labour. The Group strictly complies with local laws
in relation to employment, including the Labour
Law of the People’s Republic of China, the Labour
Contract Law of People’s Republic of China, the Social
Insurance Law of the People’s Republic of China in
the PRC; the Employment Ordinance and Employees’
Compensation Ordinance in Hong Kong and the Equal
Opportunities Employment Policy, the Equality Act
2010 in the UK. During the Reporting Period, there
was no case of prosecution for violation of laws and
regulations relating to the prevention of child labour or
forced labour.
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The Group’s employee handbook stipulates that
employees are not encouraged to work overtime in
order to guarantee that they have enough rest time. In
addition, the Group has established the Measures for
Employment and Labour Management of the Group,
which clearly state that the requirements of national
and local labour laws and regulations must be met.
Before hiring any applicant, the Group will thoroughly
check all kinds of documents and files related to the
applicant’s age, and take effective measures to verify
his/her age, so as to ensure that the applicant reaches
the legal working age. The employment contract of
the Group states the rights and responsibilities of
both parties to protect employees’ legitimate rights
and interests in accordance with the requirements
of local laws and regulations. The Group ensures
that all employees work on a voluntary basis and
prohibits any form of indentured servitude, bonded
labour, corporal punishment, imprisonment or threat
of violence. In addition, we allow employees to
exercise their freedom of association by participating
in trade unions and collective bargaining, and to report
any suspected misconduct or abuse through the
Group’s whistleblowing mechanism. The Mines also
abide by the provisions of Kazakhstan’s labour law
concerning the prohibition of forced labour, including
the prohibition of servitude, corporal punishment or
threat of violence against employees, and appropriately
arrange their working hours and workload.

The Group strictly complies with relevant laws and
regulations on the prevention of child labour or forced
labour, such as the Labour Law of the People’s
Republic of China. There was no violation during the
period.
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Supply Chain Management

The steady development of the Group’s business is
dependent on the reliable support of its suppliers.
Supplier is one of the major stakeholders who
contributes to business value recreation, with tight
bonding with the Group. The Group is also fully
committed to building a good partnership with our
suppliers. To promote closer relations and cooperation
with suppliers, the Group has created the flexible
procurement standards in order to cater to different
needs in our supply chain.

The Group is proud to provide excellent products
and services to our customers. Working closely with
a wide range of suppliers is key to our success. The
Group established a sound supplier selection process
to ensure potential suppliers and subcontractors
engaging in fair competition and having equal
opportunity. All materials and service contracts of the
Mines shall be publicised and go through a tender
process on the tender website of the National Welfare
Fund Samruk-Kazyna of Kazakhstan. Prospective
suppliers shall provide all necessary qualification
documents on the website for review to ensure that
the process is open, fair and impartial. The Mines also
set up a bidding committee composed of employees
or leaders from various departments to conducts final
review and approval of tendering and bidding.
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The Group’s Purchasing Department conducts quality
inspections of suppliers’ products from time to time
to ensure the stable and sufficient supply of materials
and goods at the agreed quality, time and price and
other terms of service. The Mines have established
strict criteria for selection and performance assessment
of suppliers, covering the advance level of suppliers’
equipment and the reliability of their technical
capabilities. The assessment criteria also cover
environmental and safety issues, including assessing
the energy consumption of suppliers’ equipment, the
impact of their production process on the environment,
the extent to which the consumption of raw materials is
reduced, and the safety of their equipment.

As a responsible corporate citizen, in addition to
seriously taking two major issues of environmental
protection and social responsibility, the Group and the
Mines encourage suppliers and service contractors to
join hands with us to help mitigate environmental and
social impacts that induced by business operations.
The Group urges them to promote environmental
protection and social responsibilities in all aspects. We
require our suppliers and contractors to comply with
the Group’s policies on environmental protection and
occupational health and safety and strict corporate
governance standards. For example, the Mines require
suppliers to provide their employees with adequate
personal protective equipment and require them to
wear the equipment during work.
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We have formulated Supplier Qualification Assessment
Questionnaire, and require suppliers to complete a
self-assessment on environmental and social risks,
in order to reduce environmental and social risks
throughout our value chain. Furthermore, the Group
has established stringent criteria for supplier selection
and performance assessment. The criteria include
supplier’s equipment, reliability of their technical skills,
environmental protection and the safety scope. Energy
consumption of supplier’'s equipment, environmental
impact of the production process and the level of
reduction in raw material consumption are also
considered. Moreover, equipment safety is also one of
the criteria.

When purchasing materials and equipment, the Group
will comprehensively consider their environmental
performance. For example, when purchasing machines
and lighting systems, we will give priority to more
energy-efficient appliances on the basis of meeting the
technical parameters, with a view to integrating the
Group’s environmental vision into all aspects of the
supply chain.

The number of major suppliers of the Group by region is
as follows:
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Product Liability

The Group strictly abides by the relevant laws and
regulations and industry quality standards to improve
its quality management standards, protect the
basic rights and interests of customers, and provide
responsible products and services to customers, so as
to achieve the “quality, environment and safety” goals
of 100% customer satisfaction, zero complaints and
zero accidents.

The Mines have obtained ISO 9001 Quality
Management System certification to guarantee that
the entire mining process is carried out in accordance
with the international standards. This reflects the
Group’s commitment to operating its business with the
highest quality standards. The management policies
and quality standards under the quality management
system framework have been fully promulgated and
implemented across the Group.

In order to ensure the quality and reliability of the
products provided, the Group will conduct sample
analysis before delivery according to the customer’s
product standards. The Mines strictly stipulate that
during the storage and transportation of products, all
uranium containers must be sealed to the maximum
extent possible to avoid leaking of radioactive materials
and damage to the biosphere. In the course of
transportation, it is required that the hazardous nature
of uranium products must be clearly marked on the
transportation vehicles for safety warning.
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The Group always focuses on customer satisfaction
and we always apply it at each point of production.
We are keen to raise the performance level of various
aspects of the business. Moreover, as for complaints
about quality issues, the Group will do its utmost to
make improvements and resolve the issues concerned
while analysing the causes to improve its performance
in this regard.

The Mines have formulated a policy to prohibit
all employees from disclosing information about
customers who purchase natural uranium, and
require employees to sign a confidentiality agreement
to prevent the leakage of information. Confidential
documents including customer’s personal information
shall be strictly managed and kept by a dedicated
department. Employees are not allowed to access
these documents without permission. In addition,
the Group takes customer information security
seriously. We strictly implement an information
security management system, raise all employees’
awareness of information security, constantly improve
the information security measures, and encrypt and
manage sensitive data to protect the interests of
relevant parties.

We always attach great importance to and protect
intellectual property. To create an environment for
a fair competition, the Group has been completely
following the standards and practices of the rights. The
Group has established sound rules and regulations
on intellectual property protection. We also organise
education and training on intellectual property for
employees to raise their awareness of intellectual
property protection and establish the concepts of
innovation, integrity and intellectual property protection.
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The Group promotes the adoption of sound promotion
and marketing practices, and any advertisement shall
not make a description, claim or explanation that is
inconsistent with the facts. We will also formulate
our sales and promotional documents in accordance
with the relevant laws and codes of practice to
ensure that our promotional materials and advertising
content are true, fair and reasonable, free from any
misleading statements, so as to protect the interests of
consumers. Given the specificity of product usage and
quality measurement standards, the Mines’ product
publicity is basically consistent with the real information
on the product concerned without any exaggeration
or misrepresentation. The Group strictly abides by the
laws and regulations on product health and safety,
advertising, labelling, remedies and protection of
intellectual property rights, and complies with the laws
and regulations related to privacy issues, such as the
Drug Administration Law of the People’s Republic of
China. There was no violation during the period.
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Anti-Corruption

The Group has a strict anti-corruption policy
which requires all employees to professionally and
stringently comply with the Group’s policies on
conflicts of interest, code of conduct for business
activities, and prevention of bribery and corruption.
By creating a good corporate atmosphere and
guiding and standardising the daily work behaviour of
employees, we aim to maintain proper operations and
management, prevent fraudulent activities that harm
the interests of the Group, and improve work efficiency
and effectiveness. The Group has developed an internal
control system to manage anti-fraud investigation and
publicity and employees’ conflicts of interest. We strive
to build a corporate culture of integrity and fairness
by upholding the principles of honesty, fairness and
transparency, undertaking responsibility, and having
zero tolerance to corruption and fraud. We regularly
organise anti-corruption training (such as anti-money
laundering training) to enhance employees’ awareness
of business integrity.
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In order to build a corporate culture of integrity
and prevent corruption, the Mines have formulated
anticorruption and anti-fraud policies which clearly
defines that all violations of financial regulatory
measures including money laundering, illegal provision
of material rewards to individuals and enterprises,
illegal receipt of material rewards from individuals are
illegal acts of corruption. Specific preventive measures
have also been developed to prevent corruption. The
Mines organise open tendering and bidding in strict
accordance with the procurement rules set by the
National Welfare Fund Samruk-Kazyna of Kazakhstan
to ensure the fairness and compliance of the relevant
procedures. The procurement rules also stipulate
that the tender notice and related information shall be
published to material suppliers or service contractors
on the designated media. Furthermore, the Group’s
internal service procurement shall go through a
rigorous preapproval process, and a tiered approval
system has been set up for bids and contracts with
different amounts to ensure that the procurement
procedures are closely monitored.

The Group regularly promotes anti-corruption for
the entire group. The Group would compile anti-
corruption promotion materials by collecting the latest
relevant anti-corruption information, including recent
major corruption incidents in various industries and
the handling measures, etc., and combine them with
the analysis of the Group’s summarised business
characteristics. All the information will be compiled and
distributed to all employees for self-learning in order to
create a good anti-corruption environment within the
Group.

The Group strictly abides by the laws and regulations
on the prevention of bribery, extortion, fraud and
money laundering, such as the Anti-Unfair Competition
Law of the People’s Republic of China. There was no
violation during the Reporting Period.
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Community Investment

The Group respects the diverse cultures and existing
traditions of various regions, takes the expectations
and opinions of community groups very seriously, and
undertakes to respond to the opinions of community
members in due course. In addition, the Group
will support projects that benefit the needs of the
community where feasible, and collaborate with groups
with a common vision to win and maintain mutual
trust with all stakeholders, with a view to continuously
contributing to the long-term development of the
community.

The Group actively participate in various educational,
cultural and recreational activities, including donating
books to schools established by local governments
and donating money to fund maintenance of roads to
the schools. During the Chinese New Year, the Mines
organise their employees to visit neighbouring primary
schools and provide students with New Year gifts and
school supplies. In addition, we provide funding for the
daily operating expenses of the local stadium.
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TERE  HERERBRE

Index of Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide of the Stock Exchange

Environmental

BIR

BRAT(RE - HERER/BRE
1E51) &3l

Section
=6

Aspect A.1
FEAA
KPIA1A
FEIRAA A

KPIA.1.2

ERA2

KPIA.1.3

FEIEAA.3

KPIA.1.4

FEIEAA 4

KPIA.1.5

EIZEAA5

KPIA.1.6

EIZA1.6

Aspect A.2

HHA.2
KPI A.2.1

FEIEA.2.1

Emissions
P

Types of emissions and the respective emissions data
PERU R AR BE A EUR

Direct (Scope 1) and energy indirect (Scope 2) greenhouse gas
emissions (in tonnes) and where appropriate, intensity (e.g.
per unit Applicable volume, per facility).

B (@E)ReeRRERE (BE)REREIRE UANERTE) &
(nEm) ZE (ABEEEN - BIERBETE) °

Total hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

FEAXEEREEYEE UEAE) M(ER) BE (WASES
B - §ERBAE) -

Total non-hazardous waste produced (in tonnes) and, where
appropriate, intensity (e.g. per unit of production volume, per
facility).

FEABEZEEYEE AEGE) R (ER) ZE WAESEE
By - BIERBEE) -

Description of the emission targets set and the steps taken to
achieve them.

RPTET LV HENE B IR RRET S L B IR EREE P 5K -

Description of how hazardous and non-hazardous wastes are
handled, and description of the waste reduction targets set
and the steps taken to achieve them.

R RIE R E NEEREEYN L - RAEMPAEI ZHREE B 13
NRERE L B IRATERIA) R

Use of Resources

BIRER

Direct and/or indirect energy consumption by type (e.g.
electricity, gas or oil) in total (kWh in ’000s) and intensity (e.g.
per unit of production volume, per facility).

RENESNERER SEEERNE - Boh) BFEE AT
EFRRET8E) RZE (A GEEEN - §EKEsE) -
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Environmental

BIR

Section

=z s

B

KPIA.2.2

HEIRA2.2
KPIA.2.3

FEIEA2.3

KPIA.2.4

EIRA2.4
KPI'A.2.5
HEIEA2.5
Aspect A.3

7 HA.3
KPI A.3.1

FETZEA.3.1
Aspect A.4

JHA.4
KPI A.4.1

FEIZA.4.1

Water consumption in total and intensity (e.g. per unit of
production volume, per facility).

BREKERTE (WABESEN - BEARBTH) -

Description of the energy use efficiency targets set and the steps
taken to achieve them.

R PR SV BEIRE FA RS B IR MR IE R 35 i B IR P EREREY 5

Description of whether there is any issue in sourcing water that
is fit for purpose, and description of the water use efficiency
targets set and the steps taken to achieve them.

FSKEGE R KR AT B EEBRE - ARPAET S8 AKRE B
RN ERE L BRI P8R

Total packaging material used for finished products (in tonnes)
and, if applicable, with reference to per unit produced.

Bk AT BEMEMAE CAEETE) & (ER) 84 EE
8o

The Environment and Natural Resources

BB RRAER

Description of the significant impacts of activities on the
environment and natural resources and the actions taken to
manage them.

M RBRDHRENARARERNEATERCRNEEFRA
HEMTH -

Climate Change

RIREE

Description of the significant climate-related issues which have
impacted, and those which may impact, the issuer, and the
actions taken to manage them.

HME S RATEEHRTAEETENEARIEEBRERE - &
FEHITTED o

A2

A2

A2

A2

A3

During the Reporting Period,
there was no accident that
had a significant impact
on the environment and
natural resources

BREHNREHRERRA
BIRNEAZENEW

A4

A4
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TRERR dERER/BRE

Aspect B.1
FHEB.1
KPIB.1.1
FE1EB.A.1
KPIB.1.2
FEIEB.1.2
Aspect B.2

HHB.2
KPI B.2.1

HIZB.2.1

KPIB.2.2

FE1EB.2.2
KPI B.2.3
E1EB.2.3
Aspect B.3
7 HEB.3
KPI B.3.1
1E1EB.3.1

KPI B.3.2

¥E1%B.3.2

Social
e

(=
(I

Total workforce by gender, employment type (for example, full-

or part-time), age group and geographical region.
IR EFERL (2 RSERE) - Fiednl i REI 5 HE

SEE I

Employee turnover rate by gender, age group and geographical

region.

RIER - FiRAR KRB D BB RKRLE -

Health and Safety
fEEEZ S

Number and rate of work-related fatalities occurred in each of

the past three years including the reporting year.

BE=F (BRERFRE) BFRTTHHABMILER -

Lost days due to work injury.

EIBEETIERS -

Description of occupational health and safety measures

adopted, how they are implemented and monitored.
A PTER AN B R R R B 2 Fe it - AR T R EER 5

b7
Development and Training
B RIE

The percentage of employees trained by gender and employee

category (e.g. senior management, middle management).

wIR MR EER (SR EEE

BEMDL -

The average training hours completed per employee by gender

and employee category.

CRAREEE) DX IE

BRI REBERED - BREETREIIN TR -
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There has been no case of
death due to work in the
past three years including
the Reporting Period.

BREREHANBE=FK
BEITHEMSH

During the Reporting Period,
there were no lost days
due to work injury.
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Section
=4
Aspect B.4 Labour Standards B4
J7EB.4 AT AR
KPI B.4.1 Description of measures to review employment practices to B4
avoid child and forced labour.
FE1EB.4.1 s IR B e e AR 2 B T KR KIS T -
KPI B.4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such practices when There was no violation during
discovered. the Reporting Period
FE1EB.4.2 R IR B RIGENRER B BB ST RIE 28K - WEMARGERBR
Aspect B.5 Supply Chain Management B5
7 HEB.5 HrEgEER
KPI B.5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region. B5
F512B.5.1 i RE| D HEREE -
KPIB.5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging suppliers, number  B5

of suppliers where the practices are being implemented, how
they are implemented and monitored.

¥E1EB.5.2 Hl AR A ERMES - MERITARRIENRHERR
B ARMEERTRERTE -
KPIB.5.3 Description of practices used to identify environmental and social B5

risks along the supply chain, and how they are implemented
and monitored.

F512B.5.3 A AR R E SR IRE R g RRAES - AR
MR T REES A ©
KPI B.5.4 Description of practices used to promote environmentally B5

preferable products and services when selecting suppliers,
and how they are implemented and monitored.

$512B.5.4 R BRE R R 2 ARIRE m KRB HE R - AR
BRITRERTE -
Aspect B.6 Product Responsibility B6
77 HB.6 EmEE
KPI B.6.1 Percentage of total products sold or shipped subject to recalls  No products were subject
for safety and health reasons. to recalls for safety and
health reasons during the
Reporting Period
1512B.6.1 EENCEXEMEHT AR BERIEAMALKN A D HREHARBERA L 2 HE
1B © ek BRI £ T Z8 Bl
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TRRE - HERER

HE

Section

=z s

B

KPI B.6.2

¥51%B.6.2

KPI B.6.3

1E515B.6.3
KPIB.6.4
1515B.6.4
KPI B.6.5

$51%B.6.5
Aspect B.7
FHEB.7
KPI B.7.1

FEIEB.7.1

KPIB.7.2

HBiRB.7.2
KPIB.7.3

¥1$B.7.3
Aspect B.8
7 HB.8
KPI B.8.1

$E1%B.8.1

KPI B.8.2
$512B.8.2

Number of products and service related complaints received
and how they are dealt with.

BEBANEmMRGHRFE B A REE X -

Description of practices relating to observing and protecting
intellectual property rights.
it ER A T RPN SR EE M AR R AE B -

Description of quality assurance process and recall procedures.

S ST BENREMBWIRR

Description of consumer data protection and privacy policies,
how they are implemented and monitored.

B BE ERMRIE RFLBBOR - ARMEBERITRERTE -

Anti-corruption

RES

Number of concluded legal cases regarding corrupt practices
brought against the issuer or its employees during the
reporting period and the outcomes of the cases.

RERARNE T ASEEBRE W E EENBTHARMEH
B H RFDRER -

Description of preventive measures and whistle-blowing
procedures, how they are implemented and monitored.

g R B RER - URAMEARITRER A -

Description of anti-corruption training provided to directors and
staff.

it mES K E TRENRESEI -

Community Investment

HERE

Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, environmental
concerns, labour needs, health, culture, sport).

FIEREE (WHE REEE -
B

Resources contributed (e.g. money or time) to the focus area.

EHEIHRBABAER (NS ELERE)
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B AZBENHRE

Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

25% Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central
Hong Kong

IBDO

EEE - +852 2218 8288
{&H : +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE MEMBERS OF CGN MINING COMPANY LIMITED
(FREZERARDF)

(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of CGN Mining
Company Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) set out on pages 144 to 282, which
comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31
December 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes
in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including
a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and
have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (‘HKSAS”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the “Auditor’'s Responsibilities
for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of
our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA'’s “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”)
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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B AZBENHRE

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT ON THE
INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

Refer to note 20 to the consolidated financial statements and the
accounting policies in note 4(c) and 4(0).

FRREEXER
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— BB 1 Bl R AR E R A4
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W

S22 E B SRR M 20 K M 514 (c)
A EETHUR ©

The key audit matter

The Group has 14.34% interests in an
associate, Fission Uranium Corp. (‘Fission’)
which is a listed company in Canada. As at 31
December 2021, the interest in Fission held by
the Group is approximately HK$551,209,000.

During the year ended 31 December 2021,
Fission has incurred loss in operation.
Following a review of the business, the outiook
for the industry and the market conditions,
as the uranium price and the Canadian
dollar were in fluctuation, there is a risk of
impairment in respect of the interest in Fission;
management has carried out the impairment
assessment on the interest in Fission.

We considered this a key audit matter
because this involves a significant degree of
management judgement in respect of the
valuation methods and assumptions for the
estimation of the recoverable amount of the
interest in Fission.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our procedures were designed to review the
management’s assessment of the indicators
of impairment/reversal of impairment and
understand and assess the reasonableness of the
methods and assumptions used in the valuation
model to estimate the recoverable amounts of the
associate.

We have discussed and assessed the indicators
of possible impairment with the management
and the component auditor and, where such
indicators were identified, assessed the
management’s impairment testing.

We have assessed the valuation methodology
and compared significant inputs to third party
sources. We have also understood and assessed
the key assumptions and critical judgement used
by the management based on our knowledge of
the business and industry.
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BB RS

IMPAIRMENT ASSESSMENT ON THE
INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE

Refer to note 19 to the consolidated financial statements and the

accounting policies in note 4(d) and 4(0).

The key audit matter

The Group has 49% interest in a joint
venture, Semizbay-U Limited Liability
Partnership. As at 31 December 2021, the
interest in a joint venture held by the Group is
approximately HK$358,011,000.

Following a review of the business, the
outlook for the industry and the market
conditions, as the uranium price and
Kazakhstani Tenge were in fluctuation, there
is a risk of impairment in respect of the
interest in a joint venture; management has
carried out the impairment assessment on
the interest in a joint venture.

We considered this a key audit matter
because this involves a significant degree
of management judgement in respect of the
valuation methods and assumptions for the
estimation of the recoverable amount of the
interest in the joint venture.

How the matter was addressed in our audit

Our procedures were designed to review the
management’s assessment of the indicators
of impairment and understand and assess the
reasonableness of the methods and assumptions
used in the valuation model to estimate the
recoverable amount of the joint venture.

We have discussed and assessed the indicators
of possible impairment with the management
and the component auditors and, where
such indicators were identified, assessed the
management’s impairment testing.

We have assessed the valuation methodology
and compared significant inputs to third party
sources. We have also understood and assessed
the key assumptions and critical judgement used
by the management based on our knowledge of
the business and industry.
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OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL
REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no
realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in
discharging their responsibility in this regard.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept
liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° |dentify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B AZBENHRE

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures
in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures
are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our
auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may
cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

° Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

° Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B AZBENHRE

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine WEEBRBBOBIES - BIVAEWLS
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the HHAPRGEEUBRERNEZRAS
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are 2 AMEKBEREZSEE - RITEE
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our EREFBEZEEE  BRIEERIRD
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure TRAFALAAEEZEEE  JEHBHER
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we RIERT - EESEBEBNEMREF T
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report AEEEERNEARREBREELEN

because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably NEME + AR TRE NSRS R
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such ZFEIE o

communication.

BDO Limited BBV ERRETMEEMERAA
Certified Public Accountants HEDFAD

Ng Wai Man HER

Practising Certificate no. PO5309 HREEZRR - P05309

Hong Kong, 25 March 2022 &8 202293 H25H
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

mEeEsEkAEMEZEKRER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHxT FiBT
Revenue BEERE 7 3,859,530 2,862,226
Cost of sales THE KA (8,771,251) (2,659,460)
Gross profit EF 88,279 202,766
Other operating income E g A 8 9,479 9,496
Selling and distribution expenses SHE MO HAX (13,793) (10,453)
Administrative expenses THAX (41,711) (37,593)
Changes in fair value of investment WEWE RN R EES
properties 18 (1,073) 855
Share of results of a joint venture JEIE—EaEhEES 138,311 70,844
Share of results of associates JEIREE N B LA 66,755 (15,060)
Finance costs RSN 9 (49,683) (40,889)
Profit before taxation BREEADER 196,564 179,966
Income tax expenses FriSfisz i 10 (18,066) (24,749)
Profit for the year attributable to RABHEE AEMN
owners of the Company F @A 11 178,498 155,217
Earnings per share BRAR 13
Basic 2K HK2.70 cents  HK2.35 cents
2.70584L 23571l
Diluted e HK2.70 cents  HK2.35 cents
2.707%All 2.35781l
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

mEeEsEkAEMEZEKRER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FEx FAT
Profit for the year KEE R 178,498 155,217
Other comprehensive (expenses)/ Hib2m BI) I -
income:
Items that may be subsequently reclassified Ei&2{ A EF B2 187
to profit or loss: HIHEE -
Exchange differences on translation of BREMB R RMBRE
financial statements of subsidiaries EEZERER 3,872 5,430
Exchange differences on translation of BE —HA B EVBRE
financial statements of a joint venture EECERESR (9,205) (26,929)
Exchange differences on translation of BERE N EMBRE
financial statements of associates EECERER (17,030) 10,197
(22,363) (11,302)
Total comprehensive income for AEEEHEINRAEE
the year 156,135 143,915
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

SEBBMRR R

As at 31 December 2021 72021F12 831 H

2021 2020
2021 2020%F
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET FET
Non-current assets FREEE
Property, plant and equipment L ER S 16 887 622
Right-of-use assets REEE 17(a) 3,970 1,977
Investment properties KEYE 18 53,082 52,623
Interest in a joint venture R—TRE ¥ #R 19 358,011 264,956
Interests in associates N NI - 2 20 3,994,894 553,570
Other receivables H AU 5IR 22 367 -
Deferred tax assets RIEFIBE E 31 5,161 -
4,416,372 873,748
Current assets REEE
Inventories 753 21 1,743,152 1,767,335
Trade and other receivables R ST B 35 % L FE LK
T 22 99,390 363,176
Amount due from an intermediate holding M — AP AR A A
company A 23 2,392 2,323
Amount due from a fellow subsidiary el —FHRZM B AR
IR 24 20 19
Income tax recoverable BIEEERETEN 6,956 6,678
Bank balances and cash RITEGFERRS 25 81,293 1,174,508
1,933,203 3,314,039
Total assets EEAE 6,349,575 4,187,787
Current liabilities REBEE
Trade and other payables NSRRI EMEMATE 26 1,103,368 158,289
Loans from a fellow subsidiary Re—BERZENS
NEIZER 27 236,530 370,693
Loan from immediate holding company REEELRARIZER 28 2,400,197 =
Bank borrowings RITIE 29 - 666,704
Lease liabilities HEAE 17(b) 1,445 704
Amount due to an intermediate holding JE S — R EEAR
company RNAIFIA 23 1,117 874
Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries e R R B A RIFKIE 24 2,188 1,135
Income tax payable e TSRSk 9,270 15,848
3,754,115 1,214,247
Net current (liabilities)/assets RB (BR) EEFE (1,820,912) 2,099,792
Total assets less current liabilities EERERRDAR 2,595,460 2,973,540
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

SEBBMRR R

As at 31 December 2021 72021F12 831 H

2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHT FHT
Non-current liabilities FRBERE
Loans from a fellow subsidiary Re—BRZANBAE
ZE® 27 = 533,596
Bank borrowings RITIER 29 387,754 387,754
Lease liabilities HEAE 17(b) 2,417 1,162
Deferred tax liabilities EERIBEEE 31 50,066 23,968
440,237 946,480
Net assets EEFE 2,155,223 2,027,060
Capital and reserves EXRRE
Share capital &N 30 66,007 66,007
Reserves & 2,089,216 1,961,053
Total equity ERdE 2,155,223 2,027,060
Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors KERGIE R
An Junjing ZE 15 Xu Junmei 1R E 1§
Director &% Director #%
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

Equity attributable to owners of the Company

RATERARGRE

Properties  Exchange Share
Share Share revaluation translation  options  Reserve  Retained Other
capital  premium  reserve  reserve  resemve fund  eamings  reserve

kft LS EX BER i & Ef
k& BE  EffR i i 53 Al i it
HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKSO00  HKS000  HKS000  HKS000  HKS$000
7 /B v/ v/ A v/ S v/ A v/ N v 7 A v 7 A v 71

(Note a) (Note b)
(H3ka) (Hizth)
At1 January 2021 H0NE1A1A 66,007 1,681,112 4059 (610446) 154 583 975460  (116,678) 2,027,060
Proftfor the year iy - - - - - - 178498 - 178498
Other comprenensive ncomerlexpenses)for AR RTINS/ (FR)
the year:
Exchange iferences on tengation o fnencied - 8K BA B R
statements of subsidaies EE/ERER - - - - - - - an
Eichange diferences on tansafon offrencil - 8- A L0 £5 6%
statements of ajoint ventue EE/ERER - - - 09 - = = - [
Exchange diferences on iansaton offranciel  AZBE M ABERR
Statements of assocites ERENEE - - - (1103) - - - - (17.030)
Totd comprenensive ncomelppensed for - MRENE/ (B8
the year - - - (2% - - 118498 - 156,135
Diidend ecognised s citibuton pote 12) BB EARATRE (H3112) - - - - - - (3300 - (33009
Share of oher reserve of associates EitBe TR - - - - - - - 5,031 5,031
At 31 December 2021 HONE12831R 66,007 1,681,112 4059 (632,809) 154 583 112064 (111,847 2155223
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

For the year ended 31 December 2021 &, Z2021F12 A31 A ILFE

Share
capial

it
HKS 000

4
B

Share
premium

HKS 000

Properties
revaluation
16361V

Efifi
K000

Thn

Equty attributable to owners of the Company

Bxchange
franslation
TESeIe

3

4»

Eioka

options
feserve

Resenve

Retained 0
eamings fesene
i
=
HKS 000
Tk

At1 January 2020 H200E1A18 06,007 1,681,112 4069 (599, 144) 154 20583 886,209 (121,789 1,944,241
Proft for t year A - - - - - - 1T - BT
Other comprehensive ncomerlexpenses)for — FAER2TNE/ (FR)
the year:
Exchang diferences on ansaon of fnancdl - AEHEATBARR
statements of subsidiaies EEEREE - - - 5430 - - - - 5430
Exchange diferences on tensafon offrencil - 8- FA L0 23 H6%
Statements of ajoin venture EE/ERER - - - Y - - - ]
Exchange diferences on iansaton offranciel 22 -RBADTEEER
Statements of an associate ERENEE - - -0 - - - -0
Total comprehensive ncomeflexpenses) for  ERRENE/ (%) £
the year - - - (11302 - - 19,17 - 143915
Diidend recogmised as cstbuton pote 12) ~ EAMRARE (iE12) - - - - - - B0 - B0
Share of other reserve of an associate Bl-FBENRNE bR - - - - - - - 4911 4911
At 31 December 2020 RA0E12R31A 66,007 1,681,112 4069 (610,446) 154 583 975469 (116,878 2,027,060
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
mERREBHR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

Note a:

Note b:

Subsidiaries in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”) have appropriated
10% of the profit to reserve fund. The reserve fund is required to be retained in
the accounts of the subsidiaries for specific purposes.

The other reserve represents (i) the difference between the consideration
of United States dollars (“USD”) 133,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$1,030,899,000) and the aggregate paid-in capital of 1t 55 & RIEE
BIRAA] (for identification purpose, in English, Beijing Sino-Kazakh Uranium
Resources Investment Company Limited, referred to as “Beijing Sino-Kazakh”)
of Renminbi 823,770,000 (equivalent to approximately HK$944,534,000)
acquired under business combinations under common control, (i) the difference
between the consideration of USD8,553,800 (equivalent to approximately
HK$66,335,000) and the aggregate paid-in capital of CGN Global Uranium
Limited (the “CGN Global”) of USD3,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$23,265,000) acquired under business combinations under common control
and (i) share of other reserve of associates.

Il 150 CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2021

MffsEa

Bt :

R E ANRAFE ([ B )KL Z B AT
BRENZ10%BAFERESD - BRESA
RENIE AR 28R RERFERE

HA B ORIRLRIZEH T 2 #5546 fHk
B8R {8133,000,0003 7T ([T )) (WER
1,030,899,000/%8 7T) B L = A i #h B RIZ &
ARAB([AtRFBH]) EREABEAR
#£823,770,0007T (4155 #°944,534,0007 7T)
ZRMZETE - ()RIBEERIZE G T EBA O
BRI (E8,553,8003 7T (415 #266,335,000
#7T) ELCGN Global Uranium Limited ([CGN
Globall) & #& 7 48%43,000,000%% 7t (9%
723,265,000 7T) 2 6 8 2= 88 K (jii) FE 5 ek
ENR M E M o



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

MERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

2021 2020
20215 2020F
HK$000 HK$'000
TEx FEL
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KT
Profit before taxation BRI A& A 196,564 179,966
Adjustments for: PATREELAZ
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment nE - BERE 1%?)? g 128 63
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRELENE 1,715 1,859
Reversal of impairment in respect of inventories FEREAE - (1,768)
Changes in fair value of investment properties RENERAERED 1,073 (855)
Interest income FISMA (1,654) (9,106)
Interest expenses on loan from immediate holding REERRERAABERZFIERT
company 18,679 107
Interest expense on loans from a fellow subsidiary RE-HRZHBARENZFEHT 21,821 35,896
Interest expenses on bank borrowings BTEFNERAR 9,100 4782
Interest expense on lease liabilities HEREMNSHEE 83 104
Share of reslts from a joint venture EE-HAEEEE (138,311) (70,844)
Share of results from associates ELEE AREE (66,755) 15,060
Operating cash flow before movements in working capital 2 E &£ 2BFILLRETE 42,443 155,264
Decrease/(increase) in inventories BERD/ (50 24,183 (323,587)
Decrease/(increase) in trade and other receivables %HQEEHA&H@TE WERERD,/ (h0) 263,472 (236,485)
(Increase)/decrease in amount due from an intermediate  FEWR— R ARIR A BIFUE (B 10) /E
holding company (69) 1,562
Increase in amount due from a fellow subsidiary JEM—fe R I B 8 RIS A (1) (19
(Decrease)/increase in trade and other payables EERA R At R FIB (Rl ) /5 (54,765) 118,867
Increase/(decrease) in amount due to an intermediate JE—FR R A RFIEE M/ (BD)
holding company 243 (7,499)
Decrease in amount due to a joint venture ER—HastETERD - (5,513)
Increase/(decrease) in amounts due to fellow subsidiaries  FERFZHIBAAZUEZ N/ (RD) 1,053 (286)
Cash generated from/(used in) operations BRHE/( Fﬁ}ﬂ VR 276,559 (297,706)
Hong Kong profits tax paid BAEETIEE (1,255) (10,628)
People’s Republic of China Enterprise Income Tax paid ~~ BffREARH *Dlmiﬁﬁ S - (760)
The United Kingdom Corporation Tax paid BENEEMER (17,272) (5,995)
Net cash generated from/(used in) operating activities E&EEf1E/ (A BEBE 258,032 (315,089)
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
mERERER

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

2021 2020
2021% 2020
HK$000 HK$'000
TEx FEL
INVESTING ACTIVITIES REZE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BENE  WERHE (399) (524)
Interest income received BIERH M 1,601 9,508
Dividend received from a joint venture BB -RAErERE 36,051 16,734
Acaquisition of an associate i il =N (3,374,011) -
Net cash (used in)/generated from investing activities R&EE (fiR),/FiERLFE (3,336,752) 25,718
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BMEED
Dividend paid ERRE (33,003) (66,007)
Cash received in inventory lease BhEERERE 984,197 -
Interest paid on loan from immediate holding company RREERERARIEHENFE (19,421) (107)
Interest paid on loans from a fellow subsidiary RRE-HRZMBARERERFIE (22,584) (36,100)
Interest paid on bank borrowings RETEFERTIE (10,987) (1,538)
Advance of loan from immediate holding company REEERRDAERST 2,516,175 349,686
Repayment of loan to immediate holding company EEERRRDANER (96,939) (349,686)
Advance of loans from a fellow subsidiary RE—ARZHBARNERRT - 259,795
Repayment of loans to a fellow subsidiary EE-HNBRAIER (667,759) (422,559)
Advance of bank borrowings RITETEH - 1,054,458
Repayment of bank borrowings BRRITER (666,704) -
Repayment of lease liabilities BEHEaRE (1,795) (1,962)
Net cash generated from financing activities HETBMERERHE 1,981,180 785,980
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH AND RERRLEEER (HD) EMFE
CASH EQUIVALENTS (1,097,540) 496,609
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FORERRESEER
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 1,174,508 676,793
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes INEEREE 58 4,325 1,106
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT END OF FREERBEEEER
THE YEAR 81,293 1,174,508
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

GENERAL

CGN Mining Company Limited (the “Company”) was
incorporated in the Cayman Islands as an exempted company
with limited liability. The shares of the Company are listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Its parent company is FEHZEZEE AR D
&) (China Uranium Development Company Limited) (“China
Uranium”), a company incorporated in Hong Kong and a
wholly-owned subsidiary of F EZ 2 Z R B R 25 (CGNPC
Uranium Resources Co. Ltd.) (“CGNPC-URC Development”),
which is in turn a subsidiary of FElEZEE AR A A (China
General Nuclear Power Corporation) (“CGNPC”). CGNPC is
the ultimate parent company of the Company. Both CGNPC-
URC and CGNPC were state-owned enterprises established
in the PRC.

The addresses of the registered office and principal place of
business of the Company are disclosed in the “Corporate
Information” section to the Annual Report.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to the “Group”) are trading of natural
uranium, property investment and other investments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

(a) Adoption of new or amended HKFRSs

The new standards impacting the Group that have
been adopted in the annual financial statements for the
year ended 31 December 2021:

o Interest Rate Benchmark Reform - IBOR
“phase 2” (Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS
39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16); and

° Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond
30 June 2021 (Amendments to HKFRS 16).

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — IBOR ‘phase 2’
(Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

2.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

(@

Adoption of new or amended HKFRSs (Continueq)

These amendments to various HKFRS standards are
mandatorily effective for reporting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2021. The amendments provide
relief to the Group in respect of certain loans (notes
28 and 29) whose contractual terms are affected by
interest benchmark reform. See the applicable notes
for further details on how the amendments affected the
Group.

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June
2021 (Amendments to HKFRS 16)

Effective 1 June 2020, HKFRS 16 was amended to
provide a practical expedient for lessees accounting for
rent concessions that arise as a direct consequence
of the COVID-19 pandemic and satisfy the following
criteria:

2.

RNERIBREEA
(IEBMBREER])

(&

(@)

BRANHTET RIER] B R
BREER

ZEHB B WS ER
Z1EETR2021F1 A1 Bk
2 18 FA K R 25 BA R 98 4l
ER o ZEBIRATEE
A DR ZF| R E A
HNEFENETER (KT
28R29RERESL - HHEZ
EBITHAEETEN®E
—FHE - F2HEAN
o

2021465304 472019
HIER G ER (B
BUHHEERE 1692
&a7)

H2020F6 A1HR &%
M mEERFE165%AE
EEHEET - AFEUT
R A A FEH2019%
BREBEMEEREEENES
EEMNEERRMEAT
EEE

FREBEERAR —T-—F4% 155 1



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

2.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

(@

Adoption of new or amended HKFRSs (Continued)

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June
2021 (Amendments to HKFRS 16) (Continued)

(@) The change in lease payments results in revised
consideration for the lease that is substantially
the same as, or less than, the consideration for
the lease immediately preceding the change;

(b) The reduction is lease payments affects only
payments originally due on or before 30 June
2021; and

(c) There is no substantive change to other terms
and conditions of the lease.

Rent concessions that satisfy these criteria may
be accounted for in accordance with the practical
expedient, which means the lessee does not assess
whether the rent concession meets the definition of a
lease modification. Lessees apply other requirements
in HKFRS 16 in accounting for the concession.

In the annual financial statements for the year ended
31 December 2020, the Group had elected to utilise
the practical expedient for all rent concessions that
meet the criteria.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

2.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

(@

Adoption of new or amended HKFRSs (Continued)

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June
2021 (Amendments to HKFRS 16) (Continued)

Accounting for the rent concessions as lease
modifications would have resulted in the Group
remeasuring the lease liability to reflect the revised
consideration using a revised discount rate, with the
effect of the change in the lease liability recorded
against the right-of-use asset. By applying the practical
expedient, the Group is not required to determine a
revised discount rate and the effect of the change
in the lease liability is reflected in profit or loss in the
period in which the event or condition that triggers the
rent concession occurs.

On 9 April 2021, the HKICPA issued another
amendment to HKFRS 16: Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond 30 June 2021, which extended
the above practical expedient to reductions in lease
payments that were originally due on or before 30
June 2022. This amendment is effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021 with
earlier application permitted including the financial
statements not authorised for issue at 9 April 2021.
The amendment is to be applied mandatorily by
those entities that have elected to apply the previous
amendment Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions. The
Group has early adopted the amendment Covid-19-
Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 in
the current annual financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

2. ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

(a) Adoption of new or amended HKFRSs (Continued)

Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June
2021 (Amendments to HKFRS 16) (Continued)

The Group had not negotiated several rent concessions
with lessors that affected payments originally due after
30 June 2021 but before 30 June 2022.

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective

The following new or amended HKFRSs, potentially
relevant to the Group’s financial statements, have
been issued, but are not yet effective and have not
been early adopted by the Group. The Group’s current
intention is to apply these changes on the date they
become effective.

The following amendments are effective for the period
beginning 1 January 2022:

° Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a
Contract (Amendments to HKAS 37);

o Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds
before Intended Use (Amendments to HKAS
16);
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

2.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

(b) New or amended HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)

° Annual Improvements to HKFRS Standards
2018-2020 (Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS
9, HKFRS 16 and HKAS 41); and

o References to Conceptual Framework
(Amendments to HKFRS 3).

The following amendments are effective for the period
beginning 1 January 2023:

° Disclosure of Accounting Policies (Amendments
to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice Statement 2);

o Definition of Accounting Estimates
(Amendments to HKAS 8); and

° Deferred Tax Related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction (Amendments
to HKAS 12).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

2.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

(b)

New or amended HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)

In August 2020, the HKICPA issued amendments to
HKAS 1, which clarify the criteria used to determine
whether liabilities are classified as current or non-
current. These amendments clarify that current or
non-current classification is based on whether an
entity has a right at the end of the reporting period
to defer settlement of the liability for at least twelve
months after the reporting period. The amendments
also clarify that ‘settlement’ includes the transfer of
cash, goods, services, or equity instruments unless the
obligation to transfer equity instruments arises from a
conversion feature classified as an equity instrument
separately from the liability component of a compound
financial instrument. The amendments were originally
effective for annual reporting periods beginning on
or after 1 January 2022. However, in May 2020, the
effective date was deferred to annual reporting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2023.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

2.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

(b)

New or amended HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)

In response to feedback and enquiries from
stakeholders, in December 2020, the IFRS
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) issued a Tentative
Agenda Decision, analysing the applicability of the
amendments to three scenarios. However, given the
comments received and concerns raised on some
aspects of the amendments, in April 2021, IFRIC
decided not to finalise the agenda decision and
referred the matter to the International Accounting
Standards Board (IASB). In its June 2021 meeting, the
IASB tentatively decided to amend the requirements
of IAS 1 with respect to the classification of liabilities
subject to conditions and disclosure of information
about such conditions and to defer the effective date
of the 2020 amendment by at least one year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

2.

ADOPTION OF HONG KONG FINANCIAL
REPORTING STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)
(Continued)

(b)

New or amended HKFRSs that have been issued
but are not yet effective (Continued)

The Group is currently assessing the impact of these
new accounting standards and amendments. Given
that HKFRS is fully converged with International
Financial Reporting Standards, the Group will
assess the impact of the final amendments to IAS
1 on classification of its liabilities once the those are
issued by the IASB. The Group does not believe that
the amendments to IAS 1, in their present form, will
have a significant impact on the classification of its
liabilities, as the conversion feature in its convertible
debt instruments is classified as an equity instrument
and therefore, does not affect the classification of its
convertible debt as a non-current liability.

The Group does not expect any other standards issued
by the HKICPA, but not yet effective, to have a material
impact on the group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

3.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

(a)

(b)

Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with all HKFRSs, HKASs and
Interpretations (hereinafter collectively referred to as
the “HKFRSs”) and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited.

Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared under the historical cost basis except for
investment properties that are measured at fair values.

Notwithstanding that the Group had net current
liabilities of approximately HK$1,820,912,000 as at 31
December 2021, the directors of the Company are of
view that the Group is able to maintain itself as a going
concern, by taking into consideration of the following:

1) China Uranium Development, immediate
holding company of the Company, continue to
provide adequate funds for the Group to meet
its liabilities if needed; and
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION (Continued)

(b) Basis of measurement (Continued)

2) The existing facilities had been granted
by CGNPC Huasheng Investment Limited
("CGNPC Huasheng") in which approximately
of USD350,000,000 had not been utilised as at
31 December 2021.

Accordingly, these consolidated financial statements
have been prepared on a going concern basis and do
not include any adjustments which would be required
should the Group be unable to continue as a going
concern.

(c) Functional and presentation currencies

The functional currency of the Company is USD. As
the Company is listed in Hong Kong, the Directors
consider that it is appropriate to present the
consolidated financial statements in HKS.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(a)

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of the Group. Inter-company
transactions and balances between group companies
together with unrealised profits are eliminated in full
in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the
transaction provides evidence of impairment on the
asset transferred, in which case the loss is recognised
in profit or loss.

The results of subsidiaries acquired or disposed
of during the year are included in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income from the dates
of acquisition or up to the dates of disposal, as
appropriate. Where necessary, adjustments are made
to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies into line with those used by other
members of the Group.

When the Group loses control of a subsidiary, the
gain or loss on disposal is calculated as the difference
between (i) the aggregate of the fair value of the
consideration received and the fair value of any
retained interest and (i) the previous carrying amount
of the assets (including goodwill), and liabilities of the
subsidiary and any non-controlling interests. Amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income
in relation to that subsidiary are accounted for on the
same basis as would be required if the relevant assets
or liabilities were disposed of.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(b)

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company
is able to exercise control. The Company controls
an investee if all three of the following elements are
present: (i) power over the investee, (i) exposure, or
rights, to variable returns from the investee, and (iii)
the ability to use its power to affect those variable
returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts and
circumstances indicate that there may be a change in
any of these elements of control.

De-facto control exists in situations where the
Company has the practical ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee without holding the majority
of the voting rights. In determining whether de-facto
control exists, the Company considers all relevant facts
and circumstances, including:

° the size of the Company’s voting rights relative
to both the size and dispersion of other parties
who hold voting rights;

° substantive potential voting rights held by the
Company and other parties who hold voting

rights;
° other contractual arrangements; and
° historic patterns in voting attendance.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
investments in subsidiaries are stated at cost less
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividend received and receivable.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 E =2021F12 431 B ILFE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(c)

Associates

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence and that is neither a subsidiary nor
a joint arrangement. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

Associates are accounted for using the equity method
whereby they are initially recognised at cost and
thereafter, their carrying amount are adjusted for
the Group’s share of the post-acquisition change
in the associates’ net assets except that losses in
excess of the Group’s interest in the associate are not
recognised unless there is an obligation to make good
those losses.

Profits and losses arising on transactions between the
Group and its associates are recognised only to the
extent of unrelated investors’ interests in the associate.
The investor’s share in the associate’s profits and
losses resulting from these transactions are eliminated
against the carrying value of the associate. Where
unrealised losses provide evidence of impairment of
the asset transferred, they are recognised immediately
in profit or loss.

Any premium paid for an associate above the fair value
of the Group’s share of the identifiable assets, liabilities
and contingent liabilities acquired is capitalised and
included in the carrying amount of the associate.
Any excess of the Group’s share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost
of investment, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss. Where there is objective
evidence that the investment in an associate has been
impaired, the carrying amount of the investment is
tested for impairment in the same way as other non-
financial assets.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(c)

Associates (Continued)

The Group discontinues the use of the equity method
from the date when the investment ceases to be an
associate. When the Group retains an interest in the
former associate and the retained interest is a financial
asset, the Group measures the retained interest at
fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as
its fair value on initial recognition in accordance with
HKFRS 9. The difference between the carrying amount
of the associate at the date the equity method was
discontinued, and the fair value of any retained interest
and any proceeds from disposing a part interest in the
associate is included in the determination of the gain
or loss on disposal of the associate. In addition, all
amounts previously recognised in other comprehensive
income in relation to that associate are recognised on
the same basis as would be required if that associate
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an
associate but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the
proportion of the gain or loss that had previously been
recognised in other comprehensive income relating to
that reduction in ownership interest it that gain or loss
would be reclassified to profit or loss on the disposal of
the related assets or liabilities.

In the Company’s statement of financial position,
interests in associates are carried at cost less
impairment losses, if any. The results of associates
are accounted for by the Company on the basis of
dividends received and receivable during the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(d)

Joint arrangements

The Group is a party to a joint arrangement where
there is a contractual arrangement that confers joint
control over the relevant activities of the arrangement
to the Group and at least one other party. Joint control
is assessed under the same principles as control over
subsidiaries.

The Group classifies its interest in joint arrangements as
joint venture where the Group has rights to only the net
assets of the joint arrangement.

In assessing the classification of interest in joint
arrangements, the Group considers:

° the structure of the joint arrangement;

° the legal form of joint arrangements structured
through a separate vehicle;

° the contractual terms of the joint arrangement
agreement; and

° any other facts and circumstances (including
any other contractual arrangements).

The Group accounts for its interest in a joint venture
in the same manner as investments in associates (i.e.
using the equity method — see note 4(c)).

The Company’s interest in a joint venture is stated at
cost less impairment losses, if any. Results of a joint
venture are accounted for by the Company on the
basis of dividends received and receivable.

4.

TESHEEK#E

(d)

op
T

aTH

ERANRHEETASE
REL-—BEMITHTY
MR B 2 KRS
B AEESEELYZ
FT#) 77 o FKREHITIR IR
%ﬂW%AﬂZﬁH%W
T UARHE -

/

WEREEEYA SR
CEEFEEEHRF K
EEBHNABTH B
HAEAABLE -

RFEBAREEL 2
%EZ"*EEH CAKEE

. FERBUERBAR
BETHZIAE
R
. BETHHEZE
MR - )
. ETMEMEERIB
n(BREMEMLE
) -

AEBRAERBEQR]Z
BREMRR T E (BE A
s — R4 HERE
BRRZERIE -

ARARABELEZER
T§W$ﬁiﬂﬁ)§ﬁ§ (wa) 7!
- RBERRZEEHAA
NANRF A E WK YR
BARK e

hEZIEEAR AR

—Z-—4F3% 169 1N



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost
less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its
purchase price and the costs directly attributable to
the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s
carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset,
as appropriate, only when it is probable that future
economic benefits associated with the item will flow to
the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced part is
derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are
recognised as an expense in profit or loss during the
financial period in which they are incurred.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so
as to write off their cost or valuation net of expected
residual value over their estimated useful lives on a
straight-line basis. The useful lives, residual value and
depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. The
useful lives are as follows:

Over the shorter of the
term of the lease or
40 years

Leasehold improvements Over the shorter of the
term of the lease or
5 years

10% to0 27%

Buildings

Furniture, fixtures and
equipment
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(e)

)

Property, plant and equipment (Continueq)

An asset is written down immediately to its recoverable
amount if its carrying amount is higher than the asset’s
estimated recoverable amount.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property,
plant and equipment is the difference between the
net sale proceeds and its carrying amount, and is
recognised in profit or loss on disposal.

Investment properties

Investment property is property held either to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation or for both, but
not held for sale in the ordinary course of business,
use in the production or supply of goods or services
or for administrative purposes. Investment property
is measured at cost on initial recognition and
subsequently at fair value with any change therein
recognised in profit or loss.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal
or when the investment property is permanently
withdrawn from use and no future economic benefits
are expected from the disposal. Any gain or loss arising
on derecognition of the property, calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset is included in profit or loss
in the period in which the property is derecognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(9)

Government grant

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants
will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that
the Group should purchase, construct or otherwise
acquire non-current assets (including property, plant
and equipment) are recognised as deferred income in
the statement of financial position and transferred to
profit or loss on a systematic and rational basis over
the useful lives of the related assets.

Government grants that are receivable as
compensation for expenses or losses already incurred
or for the purpose of giving immediate financial
support to the Group with no future related costs
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
they become receivable and are recognised as other
revenue, rather than reducing the related expense.

The benefit of a government loan at a below-market
rate of interest is treated as a government grant,
measured as the difference between proceeds
received and the fair value of the loan based on
prevailing market interest rates.

Il 172 CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2021

4.

TESHEEK#E

(9)

BUF B

EEAEREAEEFE
ST IR T 8 B B B S Ak 1 B
U B BO B - T B RER
BB °

I 48 B 7 7S % TS 62 4
B MK A ER R X
MR A GEREERE
PR AEBmME - &
ZIRHR/ANKEEESR -
EES AR AU IE
RBEE(BREYME  BFE
Ko 3& ) BT 78 BY 0 B 7%
AL 2R R RE AR A R FE A
YHBEBEENA(ERF
HARRG(CRAEBEE
BEEB =R

ERAXKEELEEN
e KRANAAEELR
GRS R SRS = Rk
EENBAmMmE - EARRK
MERERCA - 70 H AT U ER AR
AR BEDERLERR
H AUz - M IER A 1HEE
s

BRERTHH R E 2R
i & 3R 2 1% 4R /S BT 4
By - B WA SR AR
BERMEMNERFTEZZ
ERDREZERTE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h)

Leases
The Group as a lessee

All leases are required to be capitalised in the
statement of financial position as right-of-use assets
and lease liabilities, but accounting policy choices
exist for an entity to choose not to capitalise (i) leases
which are short-term leases and/or (i) leases for which
the underlying asset is of low-value. The Group has
elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities for low-value assets and leases for which at
the commencement date have a lease term of less
than 12 months. The lease payments associated with
those leases have been expensed on straight-line
basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset is initially recognised at cost and
would comprise:

(i) the amount of the initial measurement of the
lease liability (see below for the accounting
policy to account for lease liability);

(i any lease payments made at or before the
commencement date, less any lease incentives
received;

(iii) any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee;
and

(iv) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the
lessee in dismantling and removing the
underlying asset to the condition required by
the terms and conditions of the lease, unless
those costs are incurred to produce inventories.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h)

Leases (Continued)
Right-of-use asset (Continued)

The Group measures the right-of-use assets
applying a cost model. Under the cost model, the
Group measures the right-to-use at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liability.

Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value
of the lease payments that are not paid at the date of
commencement of the lease. The lease payments are
discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if
that rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot
be readily determined, the Group uses the lessee’s
incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right-to-use the
underlying asset during the lease term that are not
paid at the commencement date of the lease are
considered to be lease payments:

(i) fixed lease payments less any lease incentives
receivable;
(i variable lease payments that depend on an

index or a rate, initially measured using the
index or rate as at commencement date;

(iiiy amounts expected to be payable by the lessee
under residual value guarantees;
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h)

Leases (Continued)
Lease liability (Continued)

(iv) exercise price of a purchase option, if the
lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that
option; and

(v) payments of penalties for terminating the lease,
if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising
an option to terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group
measures the lease liability by:

(i) increasing the carrying amount to reflect
interest on the lease liability;

(ii) reducing the carrying amount to reflect the
lease payments made; and

(iiiy remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any
reassessment or lease modification, or to reflect
revised in-substance fixed lease payments.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h)

Leases (Continued)
Lease liability (Continued)

When the Group revises its estimate of the term of
any lease (because, for example, it re-assesses the
probability of a lessee extension or termination option
being exercised), it adjusts the carrying amount of the
lease liability to reflect the payments to make over the
revised term, which are discounted using a revised
discount rate. The carrying value of lease liabilities is
similarly revised when the variable element of future
lease payments dependent on a rate or index is
revised, except the discount rate remains unchanged.
In both cases, an equivalent adjustment is made to the
carrying value of the right-of-use asset, with the revised
carrying amount being amortised over the remaining
(revised) lease term. If the carrying amount of the right-
of-use asset is adjusted to zero, any further reduction is
recognised in profit or loss.

The Group as a lessor

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the
terms of the lease transfer substantially all the risks
and rewards of ownership of the leased assets to the
lessee. All other leases are classified as operating
leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised
in profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term
of the relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised as an expense on the straight-line basis
over the lease term.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(h)

Leases (Continued)
The Group as a lessor (Continued)

Any changes in the scope of the consideration for
a lease that was not part of the original terms and
conditions of the lease are accounted for as lease
modifications. The Group accounts for a modification
to an operating lease as a new lease from the effective
date of the modification, recognising the remaining
lease payments as income on a either a straight-line
basis or another systematic basis over the remaining
lease term.

Financial instruments
0 Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable
without a significant financing component)
is initially measured at fair value plus, for an
item not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs that are directly attributable to
its acquisition or issue. Trade receivable without
a significant financing component is initially
measured at the transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial
assets are recognised on the trade date, that is,
the date that the Group commits to purchase
or sell the asset.

Regular way purchases or sales are purchases
or sales of financial assets that require delivery
of assets within the period generally established
by regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FEEHBR@
(Continued)
(i) Financial instruments (Continued) i) SEMIAE)
() Financial assets (Continueqd) () THEE (&)
Debt instruments BEFTA
The Company classifies all of its debt AARBEMABE
instruments at amortised cost: T ERE K AR
¥R

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for
collection of contractual cash flows where
those cash flows represent solely payments
of principal and interest are measured at
amortised cost. Financial assets at amortised
cost are subsequently measured using the
effective interest method. Interest income,
foreign exchange gains and losses and
impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any
gain on derecognition is recognised in profit or
loss.

Equity instruments

On initial recognition of an equity investment
that is not held for trading, the Group could
irrevocably elect to present subsequent
changes in the investment’s fair value in
other comprehensive income. This election is
made on an investment-by-investment basis.
Equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income are measured at fair
value. Dividend income are recognised in
profit or loss unless the dividend income clearly
represents a recovery of part of the cost of the
investments. Other net gains and losses are
recognised in other comprehensive income
and are not reclassified to profit or loss. All
other equity instruments are classified as fair
value through profit or loss, whereby changes
in fair value, dividends and interest income are
recognised in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FEEHBR@
(Continued)
i) Financial instruments (Continued) i) SRMIAE)
(i) Impairment loss on financial assets (i) THEEZ RIEEE
The Group recognises loss allowances for 75 B B R 4E K
expected credit loss (‘ECLs") on financial assets AtEZemEE
measured at amortised cost including trade (BIERBERR R E
and other receivables, amount due from an U FRIE - R
intermediate holding company, amount due —MEREERRA A
from a fellow subsidiary and bank balances. KIA - EW—ER
ECLs are measured on either of the following A B A RIRER
bases: RITHETE) 2 TEER1E
EEE([EHEE
B ) EREBER

e BEEREER
BATHFR—IHE

B

o 12-months ECLs: these are ECLs that . 121E A 8 HA
result from possible default events within FEEIE
the 12 months after the reporting date; "R WmER
and Bitg 1218 A

N E 2B
TEHNSMH
BBz 18 5
EEEE
&

. Lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that . 2 HEHE
result from all possible default events EEB: B
over the expected life of a financial RemIT A
instrument. The maximum period FHEFFEBH K
considered when estimating ECLs is the Fr & ] ge &
maximum contractual period over which HEMHEE
the Group is exposed to credit risk. ZTEHEE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4.
(Continued)

TESHEEK#E

(i)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of
credit losses. Credit losses are measured as
the difference between all contractual cash
flows that are due to the Group in accordance
with the contract and all the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive. The shortfall is then
discounted at an approximation to the assets’
original effective interest rate.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECLs for
trade receivables. The expected credit losses
on these financial assets are estimated on an
individual basis for customer with significant
balances, estimated based on the Group’s
historical credit loss experience, adjusted for
factors that are specific to the debtors, general
economic conditions and an assessment of
both the current as well as the forecast direction
of conditions at the reporting date, including
time value of money where appropriate.

For all other financial instruments, the Group
measures the loss allowance equal to 12-month
ECLs, unless when there is a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
the Group recognises lifetime ECLs. The
assessment of whether lifetime ECLs should be
recognised is based on significant increase in
the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since
initial recognition.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

When determining whether the credit risk of
a financial asset has increased significantly
since initial recognition and when estimating
ECLs, the Group considers reasonable and
supportable information that is relevant and
available without undue cost or effort. This
includes both quantitative and qualitative
information analysis, based on the Group’s
historical experience and informed credit
assessment and including forward-looking
information.

The Group presumes that the credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
when contractual payments are more than
30 days past due, unless the Group has
reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

The Group considers that default has occurred
when a financial asset is more than 90 days
past due unless the Group has reasonable
and supportable information to demonstrate
that a more lagging default criterion is more
appropriate.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(i) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset to be
credit-impaired when:

° significant financial difficulty of the
debtor;
° a breach of contract, such as a default

or being more than 90 days past due;

° the restructuring of a loan or advance
by the Group on terms that the Group
would not consider otherwise;

o it is probable that the debtor will
enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation; or

o the disappearance of an active market
for a security because of financial
difficulties.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Impairment loss on financial assets (Continued)

The Group recognises an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments
with a corresponding adjustment to their
carrying amount through a loss allowance
account.

The Group writes off a financial asset when
there is information indicating that the debtor
is in severe financial difficulty and there is no
realistic prospect of recovery. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement
activities under the Group’s recovery
procedures, taking into account legal advice
where appropriate. Any recoveries made are
recognised in profit or loss.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial
assets is calculated based on the amortised
cost (i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss
allowance) of the financial asset. For non credit-
impaired financial assets, interest income is
calculated based on the gross carrying amount.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FEEBHBR#
(Continued)
i) Financial instruments (Continued) i) SRMIAE)
(i) Financial liabilities (i)  EEEE
All financial liabilities are subsequently AETREBERR

(i)

)

measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest method. The related interest expense is
recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss
when the liabilities are derecognised as well as
through the amortisation process.

Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of
calculating the amortised cost of a financial
asset or financial liability and of allocating
interest income or interest expense over the
relevant period. The effective interest rate
is the rate that exactly discounts estimated
future cash receipts or payments through the
expected life of the financial asset or liability, or
where appropriate, a shorter period.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Group are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct
issue costs.

B 184 CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2021

(iv)

V)

RKABEBRR R LR
B A E - 48
AR ERITRER
R o

Yo s S BRI AR L
ERAER LN H#
B R N B R

e

BEFE%

BERMEEARFE
THMEEXTRA
18 ) B 35 A AR A I
R AR B8 B o A A
B A B R X
HJT0R - BRAIR
DREEMEES
BEMEFHX
(AE ) B8 B
A B8 500 45 HiE 3th S 1
RN 2 WK
R F K o

#EnT A

AEBPTEITRS
TAUMBEZRS
1T B 7S 18 B W BB
PRSFRIARCHR °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(i)

Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when
the contractual rights to the future cash flows
in relation to the financial asset expire or when
the financial asset has been transferred and the
transfer meets the criteria for derecognition in
accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.

Where the Group issues its own equity
instruments to a creditor to settle a financial
liability in whole or in part as a result of
renegotiating the terms of that liability, the
equity instruments issued are the consideration
paid and are recognised initially and measured
at their fair value on the date the financial liability
or part thereof is extinguished. If the fair value
of the equity instruments issued cannot be
reliably measured, the equity instruments are
measured to reflect the fair value of the financial
liability extinguished. The difference between
the carrying amount of the financial liability or
part thereof extinguished and the consideration
paid is recognised in profit or loss for the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

1)

(k)

Inventories

Inventories are initially recognised at cost, and
subsequently at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost comprises all costs of purchase, costs of
conversion and other costs incurred in bringing the
inventories to their present location and condition. Cost
is calculated using the weighted average method. Net
realisable value represents the estimated selling price
in the ordinary course of business less the estimated
costs of completion and the estimated costs necessary
to make the sale.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the consideration
to which the Group expects to be entitled in exchange
for those goods or services, excluding those amounts
collected on behalf of third parties. Revenue excludes
value added taxes or other sales taxes and is after
deduction of any trade discounts.

Depending on the terms of the contract and the laws
that apply to the contract, control of the goods or
service may be transferred over time or at a point in
time. Control of the goods or service is transferred over
time if the Group’s performance:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(k)

Revenue recognition (Continueqd)

provides all of the benefits received and
consumed simultaneously by the customer;

creates or enhances an asset that the customer
controls as the Group performs; or

does not create an asset with an alternative use
to the Group and the Group has an enforceable
right to payment for performance completed to
date.

If control of the goods or services transfers over time,

revenue is recognised over the period of the contract

by reference to the progress towards complete

satisfaction of that performance obligation. Otherwise,

revenue is recognised at a point in time when the

customer obtains control of the goods or service.

()

(i)

Sales of natural uranium

Customers obtain control of the natural uranium
when the goods are delivered to and have
been accepted. Revenue is thus recognised
upon when the customers accepted the
natural uranium. There is generally only one
performance obligation.

Rental income

Rental income from operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the term of the relevant lease.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 4. FEEHBR@
(Continued)
(k)  Revenue recognition (Continued) (k) WARERE)

(i) Management fee income (i) EHEEIA
Management fee income is recognised when BEEBWATINGE
services are provided. #t iR 75 B T LA RE

(i) Interest income ) FEHA
Interest income from a financial asset is fis] & 4% 7% A1) 25 7 A
recognised when it is probable that the M ARE R R
economic benefits will flow to the Group and A& B A] AT
the amount of income can be measured 2 AlKeRRAL
reliably. Interest income is accrued on a time BEEM B A o
basis, by reference to the principal outstanding FEUWA T2 K
and at the effective interest rate applicable, EBEEXeLERE
which is the rate that exactly discounts the BFE - RREE
estimated future cash receipts through the ERE - BEAFE
expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s DiRe & EE
net carrying amount on initial recognition. FH - KRR R

FTURERER & BB Ah
REZBEERYZ
RZEEFE -

V) Dividend income V) BREUA
Dividend income is recognised when the right % B 4 A B 7 U
to receive the dividend is established. B AR B 8 #E T B A
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(k)

o

Revenue recognition (Continueqd)
Vi) Inventory lease income

Inventory lease income arises when the natural
uranium leased to customers have been
bought back by the Group in a lower price. It is
recognised when the natural uranium the Group
has received the natural uranium returned by
customers.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation
to transfer services to a customer for which the
Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

Income taxes

Income taxes for the year comprise current tax and
deferred tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary
activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable or
disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period. The amount of
current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate
of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that
reflects any uncertainty related to income tax.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(1) Income taxes (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences between the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the
corresponding amounts used for tax purposes. Except
for goodwill not deductible for tax purposes and
initial recognition of assets and liabilities that are not
part of the business combination which affect neither
accounting nor taxable profits, taxable temporary
differences arising on investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures where the Group is able
to control the reversal of the temporary difference and
it is probable that the temporary difference will not
reverse in the foreseeable future, deferred tax liabilities
are recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which deductible temporary differences can be utilised,
provided that the deductible temporary differences
are not arises from initial recognition of assets and
liabilities in a transaction other than in a business
combination that affects neither taxable profit nor the
accounting profit. Deferred tax is measured at the tax
rates appropriate to the expected manner in which the
carrying amount of the asset or liability is realised or
settled and that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of reporting period, and reflects any
uncertainty related to income taxes.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income tax levied by the same taxation authority and
the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and

liabilities on a net basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

U

(m)

Income taxes (Continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at each reporting date and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits
will be available to allow all or part of the assets to be
recovered.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except
when they relate to items recognised in other
comprehensive income in which case the taxes are
also recognised in other comprehensive income or
when they relate to items recognised directly in equity
in which case the taxes are also recognised directly in
equity.

Foreign currencies

Transactions entered into by the group entities in
currencies other than the currency of the primary
economic environment in which it/they operate(s)
(the “functional currency”) are recorded at the
rates ruling when the transactions occur. Foreign
currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated
at the rates ruling at the end of reporting period.
Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at
the rates prevailing on the date when the fair value was
determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(m)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the translation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise. Exchange differences arising on the
retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value
are included in profit or loss for the period except for
differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary
items in respect of which gains and losses are
recognised in other comprehensive income, in which
case, the exchange differences are also recognised in
other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, income and expense items of
foreign operations are translated into the presentation
currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the
average exchange rates for the year, unless exchange
rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which
case, the rates approximating to those ruling when
the transactions took place are used. All assets and
liabilities of foreign operations are translated at the
rate ruling at the end of reporting period. Exchange
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
as exchange translation reserve (attributed to non-
controlling interests as appropriate). Exchange
differences recognised in profit or loss of group entities’
separate financial statements on the translation of
long-term monetary items forming part of the Group’s
net investment in the foreign operation concerned
are reclassified to other comprehensive income and
accumulated in equity as exchange translation reserve.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(m)

()

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable

assets acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign

operation on or after 1 January 2005 are treated as

assets and liabilities of that foreign operation and

translated at the rate of exchange prevailing at the end

of reporting period. Exchange differences arising are

recognised in the exchange translation reserve.

Employee benefits

()

(i)

(i)

Short term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are employee
benefits (other than termination benefits) that
are expected to be settled wholly before twelve
months after the end of the annual reporting
period in which the employees render the
related service. Short term employee benefits
are recognised in the year when the employees
render the related service.

Defined contribution retirement plans

Payments to state-managed retirement benefit
scheme and the Mandatory Provident Fund
Scheme (defined contribution plans) are
recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the
contributions.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised on the
earlier of when the Group can no longer
withdraw the offer of those benefits and when
the Group recognises restructuring costs
involving the payment of termination benefits.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(o)

Impairment of assets (other than financial assets)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of the following assets
to determine whether there is any indication that
those assets have suffered an impairment loss or an
impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists
or may have decreased:

° property, plant and equipment;
° Right-of-use assets;
° interests in associates and a joint venture

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair
value less costs of disposal and value in use) of an
asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount,
the carrying amount of the asset is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
as an expense immediately, unless the relevant asset
is carried at a revalued amount under another HKFRS,
in which case the impairment loss is treated as a
revaluation decrease under that HKFRS.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 E =2021F12 431 B ILFE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(o)

(P)

Impairment of assets (other than financial assets)
(Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses,
the carrying amount of the asset is increased to the
revised estimate of its recoverable amount, to the
extent that the increased carrying amount does not
exceed the carrying amount that would have been
determined had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment
loss is recognised in profit or loss immediately, unless
the relevant asset is carried at a revalued amount
under another HKFRS, in which case the reversal of
the impairment loss is treated as a revaluation increase
under that HKFRS.

Value-in-use is based on the estimated future
cash flows expected to be derived from the asset,
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax
discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the
asset or cash generating unit.

Capitalisation of borrowing costs

Borrowing costs attributable directly to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets which
require a substantial period of time to be ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part
of the cost of those assets. Income earned on
temporary investments of specific borrowings pending
their expenditure on those assets is deducted from
borrowing costs capitalised. All other borrowing costs
are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which
they are incurred.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(a)

()

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group has a legal or
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past
event, which it is probable will result in an outflow of
economic benefits that can be reliably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow
of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations,
the existence of which will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events, are also disclosed as contingent liabilities
unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is
remote.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances
and short-term deposits that are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in their fair value, and are
used by the Group in the management of its short-
term commitments. For the purpose of the statement
of cash flows, bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and that form an integral part of the Group’s
cash management are included in cash and cash
equivalents.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(s) Related parties

(@)

A person or a close member of that person’s
family is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the
Company;

(ii) has significant influence over the
Company; or

(iii) is a member of key management

personnel of the Company or the
Company’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions apply:

(i) The entity and the Company are
members of the same group (which
means that each parent, subsidiary and
fellow subsidiary is related to the others).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

(s) Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the

following conditions apply: (Continued)

(i

)

V)

(V)

One entity is an associate or joint
venture of the other entity (or an
associate or joint venture of a member
of a group of which the other entity is a
member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the
same third party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of the employees
of the Group or an entity related to the
Group.

The entity is controlled or jointly
controlled by a person identified in (a).

Il 198 CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2021

BB AL ()

(b)

TESHEEK#E

i 75 & T B AE AT 46

- Bl

L LRSS

H 2 ><

EERE - (&

(i)

(i)

(v)

\
If

a

o)

|
D i
i

el

L

|
i}
B

\;
I
B
ko

>
= m M
O O S = = M- 13

]
=
B

o8 FF

B D Mo 30 o> SR 40
o

Mooy oo @

~—
o

W
||| 2B

‘o
ot
i Qf

k

i)
DIEE
=

m 2 = o>
w
5 W

mf e
O omg
B

I
WE & 5B

\
’

o)
a3

&

TR

o

el
o

ZERBAK
@ EAR
SE A
M E L E
B & F &L
M BE B IR 1R
MEtEl

ZERX(a)
P 8 Bl A £
12 1 2 K 7
124 o



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

4.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

(s) Related parties (Continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions apply: (Continued)

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(vii)  The entity, or any member of a group
of which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Company or to the Company’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are
those family members who may be expected
to influence, or be influenced by, that person
in their dealings with the entity and include (i)
that person’s children and spouse or domestic
partner; (i) children of that person’s spouse or
domestic partner; and (iii) dependents of that
person or that person’s spouse or domestic
partner.

4.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the
directors are required to make judgments, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to
be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and
future periods.

(a) Critical judgements in applying accounting

TESTHHE R AT
BEEZEERR

ERAEESTBRE - EFA
REEBEMBKREECEER
EFZHEETE{’E.EH HIE -~ fEERE
o ARt KR RR IR BB EL
%ﬁ&ﬁﬁﬂ%ﬁ%*ﬁ%ﬁZl%f’Eﬁ - E
BRIBILA] BEA BN R F1ERT »

16&&*@%%@:&2&?*# B
B o M@ atfhat 2 BRI E S HHER]
ERTZHEELRE - E‘JE@P/}%
SNZEER - MHETEES
A R ARKEARE - RIS PMERT AR K
HAFR TR

(@) REFBERTERZEZE

policies FI B

() Deferred taxation on investment properties () REYZE LT IE
For the purposes of measuring deferred tax MEEHAAAE
liabilities from investment properties that were BRAHAENEEDY
measured using the fair value model, the ¥MRELEHIEAR
directors of the Company reviewed the Group’s ms ' ARBESE
investment property portfolios and concluded EEBEAEERE
that the Group’s investment properties in the VEBE  BER
PRC were held under a business model whose REERFBEMNE
objective is to consume substantively all of the BEMERBEBEEE

economic benefits embodied in the investment
property over time, rather than through
sale. Therefore, in measuring the Group’s
deferred taxation on investment properties,
the directors of the Company determined that
the presumption that the carrying amounts of
investment properties measured using the fair
value model recovered entirely through sale
was rebutted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

FESTHHE R AT
BAREZETERE @)

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS 5.
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continuea)

(a) Critical judgements in applying accounting (a) REFBRHIERZEE
policies (Continued) | (42)
() Deferred taxation on investment properties (i) BB Y2 FIE
(Continued) (&
As a result, the Group continues to recognise - REEEE
deferred tax liabilities on change in fair value z ? i 2 ;;? il iﬁ H
of investment properties on the basis that the ﬂji@, i . ol
pesTmen prop . 0 BRI RIRA Y
entire carrying amounts of the properties will be E NN EEH T
recovered through use. EFRITEAE -
(i) Significant influence over associate (il T EEA
FE7
As per note 20 to the consolidated financial WG A &R E
statements, the directors of the Company Miz¥20 - A ARE
considered Fission Uranium Corp. (“Fission”), in BIEHEREF

which the Group has 14.34% (2020: 16.74%)
equity interest, is an associate of the Group as
the Group has significant influence over Fission
by virtue of its contractual right to appoint two
out of seven directors to the board of directors
of Fission.

In addition, the directors of the Company
considered Ortalyk Limited Liability Partnership
(“Ortalyk”), in which the Group has 49% (2020:
Nil) equity interest, is an associate of the Group
as the Group has significant influence over
Ortalyk by virtue of its non-controlling voting
power to the board of directors of Ortalyk.

i

Z fEFission Uranium
Corp. ([Fission] -
N & BB A
14.34% (20204 :
16.74%) ) EF
TANELEREEZTHH
HR R 4 i A Fission
HBEEANTZEN -
WARRIEEZRRD
Fission & 78 & &5
VA

AN - RAFES
RERBEERS
REFEAK ([RR
A (R EE S
49% (20204 : )
HH)ABANERRZ
—BBE AR A
REEBHRBR AT
EEGEAFER
$O T, i H R
NAIEBE AR E
5o

EREEER AR

—T-—FFx% 201 1N
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For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS 5.
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continuea)

FESTHHE R AT
BAREZETERE @)

(b)  Key sources of estimation uncertainty (b) MAEFTHPERZEZEER
R

(i) Impairment of trade and other receivables () JEYIR R A b fE

and amount due from an intermediate holding Wk B R JEN — 2T

company

The impairment provisions for trade and
other receivables and amount due from an
intermediate holding company are based on
assumptions about ECLs. The Group uses
judgement in making these assumptions
and selecting the inputs to the impairment
calculation, bases on the number of days that
an individual receivable is outstanding as well as
the Group’s historical experience and forward-
looking information at the end of the reporting
period. Changes in these assumptions and
estimates could materially affect the result
of the assessment and it may be necessary

FRTER2 FIR
ZBE
& W R R R E A R
W R TR B e e —
R EHE R A R FRR
ZHEERABBE
HEEBENMK
R’ AKERHE
HY R AR 3% 18 7l /& U
RIBBHEFRN A
BEAEENBE
FE 2 K A BE 1B
Kt R HI B
F“&Lmﬂﬁ#
B ARIE - %

to make additional impairment charge to the SR (I B
consolidated statement of profit or loss and B A ALY (R
other comprehensive income. At 31 December RN E A

2021 and 2020, no loss allowance recognised. BENEREA TE 3¢

N owh @ IR I

= REMEEKE
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5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continuea)

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(i)

Impairment of inventories

The management of the Group reviews an
market value at the end of each reporting
period and makes provision for the inventories.
The Group makes provision for write-down of
inventories based on the assessment of the
net realisable value. The net realisable value for
inventories was determined with reference to
the recent market prices of similar items within
the same industry. As at 31 December 2021,
the carrying amount of inventories of the Group
was approximately HK$1,743,152,000 (2020:
HK$1,767,335,000). During the year ended 31
December 2021, no provision for write-down
of inventories was recognised (2020: a reversal
of impairment of inventories of approximately
HK$1,768,000).

5.

FESTHHE R AT
BAREZETERE @)

(b)

R TRBEEZEER
R (&)

(i)

FERE

AEEERERNS
REHMKRENTE
B 3 BE I 1F 5
o REEREM
FTA R FERT
BREELEE -
FEAERFETD
SLERBTERNE
LB BEHmEM
EE o R20214
128318 &A%
EFEMNEREED
51,7438,152,000
BT (20204
1,767,335,0007%
JC ° B E2021F12
HA31HLEFE I
BHEAFTERER
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5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continuea)

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(i)

Fair value of investment properties

At the end of the reporting period, investment
properties are stated at fair value based on
the valuation performed by independent
professional valuer. In determining the fair
value, the valuers have based on a method of
valuation which involves certain estimates of
market conditions.

In relying on the valuation report, the directors
of the Company have exercised their judgement
and are satisfied that the assumptions used in
the valuation have reflected the current market
conditions. Changes to these assumptions
would result in changes in the fair values of the
Group’s investment properties being recognised
in profit or loss. The carrying amount of
investment properties measured at fair value
at 31 December 2021 was approximately
HK$53,082,000 (2020: HK$52,623,000).
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5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continuea)

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(iv)

Impairment loss on investment in a joint venture

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of investment in a
joint venture to determine whether there is any
indication that the investment has suffered an
impairment loss. If any such indication exists,
the recoverable amount of the investment is
estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss, if any. The determination
of recoverable amount of investment in a joint
venture involves estimates as to: (1) future
revenue based on forecasted uranium prices;
(2) actual production volume of uranium
mines held by the joint venture; (3) exchange
rate of Tenge, the currency of the Republic
of Kazakhstan (“Kazakhstan”), against USD;
(4) the discount rate to be applied to such
revenue and costs for the purpose of deriving
a recoverable amount. If the recoverable
amount of the investment is estimated to be
less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the investment is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is
recognised immediately in profit or loss. The
carrying amount of investment in a joint venture
is approximately HK$358,011,000 (2020:
HK$264,956,000) as at 31 December 2021. No
impairment is recognised for current and prior
years.

5.
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FESTHHE R AT
BAREZETERE @)

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS 5.
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continuea)

(b)  Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued) (b) MFFTFTHBAREZEER
R(E)
(v Impairment loss on investments in associates V)  REERFZKRE

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of investments in

ZBIERR

RmERR - A&
EIL N RN

associates to determine whether there is any 2B ZERmEMEN
indication that the investment has suffered an ETEAENRE
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, TZEEERER

the recoverable amount of the investment is
estimated in order to determine the extent of
the impairment loss, if any. The determination
of recoverable amount of investments in
associates involves estimates as to: (1) the
estimated future cash flows expected to arise
and a suitable discount rate in order to calculate
the present value; (2) the resources of uranium;

BEEE - WEET
MBERIBR - Afh
FHRRIE 2 Al i
TRNETERERS
BnE)ZiRE -
BERBZEQRZ
®E 2 A W B2
By RfEEr (1)

(3) expected market price and (4) exchange TEHREEMMERT R
rate of Canadian dollar (“CAD”), the currency KREMENREE

of Canada, and Tenge against USD, for the
purpose of deriving a recoverable amount. If

HIBLIR R LAETE IR
B (2)HmEIR

the recoverable amount of the investment is B)EHMBER K
estimated to be less than its carrying amount, (4)NERE M
the carrying amount of the investment is o (lmmxl) BX
reduced to its recoverable amount. For BETZIEXRASE
the year ended 31 December 2021, a JE R ULE & 58 o i
reversal of impairment loss of approximately HErZRE 2T
HK$32,831,000 (2020: HK$59,423,000) was O & EERNHEKRE
recognised in profit or loss and included in B AZEREZE
share of results of associates. The carrying HEREETKE
amount of investments in associates are TSR HE2021
approximately HK$3,994,894,000 (2020: F12H31HIEHF
an associate of HK$553,570,000) as at 31 B rREZTER
December 2021. BB 1R 2 B E

#1/32,831,000

BIL (20204
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5.

FESTHHE R AT
BAREZETERE @)

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS 5.
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continuea)

(b)  Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued) (b) EETHBAEZEZEER
R(E)
(i) Fair value measurement and valuation Vi) DR EFEREGE
processes EF
Some of the Group’s investment properties are MU BERE D -
measured at fair value for financial reporting rEEZETERE

purposes. The directors of the Company are
responsible to determine the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs for fair value
measurements. Details are set out in note 18.

In estimating the fair value of an asset or a
liability, the Group uses market-observable
data to the extent it is available. Where Level
1 inputs are not available, the Group engages
independent professional qualified valuers
to perform the valuation. The directors of
the Company work closely with the qualified
external valuers to establish the appropriate
valuation techniques and inputs to the model.

hEZIEEAR AR

mEZ 2R ER
E-ARAEFR
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ERBABIE - F
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5.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (Continuea)

(b)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(vii)

Income taxes

As at 31 December 2021, the Group has not
recognised the tax losses of approximately
HK$43,978,000 (2020: HK$30,101,000) due
to the unpredictability of future profit streams.
During the years ended 31 December 2021
and 2020, no tax loss was expired. These
losses relate to subsidiaries that have a history
of tax losses and the Group has not accounted
for the relevant deferred tax. The realisability
of the deferred tax asset mainly depends on
whether sufficient profits or taxable temporary
differences will be available in the future.

The directors of the Company determine the
deferred taxation assets based on the enacted
or substantially enacted tax rates and the best
knowledge of profit projections of the Group
for coming years during which the deferred
taxation assets are expected to be utilised.
The directors of the Company review the
assumptions and profit projections by the end
of the reporting period.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION 6. THEHR

Information reported to the chief executive officer (‘CEQ”), REEARE RS R DI RIFFT

being the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of HEHNRERERNTE BIEEEE

resource allocation and assessment of segment performance REE)MENERSEPRTZN

focuses on types of goods or services delivered or provided. SFTRHME RS RBEE - X2

Operating segments identified by the chief operating decision B RR B BRI o FBELARRK

maker are the same as the reportable segments of the Group. REEE RIS 2 FER ©

Accordingly, the Group’s reportable and operating segments Bt AEER A IRE R E D ES

are as follows: W

a) natural uranium trading segment engages in trading of a) KARME B 2B I8 KA
natural uranium; H5

b) property investment segment engages in leasing; and b) MEREHEIEHEE

c) other investments segment engages in investment in a c) Htig&H = IE &éﬁ/‘
joint venture and two associates. —HE &3 K

NS
No operating segments have been aggregated to form the REBARIGLEE H B S AR
above reportable segments. LI AT 2 FR o
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continuec)

Segment revenue and results

The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results
by reportable and operating segments:

For the year ended 31 December 2021

DEEE #)
DEE R LA

REBIRAIREREEDE25 2
BEBLEENTWT

HZE20215F12831B L EE

Natural

uranium Property Other
trading investment investments Total
RAHE 5 MERE Hftiig & #st
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$’000
TR TET THER TER
Revenue e 3,856,085 3,445 - 3,859,530
Segment profit/(loss) DEBE A, (E1E) 31,101 (1,012) 205,066 235,155
Other operating income E b A 9,479
Finance costs BE AR (18,869)
Central administration costs AR RITEUR AR (29,201)
Profit before taxation B A5 Al ) 196,564

For the year ended 31 December 2020

Natural
uranium
trading

RAHE Z
HK$'000
TAT

HZE2020512 A31HIEFE

Property Other

investment  investments Total

NERE  HRE st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET  TET AR

Revenue = 2,859,214 3,012 - 2,862,226
Segment profit 7 EE T 141,133 828 55,784 197,745
Other operating income gL A 9,496
Finance costs BB R (163)
Central administration costs AR R TIBUR AN (27,122)
Profit before taxation BR 5 AIE A 179,966
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. oHER @
Segment revenue and results (Continued) DEPEEERERE(E
The accounting policies of the operating segments are KE DR SETBUR R IRBEE S
adopted in accordance with HKFRS 8 “Operating Segments”. R R F 8% [ EEBPY ) 2RI
Segment profit/(loss) represents the profit earned by/(loss mEy - DEREF] (BB BE DS
from) each segment without allocation of other operating FrEREUs A,/ (B518) » WARDBELE
income, certain finance costs and central administrative costs. fhaEEW A~ HTREKAR R R
This is the measure reported to the CEO for the purposes of TTBUKAN o e Tt B R D Bl R 3RIR
resource allocation and performance assessment. FEMEERNTERS Z5TE -
Segment assets and liabilities PEHEERERE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s assets and liabilities AT 25 RS E TR & R AL & 53D
by reportable and operating segments: ZEERBENN
Segment assets DEEE
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHxT FiBT
Natural uranium trading KARHE 5 1,845,309 2,121,722
Property investment VISR E 55,496 54,969
Other investments HiE 4,352,906 818,526
6,253,711 2,995,217
Unallocated corporate assets AOBRBIEE 95,864 1,192,570
Total assets BEME 6,349,575 4,187,787

FREBREFRAR —T-—FF% 211 1N



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continuec)

6. DIER =

Segment assets and liabilities (Continued) PEHEEREEE)
Segment liabilities SEFEE

2021 202(0)
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET T
Natural uranium trading KARHE 5 4,131,397 2,112,380
Property investment VIR E 314 1,430
Other investments HhigE - -
4,131,711 2,113,810
Unallocated corporate liabilities AOBERABIBE 62,641 46,917
Total liabilities aEeE 4,194,352 2,160,727

For the purposes of monitoring segment performance and
allocating resources between segments:

o all assets are allocated to operating segments other
than bank balances and cash, income tax recoverable,
deferred tax assets and other assets for corporate use
(including certain property, plant and equipment, right-
of-use assets and other receivables).

o all liabilities are allocated to operating segments other
than amounts due to an intermediate holding company
and fellow subsidiaries, income tax payable, deferred
tax liabilities and other liabilities for corporate use
(including certain other payables and lease liabilities).
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6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)

Other segment information

2021

Amounts included in the measure of
segment profit or loss or segment
assets after charging/(crediting):

Addition to non-current assets (Note &)

Depreciation of property, plant and
equipment

Depreciation of right-of-use assets

Interest expenses on loans from a fellow
Subsidiary

Interest expenses on lease liabilities

Changes in fair value of investment
properties

Share of results of a joint venture

Share of results of associates (Note b)

TEAPBRASTEER
BB/ GHA) ZRE :

REFRPEE (Hia)

FRERERE
RE-RRAZHEAT
ERZMEXH

Txﬁ%%’&fﬂ

ElE-RaRtsxE
FElGBE N A (ih)

Natural
uranium

trading

RRMES
HK$'000
TER

4,101

456

21,821
47

6.

Property
investment
HK$'000
TER

DEEE #)
H Aty 5 & Rt

20214

Other
investments
iR &
HK$'000
TER

(138,311)
(66,755)

Unallocated Total
KA @t
HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER

- 4,101

43 128
1,259 1,715

- 21,821
36 83

- 1,073
= (138,311)
- (66,755)

Amounts regularly provided to
the CEO but not included in the
measure of segment profit or loss
or segment assets:

Income tax expenses

Interest income

ERRERATERREY
FRERDBREDD B
BETBZNA:

RS
MERA

18,066 18,066
(1,654) (1,654)
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 6. 7oHER®
Other segment information (Continued) Hih o BER (E
2020 20204

Natural
uranium Property Other
trading  investment  investments  Unallocated

Regs  MERE AEE ADE T
HK§000  HK$000  HKS000  HK$000  HK'000
ThR ThR ThR ThR Thr

Amounts included in the measure of TE2BBEF I HEER
segment profit or loss or segment ~ SHK /(I A) 2FE
assets after charging/(crediting):

Addition to non-current assets (Note a)  FEJEREERE (Hiita) 524 - - - 504
Depreciation of property, plant and % BEREENE

equipment 44 1 - 18 63
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEERE 436 - - 1423 1,859
Interest expenses on loans from afelow  KE—HRZHEAFER

subsidiary ZFIEX 35,896 - - - 35,896
Interest expenses on lease liabilties HEBEMEXM 58 - - 46 104
Reversal of provision for inventories FERERD (1,768) - - - (1768)
Changes in fair value of investment RENMELEEY

properties - (855) - = (855)
Share of results of a joint venture El—HAEErEEE - - (70,844) - (70,844)
Share of results of an associate (Note b)  FE(G— B L AR £4E

(Fitstn) = = 15,060 - 15,060

Amounts regularly provided to ERRERHTERMREL
the CEO but not included in the TEERIBEERAH
measure of segment profitor loss ~ EETBZFE :

or segment assets:
Income tax expenses R - - = 24,749 24,749
Interest income MBIA - - - (9,106) (,106)
Note a: Non-current assets excluded financial instruments and deferred tax Mitfa: ERHEETAELRITAREE
assets. FIBEE ©

Note b: A reversal of impairment loss of interests in associates of approximately MisEb © OB A N T 2 R 25 R R E B 1E B
HK$32,831,000 (2020: HK$59,423,000) is included in the share of B 4932,831,000% 7T (20204 :
results of associates. 59,423,000/ 7T) B 5| A FE(L B &

NEEER -
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6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6.

Geographical information

The Group’s operations are located in the HKSAR, PRC,
Kazakhstan, Canada and UK.

Information about the Group’s revenue from external
customers is presented based on the location of the
operations. Information about the Group’s non-current assets
is presented based on the geographical location of the assets.

DEEE #)
#3300}

A4 B ) TS0 B BT B
B PE - AEEAE  MEAR
3 -

BRAKEREINEEPHEEER
B RIRIBE SIS 2T o
BRAAKEZERSEENERER
BEEMEMRES] -

Revenue from external

customers Non-current assets
REIMEF RS FERBEE
2021 2020 2021 2020
20214 20204 20214 20204
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$’000
FEx FEx FExT FEx
Europe (other than UK) BRM (ZEEBR SN 746,255 989,836 - -
us 5 1,243,968 678,732 - -
PRC i 614,363 427,925 53,104 52,645
Canada nex 134,700 265,495 551,209 553,570
Kazakhstan IS5 72 HiE - 221,020 8,801,696 264,956
UK g 550,781 205,942 1,800 1,048
HKSAR BARIITHER 57,473 71,803 3,035 629
Mauritius FEEKHET - 1,473 - -
Czech Republic AR 511,990 = = =
3,859,530 2,862,226 4,410,844 873,748
Note:  Non-current assets excluded financial instruments and deferred tax Mizx : FERBEEABEESBMIAREL

assets.

BIRAE °
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continuea) 6. IHER®
Information about major customers BREXEEFZEHR
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years LAT &R B B EFE A AR &
contributing over 10% of the total sales of the Group is as B EAEBBI0%NE S 2 &2
follows: #

2021 2020

20215 20204

HK$’000 HK$’000

FTHET THETT

Customer A' EPH 610,918 424,913

Customer B' BERL! N/AZ 400,445
TEA?

Customer C! BEFEA N/A2 291,715
TiE 2

Customer D! BEFT 556,912 N/A?

i

Customer E' BERER 550,781 N/A?

ANE 2

Customer F! ®Ro 511,990 N/A2

TNE 2

Customer G' EPR 386,392 N/A?

3

! Revenue from natural uranium trading segment 1 KERRIME G DI L 2%E
2 The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total 2 THE L RN KRB BN EBREE
revenue of the Group B EEEE S 10%
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7. REVENUE 7. EXH
Revenue represents amount received and receivable from sale EEBIRFANBRESE - AT
of natural uranium, net of returns, discounts allowed and sales MBS EREMRAH 2 B
related taxes, and rental income (net of direct outgoings: nil) JENRIE - AR WA IKRE
during the year. Revenue recognised during the year are as BRA ) e RAFEERZE
follows: ESSLUNNE
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FHT
Sale of goods HEEMm 3,856,085 2,859,214
Rental income (net of direct AU GOBRE A « £)
outgoings: nil) 3,445 3,012
3,859,530 2,862,226
The revenue from sales of goods were recognised at a point RKAHEERNZSEEREBESEH
in time and under HKFRS 15. FEERE R B 155N — B 2L e
7
8. OTHER OPERATING INCOME 8. HEEWA
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FAT
Interest income R B WA 1,654 9,106
Government grants IEgaRiEuk - 216
Inventory lease income FEREWRA 7,683 =
Others EAth 142 174
9,479 9,496
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9. FINANCE COSTS 9. ®WERK

2021
20214

HK$’000
FH

Interest expenses on loans from a RE—HRRMBRARERZFIE

2020
20204
HK$'000
FAT

fellow subsidiary g 21,821 35,896
Interest expenses on bank RITEFRFEZ T
borrowings 9,100 4,782
Interest expenses on loan from REEBEERARERZFESH
immediate holding company 18,679 107
Interest expenses on lease liabilites ~ FAE&EF B3 H 83 104
49,683 40,889
/=
10. INCOME TAX EXPENSES 10. FRiSBiki

2021
20214

HK$°000
FTExT

2020
20204
HK$’000
T

Hong Kong Profits Tax BENEB

— current year —KFE - 6,977
— under/(over) provision in prior —BEFERETR (%)

years 336 (80)
336 6,897

UK Corporation tax R
— current year —RFE 9,961 14,406
10,297 21,303
Deferred tax RIERIA 7,769 3,446
18,066 24,749
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10.

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2
million of profits of qualifying corporation will be taxed at
8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%.
For the year ended 31 December 2021, the Hong Kong
holding company was in loss-making position and accordingly
did not have any assessable income. For the year ended 31
December 2020, the profits of all Group entities in Hong Kong
are not selected by the management for the two-tiered profits
tax rates regime and continue to be taxed at the flat rate of
16.5%.

Under the Law of the PRC on Enterprise Income Tax (the “EIT
Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the EIT Law, the tax
rate of the PRC subsidiary is 25% for both years.

For the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the PRC
subsidiary was in loss-making position and accordingly did
not have any assessable income.

The subsidiaries operating in the UK are subject to Corporation
Tax Act of UK and the tax rate of the UK subsidiary is 19% for
both years.

Pursuant to the Tax Code (Revised Edition) implemented
since January 2021 in the Kazakhstan (the “New Tax Code
of Kazakhstan”), dividends paid by subsurface users to
foreign shareholders without permanent establishments in
Kazakhstan (the “Foreign Shareholders”) will be exempted
from the Kazakhstani withholding tax if (i) as of the date when
the dividends are paid, such Foreign Shareholder has owned
shares (interest) in the company for more than three years,
and (i) within 12 months prior to the dividend payment date,
subsurface users undertake further processing (after primary
processing) of at least prescribed rate of the total extracted
minerals, by its own production facilities in Kazakhstan or
owned by its affiliated resident entity in Kazakhstan.

10.

REHZE @

RBZHFEHMEHE - 5E%
TENE_ABATREINFG
FiEB8.25% « BB B BB LK
EA TSR ERF16.5% « BE
2021F12A31B L F/E + BFE
& A RIRREEREE - FitWEE
A FERTUA - EZ2020F 128
ALFE AEBEBENME
BB H SR IR R UL R
ZRFETHBERGIERR - W
fEIRR16.5% M B — B REH -

RIEPBEDEERE (XS
FOED REEWIED - PREHEBR
AR MEFE 2 K B25% °

B ZE2021F 2020512 A318 1k
MEFE PR EARBRRER
FREE - I AT FE AR B A o

REE2E 2 B AR ZBRIEHEE
TEMSTUE - BB A RRM
EFE2REGR/19% °

RIEE2021F1 AR ENRER
HriB HABEEEThR A= ([1B R #H
B - HTER N EE R B AR
BRER ([EHMNRER)) B E AR IS
FHHTAH T EREAEARRE -
AFRBERAER - & (BZE
BB - AFEZHZA - RINRERES
B N EIREREANRD ()
FRAIF - R()VERE - AL FZA
ZBRIM12EAR - N ERER
EANEH ARG T DR R E L5
MIEEERETINT FMNI®) -
REERBNTREHEESERM
PWBERANARA - BAAEEE
Bk R BN Ez i T AREAE
ABEEBENEREE -

hERIERAR AR
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10.

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)

The Group has held shareholding in the joint venture for more
than three years and all extracted minerals of the joint venture
are further processed in its own production facilities, the
dividends received by the Group from the joint venture are not
subject to the Kazakhstani withholding tax in accordance with
the provisions of the New Tax Code of Kazakhstan.

Ortalyk has not satisfied the exemption conditions from the
Kazakhstani withholding tax, the dividends received by the
Group from Ortalyk are subject to the Kazakhstani withholding
tax in accordance with the provisions of the New Tax Code of
Kazakhstan.

Pursuant to the EIT Law, the earnings distributed from the
joint venture to the PRC subsidiary is subject to a tax rate that is
the difference between the tax rate under EIT Law and the tax
rate under the New Tax Code of Kazakhstan.

As at the end of the reporting period, the accumulated
unrecognisable taxation for undistributable profits of the joint
venture is HK$40,478,000 (2020: HK$34,327,000).

Pursuant to the laws and regulations of the Cayman Islands,
the Group is not subject to any income tax in the Cayman
Islands for the both years.
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AEERARELENEREB=
FHAZCENEARREE
HEHBAEEEMETRINTRE
B2 Al AEBBBEAEREN
DA B BOERRE - T
BAIG TE e AR TRERFTIS TR

BARIHAMEERASHO#L
iR o Bt - NEEUWE RAR]E
DHZARRG B BOENRE - &
MRS TE R HTE TR IR PG AR ©

RIBEEMAETUE - AT BEIHIH
BRRIZAEGELEMEN - BiZ
BR{IDEPTIS T R AN BT BOER
RZEETHHATBELEMSH -

EELEBEMESH RN
SR A B RET T A R IE
£40,478,0007% 7T (20204 -
34,327,000/ 7T) °

REFSEHE OERIER - A&
BN MESEBAMREAFR SR
EMEH -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

10.

INCOME TAX EXPENSES (Continued)

10.

The income tax expenses for the year can be reconciled to the

profit before taxation per the consolidated statement of profit

or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

REHZE @

FAMMEHFRZ AT 8RS EE&H\
tb 2 T 2 2 2% B 50 AT M)
T

2021
20215 2020F
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx T
Profit before taxation R A A 196,564 179,966
Tax calculated at rates applicable EHEBRE A EERERN R
to profits in the respective tax TR E 2 BiIA
jurisdiction concerned 56,050 37,550
Tax effect of share of results of Eh—MeEERE G E
a jOiﬂt venture (34,578) (1 7,71 1)
Tax effect of share of results of JEMREE R R EE RIS E
associates (12,833) 2,485
Tax effect of expenses not TS H e RIS 2
deductible for tax purpose 4,384 1,116
Tax effect of income not taxable AR A Z Biis 52 &
for tax purpose (11,933) (2,698)
Deferred tax on undistributed —HEERERDEBFIFELER
earnings of a joint venture =) 6,151 3,388
Deferred tax on undistributed B N AR D BB FIEELET I8
earnings of associates 7,073 -
Tax effect of temporary differences ~ REREREZRE 2 KT E
not recognised (35) -
Tax effect of tax losses not RERBER 2 R E
recognised 2,914 589
Under/(over) provision BAFERETR (BREEE)
in prior years 336 (80)
Others Efth (363) 110
Income tax expenses for the year REFRBHZL 18,066 24,749

Details of deferred taxation are set out in note 31.

EIET AR IS BNPTEEST
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11. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 11. KREEREF

2021 2020
20215 20204

HK$°000 HK$'000
TRT TAT

Profit for the year has been arrived at after AFELEFIEMER/GEA) TFI€E

charging/(crediting): BEB:
Auditors’ remuneration %EETE & 2,072 1,835
Carrying amount of inventories sold BREFERAE 3,771,251 2,666,741
Reversal of impairment in respect of FERBRE
inventories - (1,768)
Cost of inventories recognised as an BRABRI R
expense and included in cost of sales SEAEERANFERA 3,771,251 2,664,973
Depreciation of property, plant and ME - BEKEETE
equipment 128 63
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FRAEEENE 1,715 1,859
Short-term lease expenses NEHERR 1,319 981
Staff costs (including directors’ BTN (BEEEHE)
emoluments) 15,561 13,918
Net exchange loss FIE R B 3,266 2,823
12. DIVIDENDS 12. RE
During the year ended 31 December 2021, a final dividend of REZE2021F12A31HILEFE -
HKO.5 cent (2020: HK1 cent) per share in respect of the year B E M &IREEZE20209F12 A 31
ended 31 December 2020 has been declared and paid. BIEFEMNSRARERE0.551L
(2020%F : 178{L) -
Since the Group intends to retain sufficient capital for the ARAEEITERBETTESIESE
business expansion, the Board did not recommend the BERE  WESSTERREEMA
payment of any final dividend for the year 2021 (2020: HK0.5 2021F R HAAR B (20204 : 0.5/
cent per share). il B) -
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13.

14.

EARNINGS PER SHARE 13. BREF
The calculation of basic and diluted earnings per share RARWEB ANERERERRES
attributable to the owners of the Company is based on the BRTETHEEAE -

following data:

2021 2020
20215 2020F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FER TAT
Earnings 2
Earnings for the year attributable to the AR ESREARTIZ
owners of the Company for the purpose of ALOAEE AEEFART
calculating basic earnings per share 178,498 156,217
Number of shares RIPEE
Weighted average number of ordinary BT ESREARN 2
shares for the purpose of calculating basic LB MET I
earnings per share 6,600,682,645 6,600,682,645
The diluted earnings per share is equal to the basic earnings REFE N EL G ENE
per share as there were no dilutive potential ordinary shares EBETER - MEREEREFER
during both years. GRERRF

STAFF COSTS (INCLUDING DIRECTORS’ 14. EIFK (EBEEEHS)
EMOLUMENTS)

2021 2020
20215 20204

HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TAT

Salaries, allowances, other benefits &4 - 284 - E b fEF R IEAL

and bonus 14,885 13,275

Retirement benefit schemes RRE N B
contribution 676 643
15,561 13,918
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14.

STAFF COSTS (INCLUDING DIRECTORS’
EMOLUMENTS) (Continued)

The subsidiaries in Hong Kong operate defined contribution
schemes (the “MPF Scheme”) under the Hong Kong
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance which
are available to qualified employees. The assets of the
schemes are held separately from those of the subsidiaries
in independently administered funds. Monthly contributions
made by the subsidiaries are calculated based on certain
percentages of the applicable payroll costs or fixed sums as
stipulated under the relevant requirements, as appropriate.
The employees are required to contribute 5% of their monthly
salaries or up to a maximum of HK$1,500 and they can
choose to make additional contributions. The employees are
entitled to 100% of the employer’s Mandatory Contributions
upon their retirement at the age of 65, death or total
incapacity.

Pursuant to the regulations of the relevant authorities in
the PRC and UK, the subsidiaries of the Company in those
countries participate in respective government retirement
benefit schemes (the “Schemes”) whereby the subsidiaries are
required to contribute to the Schemes to fund the retirement
benefits of the eligible employees. Contributions made to the
Schemes are calculated based on certain percentages of the
applicable payroll costs as stipulated under the requirements
in the PRC and UK. The relevant authorities of the PRC and
UK are responsible for the entire pension obligations payable
to the retired employees. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the Schemes is to pay the ongoing required
contributions under the Schemes.

The retirement benefit schemes contribution represent gross
contributions by the Group to the Schemes operated by
the relevant authorities of the PRC and UK and the defined
contribution schemes operated in Hong Kong.

The total cost charged to profit or loss of HK$676,000 (2020:
HK$643,000) represents contributions payable to these
schemes by the Group in respect of the current accounting
period.
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BESADFARIZE - WBARZE
AR TR B35 FTETRA L@
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SRR o
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15. DIRECTORS’ AND INDIVIDUALS WITH

HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS

(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the seven
(2020: eight) directors and the chief executive were as
follows:

For the year ended 31 December 2021

&
(a)

15. EERZSHEMA L 2N

EERIRTRAEBME
B SRR 4% (20204 ¢

NB)EERTETHAE
ZEI&T

BZE2021F12H831B L F

E
Other emoluments
Hitie
Retirement
Salaries, benefit
allowances and schemes
other benefits  contribution
Fees g6 28 RHER Total
e KB EIE i H)
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000
TAL S TAL TATL
Emoluments paid or receivable BEHAWARARA
in respect of director’s other WERREE 55
services in connection with the BEHbREDE
management of the affairs of TR e
the Company and its subsidiary
undertakings
Executive directors: HiTEE
An Junjing' ZER' - 950 - 950
Chen Deshao* BrizAe - 864 - 864
Emoluments paid or receivablein ~ —BATFHEFES (B
respect of aperson’s senvices asa AARAHEMEAF
director, whether of the Company ¥ 7EZ) ZREEE
or its subsidiary undertakings SOET L
Non-executive directors: FHTEE
Yu Zhiping?¢ Ao - - = =
Sun Xu? #ie’ - - - -
Yin Xiong? Big’ - = = =
Independent non-executive BUHHTEE -
dlrectors:
Qiu Xianhong b 120 - - 120
Lee Kwok Tung Louis il 120 - - 120
Gao Pei Ji AR 120 - - 120
360 1,814 - 2,174
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15. DIRECTORS’ AND INDIVIDUALS WITH 15. EERZSHEMA L 2N
HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS (continued) AL ),
(a) Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments (a) BEERTETHRAEMS
(Continued) (&)
For the year ended 31 December 2020 HZE2020F12A31B ILF
g

Other emoluments
Hinfe
Retirement
Salaries, benefit
allowances and schemes

other benefits contribution
e 2 NN
REMER] :
HK$'000

S
/BT

Emoluments paid or receivable EEREBALARANE

in respect of director's other NAEBEBER LR
services in connection with the R E L MR
management of the affairs of e
the Company and its subsidiary
undertakings
Executive directors: 7%
An Junjing’ ZEI - 950 - 950
Chen Deshao BRIz AR - 864 - 864

Emoluments paid o receivable n -~ —BALHETEE (&R
respect of aperson's sevices asa AARRHENBLARE
director, whether of the Company B2 E%) ZRECES

or its subsidiary undertakings Nl e
Non-executive directors: FHTEE:
Yu Zhiping?® REF - - - -
Sun Xu2 B - - - -
Yin Xiong? B - - - -
Independent non-executive BUFHTEE
directors:
Qiu Xianhong s 120 - - 120
Lee Kwok Tung Louis Bl 120 - - 120
Gao Pel Ji RIEE 120 - - 120

360 1,814 = 2,174
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15. DIRECTORS’ AND INDIVIDUALS WITH
HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a)

Directors’ and chief executive’s emoluments
(Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2020 (Continued)

! Mr. An Junjing is also the CEO of the Company and his
emoluments disclosed above included those for services
rendered by him as the CEO.

2 During the year end 31 December 2021, no emoluments
were paid or payable to such directors of the Company by
the Group (2020: HK$ nil).

8 Mr. Yu Zhiping resigned as director on 27 September 2021.

4 Mr. Chen Deshao resigned as director on 14 March 2022.

There was no arrangement under which a director
or the chief executive waived or agreed to waive any
remuneration during the years ended 31 December
2021 and 2020.

The directors of the Company did not receive any
emoluments from the Group as an inducement to join
or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss
of office during the years ended 31 December 2021
and 2020.

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020,
retirement benefit schemes contribution for directors is
borne by CGNPC, the ultimate parent of the Company,
and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the
“CGNPC Group”). No apportionment has been made
as the directors of the Company consider that it is
impracticable to apportion this amount between their
services to the Group and their services to CGNPC
Group.

15. EERZSHEMA L 2N

AL ),
(a)

EERFETHRASEME
(&)

HZE2020F12A31B ILF
E#)

U REBEETNRARREREHR
T8 RERBENHS R
HETERBERATE NBB
BBHE o

2 HZE2021F12A31HIEF
B AEBREEENHES
BB E EH M (20204 -
THIT) °

s RETFHEAER2021F9H27H
BHIEE -

¢ BRIEBRSEER202293 A 14H
BHIES

REZE20214 K20204F 12
AS1HILEFERN « WEF
MEEFEDWEXRBNE
R ZHE o

REE20214F K% 2020F 12
AB1BLFER - AATA
EFZARWRE FEAAREM
BB Bl 7E N BR 7R &= B R ol 4
B REBALAREN -

REE20214 2020912
AS1HILLFE  EFRHIK
BAFT SR T B AR R]
CERETAETEZESR
AR REKBEA R (G
BREE])EE - ARARA
REERARERNAER
KR % S R AR 75
DEZEEWAAIT
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15. DIRECTORS’ AND INDIVIDUALS WITH 15. EERBEEHMA L 2B
HIGHEST EMOLUMENTS (Continued) AL ),
(b)  Individuals with highest emoluments b) EBEFMAL

Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments
in the Group, one (2020: one) were directors and the
CEO of the Company whose emoluments are included
in the disclosures in note 15(a) above. The emoluments
of the remaining four (2020: four) individuals were as
follows:

RAEEREZE=HMA
T —& (20205 —
Z)RARNBEENLEFE
1B - HEFMEE L
FE15(@) R EH B - & T
Py (20204 : %) At
BB AT -

2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FAT
Salaries, allowances and other e R R EAER
benefits 5,413 4,345
Discretionary bonus BIETEAL 1,032 1,130
Retirement benefit schemes RN ET B
contribution 292 187
6,737 5,662
The emoluments were within the following bands: HEMEEATEER
2021 2020
20214 2020
Number of Number of
Individuals Individuals
AE AH
Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 £ %1,000,000/% 7T 1 1
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 721,500,000
BT 2 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001/ 7T 22,000,000
BT - 1
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,000,001 7523,000,000
BT - -
HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 3,000,001 523,500,000
BT 1 -
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

16. ¥ - - BMEKRE

Furniture,
fixtures
Leasehold and office
improvements equipment
Buildings HE B %E Total
BT NEEE KB ARE #ct
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 LE
TAL THT TAL TAL
COST XA
At 1 January 2020 12020%1 A1H 238 577 5,031 5,846
Additions AE - - 524 524
Exchange realignment EHAE = - 2 @)
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 F22020F12 4318 220214
1A1H 238 577 5,553 6,368
Additions RE - - 393 393
At 31 December 2021 202112 A31H 238 577 5,946 6,761
ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND ZHMERAME
IMPAIRMENT
At 1 January 2020 202051416 238 577 4,871 5,686
Provided for the year TEERE - - 63 63
Exchange realignment R - - () ()
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 72020F 124318 20215
1A1H 238 577 4,931 5,746
Provided for the year FEERE - - 128 128
At 31 December 2021 M2021%12A31H 238 577 5,059 5,874
CARRYING VALUES REE
At 31 December 2021 72021F12A31H - - 887 887
At 31 December 2020 120205124318 - - 622 622
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17. RIGHT OF USE ASSETS AND LEASE
LIABILITIES

(a) Right-of-use assets

17. EREEEREERR

(a)

EREEE

2021 2020
20215 20204

HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TAET

Properties L7ES

3,970 1,977

The Group has lease arrangements for offices. The
lease terms are generally ranged from two to five years.

Additions to the right-of-use assets for the year ended
31 December 2021 amounted to approximately
HK$3,708,000 due to new leases of offices.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
did not enter into any lease agreement.

(b) Lease liabilities

(b)

AEEGRMAETRAEE
ZhE e HEMRBENT
MERF -

HZE2021F12A31H L4
EHEFARAESEAE
& EIZINZ3,708,000%
7T|: °
HZE2020F12A31H1EF
B AEBEWER] AW
HEWZE -

HEAE

2021 2020
20215 20204

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET T

Current Mk 1,445 704
Non-current IERB 2,417 1,162
3,862 1,866
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17. RIGHT OF USE ASSETS AND LEASE 17. EAEEERHEESRE
LIABILITIES (continued) (&)
(b) Lease liabilities (Continued) by HEAEHE
2021 2020
20214 20204
Amounts payable under lease HK$’000 HK$'000
liabilities REHEABERGNESE TERT FHET
Within one year —F A 1,445 704
After one year but within two years —FRERMENRN 1,726 442
After two years but within five years ~ MERERER 691 720
3,862 1,866
Less: Amount due for settlement BNt ZEAREEEE
within 12 months lea¥:c] (1,445) (704)
Amount due for settlement after N TZER B HEERN
12 months G| 2,417 1,162
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the HZE2021F12A31H1EF
Group entered into a new lease agreement in respect B AEERIVEBRAE
of renting office and recognised lease liability of HFTEE HE L EREER
approximately HK$3,708,000. &#93,708,000/%8 7T °
During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group #HE2020F12H31B1EF
did not enter into any lease agreement. B AEBEWER AW

()

(d)

HE W -

Amounts recognised in profit or loss (c) REZTEINESEE

2021 2020
20215 2020%F

HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TAET

Depreciation expense on right-of-use {# BEEENITE L

assets 1,715 1,859
Interest expense on lease liabilites ~ fAE & &HFI B H 83 104
Expense relating to short-term leases & EIFAE X 1,319 981

Others (d) EHfb
During the year ended 31 December 2021, the total BE2021F12A31BILF

E-HAENBELRLEE
#9/43,114,0007% 7t (2020
£F 1 2,943,000/7T) ©

cash outflow for leases amount to approximately
HK$3,114,000 (2020: HK$2,943,000).
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18. ®REWH

18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

HK$’000
THERx
FAIR VALUE AV

At 1 January 2020 1202051 A1 48,595
Net increase in fair value recognised in profit or loss ERMBRER 2 AR BEFE N 855
Exchange realignment i 5 3,173

At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 2020512 A31H K%20214F
1A1H 52,623
Net decrease in fair value recognised in profit or loss ERERBRAZANEFHD (1,073)
Exchange realignment M N R 1,532
At 31 December 2021 R2021412 4318 53,082

The carrying value of investment properties shown above are
situated in the PRC and held under medium-term lease.

All of the Group’s property interests to earn rentals or for
capital appreciation purposes are measured using the
fair value model and are classified and accounted for as
investment properties.

The fair value of the Group’s investment properties held by
Beijing Sino-Kazakh as at 31 December 2021 and 2020
have been arrived at on the basis of a valuation carried out
on that date by an independent qualified professional valuer
not connected with the Group, Avista Valuation Advisory
Limited, who has among its staff members of the Hong Kong
Institute of Surveyors with recent experience in the location
and category of property being valued. The valuation was
arrived at on an open market value basis by using the income
approach of capitalising the net rental income receivable from
the existing tenancies and the reversionary income potentials.
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18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 18. REWR @)
There has been no change from the valuation technique used HERNR E—FEMERAELE
in the prior year. In estimating the fair value of the properties, W - BETEMELARBEMS
the highest and best use of the properties is their current use. MEZEBIFERAERABR 2
FR{& -

The Group’s investment properties that are measured REEZILEMENN T HERIE 2
subsequent to initial recognition at fair value are A F1E53,082,00078 7T (20204 :
HK$53,082,000 (2020: HK$52,623,000). They are grouped 52,623,000/ 70) 5T & + IIRAR
into fair value hierarchy Level 3 based on the degree to which BASENIEEDEAAREF =
the inputs fair value measurements is observable. & o

There were no transfers between levels in fair value hierarchy HZE2021F &2020F12A31H 1E
for the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020. FE - WEARNEFRHE ZHD

FhER -
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18. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued) 18. REW=X =

Information about Level 3 fair value measurements of BERAREYDEE=FRARENEZ

investment properties: BHt
Valuation Significant
technique Key input unobservable inputs
flE R FEBAE TABRZERER

All investment Income approach Income approach takes into account Term yield and reversion

properties net rental income of the properties yield are at 6%

derived from the existing leases and/ (2020:6%)
or achievable in the existing market
with due allowance for the reversionary

income potential of the leases,
which have been then capitalised
to determine the market value at an
appropriate capitalisation rate.

FBIRENE W AE WASET T R B EAREBHRE BRfEI S R R 1B B aR
"R/ ﬁ&fﬁﬂvm%tﬂﬂzﬂxﬁﬂﬁuﬁz & H6% (20204F : 6%)
ANFEE - B AEAE 2 ERRAE
HEEEHE  BRABHEETIUER
{EAERE—EEERM L REENE °

The fair value measurement of the investment properties RAWAEEBEEZREMERRE
determined by using income approach is negatively correlated FrEEAR KGR RERREE
to the term yield and reversion vield. A slight increase in term Z8E# - BEREERERRE
yield and reversion yield used would result in a significant KRS RS EEMEANRBETE
decrease in fair value measurement of the properties, and vice BERY  RZIA -

versa.

The net decrease in fair value of approximately HK$1,073,000 HZE2021F12A31HILFE -
(Net increase in fair value of approximately 2020: HK$855,000) NAERLFEELN1,073,000%
was recognised in profit or loss for the year ended 31 JC(2020F A A BB INFREA ¢
December 2021. 855,000/ 70) RIB R °

Il 234 CGN Mining Company Limited Annual Report 2021



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

19. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE 19. R—EEaghEIER
2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FET
Cost of unlisted interest in a joint R—EELTAEERE L ER
venture ZRKAN 793,730 793,730

Share of post-acquisition results and  JE(LUREE1E 48 M E A2 E MY
other comprehensive expenses, net (1 2 U 2)

of dividends received (435,719) (528,774)
358,011 264,956
Details of the joint venture as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 B EDEN2021F K2020%F12 A
are as follows: 3THMFFIEAT
Place of
incorporations Percentage of
establishment and ownership held
operation Class of by the Group
Name of entity Form of entity  EEMAL /R 3L shares held AEBfE Principal activities
ERAR 1 517 REKHE iR &5 FEREEMN FEEKED
Semizbay-U Limited liabilty ~ Kazakhstan Ordinary shares ~ 49% Extraction, preliminary
partnership processing and sale
of uranium oxide on

Semizbay and Irkol

fields
EiNT BREASY  WEREE LiEk 49% BRI M5 MIREE
Semizbay KIrkol 212}
E=rld:
Summarised financial information of material joint BEAEGECENKENBRE
ventures
The summarised financial information in respect of the joint HAEEBEAFTEZ AEDE
venture that is material to the Group and is accounted for using (A EARR) IS E R 28
equity method set out below: HEAR
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19. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (Continued) 19. R—EEaEtXE o En

(&)
Summarised financial information of material joint EAEELENKERME &)
ventures (Continueq)
Semizbay-U FoNa]
2021 2072(0)
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET T
Current assets MEVEE 537,304 258,805
Non-current assets EMBNEE 369,412 376,456
Current liabilities REEE 126,599 49,037
Non-current liabilities JEmBAE 78,792 76,485
The above amounts of assets and rthEEREELEBE
liabilities include the following: T
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBEEEEE 234,494 54,110
Current financial liabilities (excluding RB)E B & & (TR IEE IR
trade and other payables and T2 EoAth e 5RIR R )
provisions) - _
Non-current financial liabilities ERBEHEE
(excluding trade and other (IR BRI R E A FE A
payables and provisions) BB - =
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET T
Revenue T 743,938 486,315
Profit for the year IR g A 283,700 144,579
Other comprehensive expenses RNEEHEMEEFX
for the year (19,865) (52,043)
Total comprehensive income AEEZHE W SBEE
for the year 263,835 92,536
Note:  Dividend of approximately HK$36,051,000 from joint venture has MizE: REZE2021F12A31BILFE -
been received during the year ended 31 December 2021 (2020: BEUER B & 1 3 4786,051,000
HK$16,734,000). 77T (20204 : 16,734,00087T) 2
B2 °
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19. INTEREST IN A JOINT VENTURE (Continued) 19. R—EEaEtXE o En

(&)
Summarised financial information of material joint EAAECENBERBE (£)
ventures (Continueq)
Semizbay-U (Continued) HaE] ()
The above profit for the year include the following: AR FE R BETY
2021 2022(0)
20214 20204
HK$’°000 HK$'000
FExT FAEIT
Depreciation and amortisation HTE Mg 87,942 59,263
Interest income FEMA 919 1,406
Interest expense FEZH 1,639 2,009
Income tax expense FriSfisz i 72,342 40,125
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information LR EE DR 2R E BT
to the carrying amount of the interest in the joint venture is set SHEMENEEROT
out as below:

2021 2020
20215 20204
HK$’000 HK$’000
FEx FAT
Net assets of Semizbay-U HAREEFE 730,634 540,727
Proportion of the Group’s ownership  ANEER A 8]
interest in Semizbay-U Ktz b 171 49% 49%
Carrying amount of the Group’s AEERH AT
interest in Semizbay-U B 2 B BR TED (B 358,011 264,956
No capital commitment and contingent liabilities incurred AEER—HEEPENERITE
related to the Group’s interest in a joint venture. BAEBNIABE -
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20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES 20. REtENTZER
Listed associate (Notes a, b, c) g AT (fizta~ b~ c)
2021 2(02(0)
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FH&T THETT
Cost of interest in a listed associate M —_F HEE & A B 2 AN 453,924 453,924
Accumulated impairment REHRE (98,506) (131,337)
Share of post-acquisition profit FEAG Ui 18 i A1) 2
and other comprehensive H i 2 ERES
income (Note a) (Fff5Ea) 178,203 218,426
Share of other reserve JE(L E b 17,588 12,557
551,209 553,570
2021 2072(0)
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$’000
THET T
Market value of the interest in a R EmEE AT
listed associate 2 A 461,863 229,268
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20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 20. REtENTI 2R &
Unlisted associate (Note d) Ik L A a (MEEd)
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FH&T FiBT
Cost of interest in R—RJE LT E A RS
an unlisted associate KR 3,374,012 -
Share of post-acquisition profit R E &R R EMEE
and other comprehensive Wezs (Hfska)
income (Note a) 57,118 -
Undistributed profits on the PR B BB R 2 R 5 A
acquisition date deferred RIEPIETE
income tax 12,555 -
3,443,685 -
Details of the recoverable amount as at 31 December 2021 20214 K 2020F 12 A31 BHA]
and 2020 are as follows: WEl BB

2021 2020
20215 20204

HK$’000 HK$’000
FTaxT TAET

Recoverable amount Al El & RE 551,209 553,570
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20.

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

20.

Details of the associates as at 31 December 2021 and 2020

are as follows:

Name of entity

EREH

Form of entity

BREL

Place of
incorporations
establishment
and operation
AL
RERH

Class of
shares held

Fr IR 40 28 R

REtE N T 2R )

R20214 2020512 A31H » #%
R l/NE] = (T

Percentage of
ownership held
by the Group
(Note b)

FEEfE
2L =Rl
(Kttb)

Principal activities

ITREWE

Fission Corporation Canada Common shares  14.34% Acquisition and
(Note ¢) development of
(31 December exploration and
2020: 16.74%) evaluation assets
Fission % JIEYN BBk 14.34% (M itc) WERFAEHRR
(2020F12A31 HEEE
B : 16.74%)
Ortalyk (Note d) Limited liability ~ Kazakhstan Ordinary shares ~ 49% Extraction, preliminary
partnership processing and sale
of uranium products
and resources on
Central Mynkuduk
field and Zhalpak field
EINGICET) BEREARY WERIA g 49% RE - D MIREE
Central Mynkuduk &
Zhalpak[& g /s E
m
Notea:  As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the management of the Mizka : 20214 k2020512 H318 -
Group reviewed the interest in Fission for impairment assessment REBEIE B L FissionZ S
and determined the recoverable amount based on a value-in-use BE WREBTABREET
calculation using a 20-year (2020: 20 years) cash flow projection BT TS A ST R A IR A BT
with reference to a valuation performed by an independent qualified O ‘@HV &;ﬁ 204 (20204
professional valuers, Asia-Pacific Consulting and Appraisal Limited. T RPNy s
The key inputs are the uranium prices and the resources of uranium. 20%) Eﬁ’““i*“JZ@E E@E*’E:
FEEEHRAKRE S - T 26
ABIERINE RIEIR
During the year, as a result of recovery of uranium price, a reversal FR - ARHBELOT - KA REE
of impairment loss of approximately HK$32,831,000 (2020: R (E 5 18 3 4932,831,0005%
HK$59,423,000) was recognised and included in the share of results 7T (20204 : 59,423,000557T)
of associates for the current year. " éJr)\EAZJSﬁg'FEm'Hﬂ ]
’%E ' F =
The carrying amounts of Fission as at 31 December 2021 and 2020 " 2021 % 2020 4 12 A 31
represent the recoverable amount and the recoverable amount is its HFissionfREEE A R <
value in use. B aEEBEARGEHEE -
Note b:  The Group is able to exercise significant influence over Fission Bisth : A @AY Fission M E A &

because it has the power to appoint two (2020: two) out of eight
directors of Fission under the terms stated in the subscription
agreement entered into by the Company and Fission on 11 January
2016.
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20.

20. REEE DT 2R ®

INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Note c:  During the year, Fission entered into agreements with certain
underwriters on 11 May 2021 pursuant to which the underwriters
have agreed to purchase, on a bought deal basis, approximately

57,500,000 ordinary shares in aggregate.

Fission also engaged into a credit agreement with a company
(“Lender”) for the purpose of funding the development of the
Patterson Lake South uranium project and general working capital. In
connection with the facility, Fission issued approximately 39,370,000
ordinary shares upon exercise of purchase warrants and interest
payment to the Lender in accordance with the terms and conditions

of the credit facility agreement.

In addition, Fission issued 118,000 (2020: 244,000) ordinary
shares upon exercise of share options granted to the directors and
employees of Fission under the share option schemes of Fission.

As a result, the Group’s interest in Fission reduced in aggregate
by 2.4% (2020: 3.14%) from 16.74% as at 31 December 2020
t0 14.34% as at 31 December 2021. The effect on the deemed
disposal of partial interest in Fission is approximately HK$32,156,000
(2020: HK$64,439,000) which included in share of result of an

associate for the current year.

Note d:  Ortalyk was acquired by the Company on 30 July 2021. Details of

the acquisition are set out in note 41.

The market value of the Group’s interest in Fission disclosed
above is based on the quoted market price available on the
Toronto Stock Exchange under the symbol “FCU”, which is

level 1 input in terms of HKFRS 13.

Miskc :  HAFE - Fissionih20214F5 A
MHEETEHEEI L HE &
It BEEEREERE2EBHEE
HERE B A ££4957,500,0004% % 8
% o

Fission7rEe— A F (B AD)
AY—MhEERE  ARRE®
Patterson Lake South$#iZE H &
—MEEESETRE - BAE
& * FissionE AT RIBHEE
B E41T439,370,000% & i A% -
WARIR 2 B 7 & 1 0 IR R A&
HHERAZMAFE -

LSRN + FissionE MR Fission B A%
T EIR FFissionEERESH
BB AR MM 1T 58 1 2 %617118,000
J5 3 38 1% (20204 : 244,0000%) °

B - ANEE B A FissionHy R B
2020512 531 H#I16.74%H,
ZE2021F12A31HE14.34%
AHEBML2.4% (20204F
3.14%) o BRAEH E R FissionZp 5
T2 4)/532,156,000 7T
(20204 : 64,439,000 7T) * B
PAFE R A NG — R E AR

fisEd :  BARKR20214F7 A0 AR
AU o W R IB R I R4 ©

IR ER e AN E R FissionfE 21 Y
MEDNREZREZEFI TR
SRIFCUlFTER . H{E (RISt BB
BmEERIE1RM = M E— R
ASIE) METE -
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20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Summarised financial information of material associates

The summarised financial information in respect of the
associates that are material to the Group and are accounted
for using equity method set out below:

@) Fission

20.

REtE N T 2R e
BEABS AT S ENEE

HAKEEEAREZBENT
(AEDAEAR) P E R EH
FIEATE -

@) Fission

2021 2020

20215 20204

HK$’000 HK$’'000

FEx FHET

Current assets MENEE 333,583 183,531
Non-current assets IERBEE 2,109,877 1,953,549
Current liabilities mENaE 10,079 4,996
Non-current liabilities JEmB AL 64,130 59,920

2021 2020
20215 20204

HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TAET

Revenue EERE

Loss and other comprehensive AEFEGE

expenses for the year Hthz2mZH (42,180) (52,100)
Other reserve for the year RFEEHA A 31,716 26,449
(10,464) (25,651)
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20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Summarised financial information of material associates

20. REE DT 2Em e
EAMENAZHRERE (@)

(Continued)
@) Fission (Continued) Fission (#&)
The above loss for the year includes the following: tAXFEBEEBRET
3l :
2021 2022(0)
20214 20204
HK$’°000 HK$'000
FExT FET
Depreciation and amortisation Yree o 693 1,032
Interest income LB U A 1,981 695
Interest expense FEX N 41 66
Income tax expense FriSHisz i - -

Reconciliation of the above summarised financial
information to the carrying amount of the interest in

Fission is set out as below:

Pt RABE R R 2 R
HERMEZHEEENS
BRU0R -

2021 2{0200]

20214 20204

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET FHIT

Net assets of Fission Fission BV & &) F 1B 2,369,251 2,072,164
Proportion of the Group’s RE E A Fission BIAE RS L 71

ownership interest in Fission 14.34% 16.74%

Carrying amount of the Group’s A5 B 7 Fission A2
interest in Fission Z BREE 551,209 553,570
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20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (continued) 20. REtENTI 2R &
Summarised financial information of material associates BEABERARZHHEERME (&)
(Continued)

(b) Ortalyk (b) B A]

2021
20214
HK$’000
T
Current assets MENEE 959,913
Non-current assets ERBEE 519,062
Current liabilities mEBBEE 152,177
Non-current liabilities ERBAG 63,458
2021
20214
HK$’000
FHT
Revenue Iz 595,016

Profit and other comprehensive expenses Ei A% | &2 Eoth 2 E B %
for the period 288,182
Other reserve for the period BN HE b 172,116
460,298

The above profit for the period includes the following: FREIRRE N EE T -

2021
20214
HK$’000
FHT
Depreciation and amortisation e R#iE 38,892
Interest income FEWA 1,350
Interest expense B H -
Income tax expense PSRz 78,562
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20. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 20. REERNTR 2R E
Summarised financial information of material associates ERBE QAT M BERMEE (&)
(Continued)

(b)  Oralyk b))  BRE]
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial 19NN v b
information to the carrying amount of the interest in AR EZEREENYR
Ortalyk is set out as below: O
2021
20214
HK$’000
FTHEx
Net assets of Ortalyk BAREEFE 1,263,340
Proportion of the Group’s ownership REERB A BB
interest in Ortalyk 49%
Carrying amount of the Group’s interest in AREEERE A RIS EEE
Ortalyk 3,443,685
No capital commitment and contingent liabilities REBPEZE QR MR EE AR
incurred related to the Group’s interests in associates. EHERIAREE -
21. INVENTORIES 21. F&
2021 2072(0)
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$’000
FTHET FAT
Uranium i 1,743,152 1,767,335
During the year ended 31 December 2021, there was no REZE2021F12A31BILFE
reversal of impairment of inventories (2020: reversal of BEmERT R ERE (2020 :
impairment of inventories of approximately HK$1,768,000) FERERE#E B 491,768,0007%
was recognised and included in the “cost of sales” line item in T EFAGEBERNIHERK
the consolidated statement of profit or loss. The net realisable AIEE - FTEMNAERFERE
value of the inventories have been determined with reference HBRTEABCIEE RTmEE
to the recent market prices of similar items within the same BEETE °
industry.
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22. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES 22, FEUWRRFR H B RIE
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$’000
THExT FATT
Trade receivables (Note a) FEUER K (B 5Ea) 92,160 351,810
Prepayments, deposits and other TERRUE - e RHEAM
receivables (Note b) JE WoaE (Fff 5 o) 7,597 11,366
Total trade and other receivables FEUMER S B FE W IR 4B R 99,757 363,176
Analysed into DT B
Current portion mENEL D 99,390 363,176
Non-current portion FEMENEL 367 -
99,757 363,176
The Group did not hold any collateral over these balances. At INEE BN M SR L S A AT B (A
31 December 2021 and 2020, there was no loss allowance G o 20214 & 20205%12 A 31
provided. H @ NEEWRGTRERRER -
Note a: Trade receivables of HK$91,940,000 (2020: HK$64,821,000) Mizta:  FEULBER91,940,000/% 7T (2020
represents amount due from immediate holding company, China F : 64,821,000/ 70) A FEU E
Uranium Development. PR A AR B ZE R A FUE o
Note b: Included in prepayments, deposits and other receivables, Misro : T EIE - ke RHMEKRE
approximately HK$1,000 (2020: HK$805,000) and Nil (2020: BIERE AR FREH B AR T
HK$69,000) are interest receivables due from CGNPC Huasheng and EER LT EZVEERET
CGN Finance Co., Ltd (“CGN Finance”) respectively, fellow subsidiaries AT ([ EZE#5]) 5 BI491,000
of the Company. 78 7T (20204 : 805,000/ 7T) &
Z (20204 : 69,0007 7T) HYFE U
FIR o
The Group normally grants to its trade customer credit periods RNEBEBRBERAAMODIBIFTEHE
for natural uranium segment ranging from 15 days to 120 SEFEXNMNBEEAANF158E
days after delivery dates. 120BMEEH] -
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22,

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

The following is an ageing analysis of the trade receivables
presented based on the invoice date, which approximates

the respective revenue recognition dates, at the end of the
reporting period.

LT B o0 I Lt P U SR IR
(%)

REImEHR - AER B L XRRMER
HEEENERAMAESE - B
FRFRE AT T ©

2021 2020

20214 20204

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET T

Within 30 days 308 A 92,160 344,430
31 to 60 days 31£260H - -
61 to 90 days 61ZE90H = -
91 to 120 days 91E120H = 7,380
92,160 351,810

The Group measures the loss allowance for trade receivables
at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses (“ECL”).
The ECL on trade receivables are estimated using an
individual basis by reference to past default experience and
creditworthiness of the debtor and an analysis of the debtor’s
current financial position, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the debtors, general economic conditions of the industry
in which the debtors operate and an assessment of both the
current as well as the forecast direction of conditions at the
reporting date.

For other receivables, the Group measures the loss allowance
equal to 12-month ECL, unless when there is a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the Group
recognises lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime
ECL should be recognised is based on significant increase
in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

There has been no change in the estimation techniques or
significant assumptions made during the current reporting
period.

AEETENRIERIERBEES
REMEREREER - BERHZ
BHEEERDE2ZERABE
BRI MBI R ER AR
BRSO DA 18 B A (B Bl B
it WERLEB AR ERE - &5
ANEBRRITRMBEBEBEERNA
KRS B BIR R AIRRIAR R 75 @)
HRHE TIARE -

MEMEBYRIEMNS - AREFE
1218 A EMEERIRSRNER
Bl BIHERRR B BIRHER A
REEIEN - AAKESER SN
BEHEEER - HHEERER
HRHEERE - NEXRE B XHE
RELREZONA TS ERES
BREIRIN -

RE RS ARAEHERTXRE
RERRIL EALAELE o
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22,

23.

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
(Continued)

The Group’s trade and other receivables that are denominated
in currencies other than the functional currencies of the
relevant group entities are set out below:

Presented in: 2021
V-5 20214
HK$’000
THT

Trade and other receivables  FEURBRFN K E At
FENRIA 100

22.

HK$’000

LT B o0 I Lt P U SR IR
(%)

AEBE AR R E BRI T A
Shz R FHE 2 FEMR T & Ho At FE
WRIEI T -

2020
20204

2021
20214
RMB’000
ARMT T

2020
20204F
RMB’000

THT ARET T

604 2,983 3,041

AMOUNT DUE FROM/(TO) AN
INTERMEDIATE HOLDING COMPANY

The amount due from an intermediate holding company
represents the rental receivable from CGNPC-URC of which
the maximum outstanding amount during the year ended
31 December 2021 is approximately HK$2,392,000 (2020:
HK$3,875,000).

The amount due to an intermediate holding company
represents unsettled amount of management service provided
by and the expenses paid by CGNPC-URC on behalf of the
Group.

The amounts are unsecured, interest-free, and repayable on
demand.
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4 : 3,875,000/ 7T) °

JE 5 — el PR A A B R IR B R R
MR R M A S ERREANEIER
BRAXNERBREERR

RIBETEER - TR RBREX

g -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

23.

24,

AMOUNT DUE FROM/(TO) AN
INTERMEDIATE HOLDING COMPANY
(Continued)

The Group’s amount due from/(to) an intermediate holding
company that are denominated in currencies other than the
functional currencies of the relevant group entities are set out
below:

Presented in:
=

Amount due from an intermediate

23.

JE U — i R R AR A B FUE

FEW,” (13) — R R 2 AR

NEFIEE)

AEBEEY (N —HEPEERA
AR RS EER 2 R
PASNZ EMEEHESSIAT

2021
20214
RMB’000
AR¥ET T

2020
20204
RMB’000
ARET T

holding company 1,955 1,955
Amount due to an intermediate FET—RE R I IR A T 5B
holding company 913 735

AMOUNTS DUE FROM/(TO) FELLOW
SUBSIDIARIES

The amounts due from/(to) fellow subsidiaries are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

The Group’s amounts due from/(to) fellow subsidiaries that are
denominated in currencies other than the functional currencies
of the relevant group entities are set out below:

Presented in:
HIRA

24,

Amount due from a fellow subsidiary B —fE R Z M@ A FFUE

P, () IR B2

IR

FEW (1) R Z B B X RIRIE T %
HR - TEHE MBREKEE -

AEBREY, () R RHB R RR
RIS BB 2 Ihat B LASN
ZEBTHEHIIMT

Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries ~ FEfHE ZMIE A FlFIE

2021 2020
20215 20204
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T AREFTT
16 16

1,789 956

hEZIEEAR AR
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25. BANK BALANCES AND CASH 25, RITHEERBEE
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$’000
FHET FET
Bank deposits: HRITIF
Cash at bank and on hand RITHEGF MRS 81,293 1,174,508

Analyse of bank balances and cash at RFRIBITEHET MRS DT
the end of the year:

Cash at bank and on hand (Note a)  B1T&FE MRS (Fiita) 925 50,928
Cash placed at CGNPC Huasheng ~ 1FHUAF ERZEE R K
and CGN Finance (Note b) FEZVBRES (MiEb) 80,368 1,123,580
81,293 1,174,508
Note a:  Cash at bank carries interest at prevailing market rates for both years. Wifta : ROMEFERRITE IR H]

EEHEFIE -

Note b:  The balance is unsecured, interest bearing at 0.48% (2020: 0.21% to Biistb : BZASTF RN - LA F0.48%
2.76%) per annum and recoverable on demand. On 14 June 2019, (2020%F : 0.21%Z2.76%) 5t B
the Company entered into the new Financial Service Framework AT ER ARG - 20196614
Agreements with CGNPC Huasheng and CGN Finance for a terms B - AR EEREZERMNP EZ
of three years commencing from 1 January 2020 and ending on 31 BRI SIS IRASAE 2R 3k - B
December 2022 (the “Agreements”). Under the Agreements, the 20201 A1HRRE20229F 12
directors of the Company consider that these deposits made to 1B AH=% MEAW(Z
CGNPC Huasheng and CGN Finance is qualified as cash equivalent as Sl o RIEZZHH - A0F
the Group can withdraw the deposits by giving any notice and without BERR - AAKEENRERZE
suffering any penalty. FROAZRLIMBARTEES

EMEER)  FERPEREER
hERMIENERE BRIERES
B -
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25. BANK BALANCES AND CASH (continued) 25. RITEFEREAS =
The Group’s bank balances and cash that are denominated in REBEEFASEERBNEEENU
currencies other than the functional currencies of the relevant N EBSTEZIRITEF RSN
group entities are set out below: K
Presented in: 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
FIRA 2021 2020F 2021 2020F 2021% 2020
HK$000 HK$'000  RMB’000 RMB’000 USD’000 USD’000
TET THr AR¥Tr ARETR S FEn
Bank balances and cash ~ SRIT&EFERIR S 22,407 105,482 789 330 38 4,922
26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES 26. EFERIRHAENSRIE

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FEx FAT
Trade payables (Note a) FERTBRRR (Fista) 91,815 147,340
Accrued expenses and other FEET S R E A
payables (Note b) &R RIE (MisEb) 1,011,553 10,949
1,103,368 158,289
Note a:  Trade payables of HK$78,110,000 (2020: HK$54,189,000) and Kiz¥a : FERBRZ78,110,000% 7T
HK$13,414,000 (2020: Nil) represented amount due to a joint venture (20204F : 54,189,000/ 7T) &
of the Company, namely, Semizbay-U and an associate of the 13,414,000 7T (20204 : &) /&
Company, namely Ortalyk. ENAAR—MAEECEH AR
RARR—EEBEQTRARN
FIE ©
Note b: Included in other payables, approximately HK$252,000 (2020: Mizib: HMENZEBESEEMNARQT

HK$1,015,000) is interest payable due to CGNPC Huasheng, a fellow
subsidiary of the Company and approximately HK$984,197,000 is the
cash received in inventory lease.

—HREKB QAR EZXE
B%#9252,0007 7T (20204 -
1,015,000/ 70) W FERFIE - K
B EHER £49984,197,000
FETT
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26. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued) 26.

The following is an ageing analysis of trade payables presented

based on the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

P 1 RR % % Lt PB4 5RO
(4)

RBER  RIBEERRAHZT 2
FEM BRI BRI AT

2021 2020
20215 20204

HK$’000 HK$’000

FET T

Within 30 days 30HRK 91,815 141,078
31-60 days 31E60H - 126
61-90 days 61ZE90H = -
91-120 days 91%F120H = 6,136
91,815 147,340

The average credit period on purchases of goods was ranging
from 15 days to 120 days after delivery date. The Group has
financial risk management policies in place to ensure that all
payables are settled within the credit time frame.
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27. LOANS FROM A FELLOW SUBSIDIARY 27. XE—HERAKNBARZ
B
2021 202(0)
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET FAEIT
Loans repayable on maturity, EBRE -« IR IR F R RN T
unsecured and interest bearing at 3.2% (20204 : 3.2% £ 4.6%)
3.2% (2020: 3.2% to 4.6%) per ATREZEN
annum 236,530 904,289
Analysed into DT
Current portion mEhE s 236,530 370,693
Non-current portion e BNE - 533,596
236,530 904,289
The effective interest rate of the loans from a fellow subsidiary is *E—HRRNEB AR ZERE
3.35% (2020: 3.12%) per annum. B4 F K 53.35% (20204
3.12%) °
The repayment schedule of the above loans based on the RIE—FHRZNE R RIIRTFHHRE
agreed terms of repayment granted by a fellow subsidiary is as BRI - B EREE GBI
follows: g
2021 2072(0)
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$’000
FH T FBTT
On demand or within one year BRERERN—FNR 236,530 370,693
After one year but within two years —FRLAREBEDRMF - 533,596
236,530 904,289
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28. LOAN FROM IMMEDIATE HOLDING 28. REEEERATGIZER

COMPANY

2021 2020
20214 20204

HK$’000 HK$'000
Fi#5 FHT

Loan repayable on maturity,
unsecured and interest
LIBOR+1.5% (2020: Nil)

EEEH - EIEHR MIZUBOR+1.5%
(2020%F : B)FTEBZEN

per annum 2,400,197 -
Analysed into DT B
Current portion mENER 2,400,197 -

The effective interest rate of the loan from immediate holding
company is 1.65% (2020: Nil) per annum.

As disclosed in note 2, the Group has adopted Interest Rate
Benchmark Reform — IBOR ‘phase 2’ (Amendments to HKFRS
9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16). Applying
the practical expedient introduced by the amendments, when
the benchmarks affecting the Group’s loans are replaced, the
adjustments to the contractual cash flows will be reflected
as an adjustment to the effective interest rate. Therefore, the
replacement of the loans’ benchmark interest rate will not
result in an immediate gain or loss recorded in profit or loss,
which may have been required if the practical expedient was
not available or adopted.
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28. LOAN FROM IMMEDIATE HOLDING 28. REEEEZERARZER
COMPANY (Continued) (&)
As at 31 December 2021, the Group does not expect there is M2021412A31H » NEEIBET
modification of the loan interest rate. ZERF BT BN -
The repayment schedule of the above loan based on the L EFIREFZER A R L 81
agreed terms of repayment granted by immediate holding EERFEETE - BREEEROT

company is as follows:

2021 2020
20215 20204

HK$’000 HK$’000
TET TAET

Within one year —FNR 2,400,197 -
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29. $RITER

29. BANK BORROWINGS

2021 2020
20214 20204

HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TAET

Bank loans — unsecured and RITER—EIRH

guaranteed RAEER
Analysed into DT
Current portion BN - 666,704
Non-current portion IERENE D 387,754 387,754
387,754 1,054,458

The above balance was borrowed by CGN Global, a
subsidiary of the Company, under credit facilities with amounts
ranging from USD50,000,000 to USD100,000,000.

The loan is borrowed by a subsidiary of the Company, and
bears interest rates ranging from LIBOR+1.2% per annum
(2020: LIBOR+1.2% per annum) and it is guaranteed by the
Company.

As disclosed in note 2, the Group has adopted Interest Rate
Benchmark Reform — IBOR ‘phase 2’ (Amendments to HKFRS
9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16). Applying
the practical expedient introduced by the amendments, when
the benchmarks affecting the Group’s loans are replaced, the
adjustments to the contractual cash flows will be reflected as
an adjustment to the effective interest rate, if any. Therefore,
the replacement of the loans’ benchmark interest rate will not
result in an immediate gain or loss recorded in profit or loss,
which may have been required if the practical expedient was
not available or adopted.

As at 31 December 2021, the Group does not expect there is
modification of the loan interest rate.
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29. HBITER®E

RBRITR B OBERERGR - L
AE RS BB -

29. BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

The repayment schedule of the above borrowings based
on the agreed terms of repayment granted by bank are as

follows:
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$’000
F#ET AT
On demand or within one year BEKIFR - 666,704
More than one year, but not 1Z224F
exceeding two years 387,754 -
More than two years, but not 2FE5%F
exceeding five years - 387,754
387,754 1,054,458
30. SHARE CAPITAL 30. B&

Ordinary share of HK$0.01 each
Authorised:
At 1 January 2020, 31 December
2020, 1 January 2021 and 31

Number of
shares

BRHEE

Amount

T8

HK$’000
THETT

FIEEC.01E T EiEA
JETE
20201 A1H ~ 20204
12A31H ~ 202141818
N2021F12A31H

December 2021 50,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: BEITRERE -
At 1 January 2020, 31 December 202091 18 - 2020412
2020, 1 January 2021 and 31 A31H  2021F1 A1H K
December 2021 2021F12 A31H 6,600,682,645 66,007

All the ordinary shares issued during the years ended 31
December 2021 and 2020 rank pari passu with the then

existing shares in all respects.

REE20214F 2020512 A31H
I FERBBEITH L AR RS
BEERGREFEZHRHLL

hEZIEEAR AR
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31. DEFERRED TAXATION

The analysis of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) is as follows:

31. EERIE

EERIEEE (BB 25 H
T~

2021 2020
20214 20204

HK$’000 HK$'000

FExT FET

Deferred tax assets EETHIBEE 5,161 -
Deferred tax liabilities EEFHIBEE (50,066) (23,968)

The followings are the major deferred tax assets/(liabilities)
recognised and movements thereon during the current and

prior years:

Accumulated
Taxlosses tax depreciation

HEFE  ZiRERR
HKS 000 HKS 000
T T

T AR B F R
T EREBAAR (BF) URA
CEDR

Change in fair
value of land
and buildings
and investment

Undistributable
profits of a joint
properties venture

BENR
RENEL
eSS

HK$ 000

Undistributable
profits of an
associate Total

-BaEts
ZANEEN

HK§ 000
Tin Tin TR Tin

-BEELNT
ZRARRR it
HKS 000 HKS 000

A vy 2020 R0ET1E - ) B9 (10544 - (19,104
(Cherged)crecited o proft orloss RBE(IR)/5TA . 1% ull] (3.389) . (3,46
Exchange realignment 52 - - 9 (1,210 - (1419
At 31 December 2020 and 1 Janvary 2021 RO020E12831E R
A1 A1A - 26) 8,800) (15,142) - 23,968
(Cherged)crecfte o proft orloss RER(R)/HA 5,151 % 28 (6,151) K] (7769
Pre-acaistion undistrbuted proft on ER e DA
anewly acquired assodiate RORAH - - - - (12559) [12559)
Bxchange realignment EiAE - - (255) (358) - (613
At 31 December 2021 HOIERANA 5 51 10 787 1651 (19629 {1405

At the end of the reporting period, the Group has unused
tax losses of approximately HK$43,978,000 (2020:
HK$30,101,000) available for offset against future profits.
No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
the tax losses of approximately HK$43,978,000 (2020:
HK$30,101,000) due to the unpredictability of future profit
streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses are losses of
HK$43,978,000 (2020: HK$30,101,000) that will expire after
five years from the year of assessment to which they relate to.
No tax loss was expired during the years ended 31 December

2021 and 2020.
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32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 32. AR RE
THE COMPANY

2021 2020
20216 20204
Notes HK$°000 HK$'000
BisE THRT FAET

Non-current assets FrBEE
Property, plant and equipment RSB 151 194
Right-of-use-assets FREEE 2,884 435
Interests in subsidiaries RIB AT 2 R 2,110,658 1,098,454
Interests in associates JiN A YNCI P 3 453,924 453,924
Deferred tax assets EIEFTEHEE 5,161 -
Other receivables Him el suE 367 -
2,573,145 1,553,007

Current assets REEE
Trade and other receivables R LSt B 0 e A e it oA 103,794 69,777
Loan to a subsidiary fEW —REM B RARER 2,344,361 -
Dividend receivable PR S 62,041 -
Income tax recoverable AU E SRR 6,956 -
Bank balances and cash BOBEFEAE 24,000 971,908
2,541,152 1,041,685
Current liabilities REBE

Trade and other payables JERERF R M KR 113,579 59,577
Lease liabilities HEaR 1,227 445
Amounts due to subsidiaries FERTHTB A RIZE a 1,088 1,088
Amount due to a fellow subsidiary [EN—RRZMBARNE b 1,252 643
Loan from immediate holding company ~ REBEIER AR ZER 2,400,197 -
Loan from a fellow subsidiary RERRKBLARZER 76,000 =
Income tax payable [ERET{SH 3,560 3,560
2,596,903 65,313
Net current (liabilities)/assets hE(BR) EEFE (55,751) 976,372
Total assets less current liabilities EEHERTBAE 2,517,394 2,529,379

Non-current liabilities FRBEARE
Lease liabilities HEaRE 1,662 =
Deferred tax liabilities ERFHIEAR - 25
1,662 25
Net assets HEFE 2,515,732 2,529,354

Capital and reserves AR &
Share capital A 66,007 66,007
Reserves G c 2,449,725 2,463,347
Total equity EREE 2,515,732 2,529,354
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32. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF 32. ZAARBIEMRRAE &
THE COMPANY (Continueq)

Note a:  Amounts due to subsidiaries and an intermediate holding company are Miska : FEFTHIE QB R — R EER A
unsecured, non-interest bearing and repayable on demand. A REER - RS RARERE
Note b:  The amount due to a fellow subsidiary and details are set out in note MisEb © RN —RER RH B AR REF G
24. FMTEE24 o
Note c:  Movements in the reserves during the years are as follows: Mizkc : FAREEZHWT :
Share
Share options Other Retained
premium reserve reserve earnings Total
ROEE BRERE HitfkfE REEF @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAT FHT TAT THT ou
At 1 January 2020 202061818 1,734,144 154 7 756,314 2,490,619
Profit for the year REE R - - - 38,735 38,735
Dividend recognised as distribution BRBARZRE
(note 12) (MEE12) - - - (66,007) (66,007)
At 31 December 2020 and 1 January 2021 1420201274318
20211818 1,734,144 154 7 729,042 2,463,347
Profit for the year AFEERF - - - 19,381 19,381
Dividend recognised as distribution RBEDELZRE
(note 12) (PEE12) - - - (33,003) (33,003)
At 31 December 2021 20216128318 1,734,144 154 7 715,420 2,449,725
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33. LIST OF SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the subsidiaries held by the Company as at 31

December 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

Place of
Class of incorporation/
establishment
L/
KLz

Name of subsidiary shares held

HEARER RERRRR

Direct subsidiaries:
ERRAR:
Bejing Sino-Kazakn* Contributed Captal -~ PRC
TR E4ER hE
CGNM UK Lid. Ordinary shares United Kingdom
£k ()
#H
OGN Global Uranium Limited Ordinary shares UK
hEVEARMERHERRAT  ERR £E
» Wholly-owned foreign enterprise with limited liability.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding
as at the end of the reporting period or at any time during the

reporting period.

Place of
operations

S5

PRC
G

33. MELEZIX

A FIR20214F KX 2020% 12 H31
BEE 2B ARFBOT

Particulars of issued
share capital/paid up

Attributable equity
interest of the Group  Principal activities

registered capital
BEfRE/
HRmRAE KEEELRE
202 2020

WMAE 0NF

TERE

RBS23,770,000 100%
ARRE23TT00007

100%  Investment project
BELE

100,000 ordinary shares 100%
of GBP 1 each and
130,521,354 orclnary
shares of USD1 each
100000 &k
BREEIEER
130,521,354 REAR
BRERIET

100%  Trading of netural uranium
AEES

3,000,000 ordinary shares of ~ 100% 100%  Trading of natural uranium

USD1 each KAHES
3000000R EER
ShafiEn
' NEBEEREERE -

BN B AR N RS ARKNERE
HIR B A AR EE N ERS

s
g ©

hEZIEEAR AR
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 34. EBALRS
(@) Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated (@ BRAGEHBRERAHE
financial statements, the Group had the following fhith 75 5 B & A - A E
material transactions with related parties during the FREBFRE AL DA
year: THERRS :

2021 2020
20215 20205

HK$'000 HK$'000
A7 7

Sales of natural uranium resources to MPEMEREHE
China Uranium Development AAHER 0} 610,918 424913

Purchases of natural uranium resources ~ BHIAFIEE
from Semizbay-U, including taxes RAHER (BH) (i) 351,907 363,414

Purchases of natural uranium resources  EERAFEE
from Ortalyk, including taxes RAHER(BH) (if) 268,278 -

Management fee charged by CGNPC- B ZHEERKE

URC MERS (iv) 6,410 6,011
Interest income from CGNPC Huasheng ~ YiBR @2 EE B F BT A v) 1,401 8,663
Interest income from CGN Finance B R AR B R B A (i) 132 9%
Rental income from CGNPC-URC W B E B R

ZHEERA (vii) 3,445 3,012
Dividend income received from WERH AR E WA

Semizbay-U 36,051 16,734

Interest expenses to CGNPC Huasheng i FHEZER 2 FIEHT (vii) 21,860 35,896

Interest expense to China Uranium ATHRBELRFERT
Development (ix) 18,679 107
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(a)

(Continued)

Information system services fee paidto IR EIEIZE NRINER AR
CGN Power Company Limited (TRBZEN)) ZIMER
(“CGN Power’) ZEREER

Accounting services fee paid to AR ERENTH
CGN Power HBRBEER

Administrative service fee paid to B ELER TR
CGNPC-URC 5%

Purchases of natural uranium resources
from Swakop Uranium (Pty) Ltd,
including taxes (“Swakop”)

Notes:

)

(i

(i)

B Swakop Uranium (Pty) Ltd

(B%)

On 14 June 2019, the Group has entered into a framework
agreement with CGNPC-URC for the sales of natural
uranium resources for the years ended 31 December 2020
to 2022 at prevailing market rates. Details are set out in the
announcement of the Company dated 9 September 2019.

On 25 November 2019, the Group entered into a sale
agreement with China Uranium Development for the sales of
natural uranium resources for the year 2020 to 2022.

On 12 March 2020, the Group entered into a purchase
agreement with Semizbay-U for the purchases of natural
uranium resources for the year 2020 with other certain taxes
in relation thereon borne by the Group.

On 8 April 2021, the Group entered into a purchase
agreement with Semizbay-U for the purchases of natural
uranium resources for the year 2021 with other certain taxes
in relation thereon borne by the Group.

On 29 November 2021, the Group entered into a purchase
agreement with Ortalyk for the purchases of natural uranium
resources for the year 2021 with other certain taxes in
relation thereon borne by the Group.

([Swakop)) BEAAHER

34. BBALRZ @)

@ &

2021
20215

Notes

Ktk i

(xi)

(xi) 69,412

MIEE -

(i)

(i)

HK$'000

2020
20205
HK$'000

BT TEL

92 89

940 1,043

535 529

66,690

R2019%F6 8148 » R&E
B ERHEERRE
20204 £20224 12 A
1B IEFERBITTER
ERRIE RN AT L AESR
& o FBHERAAFB
HA2019F9 8908 A

& o

R20194F11 A25H » &
SEEAPEBEEERE
ZE2020F E2022F 5%
KRB IR T S & 1
E

R2020563H 128 K&
H e 5 A A 52020 B
BRAMERTLEER
& HthBBREAASE
B -

R2021F4A8H » A%
F BN R FER2021 FF 58
BRAMIT LB EHE
Hih BB EHARNEE &

Z o

=

R2021F11 298 © &
SEEBEQAFHR2021
FEERAMTIEE D
# - HftBEBBIEBRASE
B o

hEZIEEAR AR

—T-—%Fx% 263 1
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Continued)

(a) (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii

(ix)

(xi)

(xii)

The Group entered into a service agreement with CGNPC-
URC for the administrative services provided by CGNPC-
URC.

The Group entered into a framework agreement with CGNPC
Huasheng to deposit amounts with CGNPC Huasheng and
generate interests from such deposits.

The Group entered into a framework agreement with
CGN Finance to deposit amounts with CGN Finance and
generated interests from such deposits.

The Group entered into a rental agreement with CGNPC-
URC to lease out the investment properties to generate rental
income.

The Group entered into a loan agreement CGNPC Huasheng
to withdraw amounts with CGNPC Huasheng and incurred
interest expense for those loans.

The Group entered into a loan agreement with China Uranium
Development to withdraw amounts with China Uranium
Development and incurred interest expense for those loans.

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020,
CGN Power, a fellow subsidiary of the Group provided the
information system and accounting services to the Group
charged for the services fee.

During the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020, the
Group entered into an agreement with CGNPC-URC that
shared the finance staff with the Group and charged for
services fee.

During the year ended 31 December 2020, the Group
entered into a purchase agreement with a fellow subsidiary
of the Group, Swakop, for the purchases of natural uranium
resources with other taxes in relation thereon borne by the
Group.

All transactions were conducted with terms mutually

agreed with the counter parties.
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34. BBALRZ @)

(a)

=1

(&

MRt - ()

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(vii

(ix)

(xi)

(xii)

REE R ERIRETR
A AP R A 26 B R B BR A
B 1T IR AR 755 &1 32 AR 75 1

2
A ©

AEE B EZERHRN
TR R A AT
SMmaTSAEZRBE

K@ B ERI B L
TEZR Wk - R AR BT
FARE - BREFRF

5 .
B

AEEET EZE#EER
BEHREMETIEE
ek - MEEBEHWA -

R E R ERER RN
R ERIRBGORM AT
TERBHEERZEER

EEMBRHX -

AEEE B RS
AR B i 2 B R IR IR SRR
eI E R & Rt % F
ERELN SR

HZE20214F 2020612
A31HIEFEEM - A&
E—HRRWEBARFE
RENRAEBREEM
R RERTRE - W UER
RIEER -

REE20214 %20204F
12A31BLLFE ' A&H
B EZEHEERREN
SEEZMBABN R
HRWERS B o

HZE2020%F12A31H 1t
FE - AEERAEER
Z [ B A BlSwakop&] 32
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B A A -
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34. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

(Continued)

Details of connected transactions of the Company
are disclosed in the “Directors’ Report” section to the
annual report.

The Group entered into a facility letter with CGNPC
Huasheng (as lender), pursuant to which the Company
can borrow from CGNPC Huasheng for operation capital
within of total borrowing amounting to USD310,000,000
(2020: USD610,000,000) from time to time within 3
years from the first withdrawal. As at 31 December
2021, there was unused borrowing facilities amounting
to USD279,500,000 (2020: USD493,394,000).

Compensation of key management personnel

The remuneration of directors of the Company during
the years ended 31 December 2021 and 2020 is as
follows:

34. BBALRZ @)

(a)

(b)

(#)

ARABAERZHBNRE
WEFSRE]PIE -

RNARHEFEZER (1ER
BERNIZEFRBE -
B AARBH KR
HEBEN=ZFRN - FE8
&7 %310,000,000% 7T
(20204 : 610,000,000
)R - A RERA EZ
EREBEALSHNKEESR
S A - R2021F 128
31H ' RABABHBEE
279,500,0003Jt (2020
4 : 493,394,000%7T) °

FTEREBAE ZHM

REE2021F K2020F 12
A31HIEFEARRRES
ZBenT

2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$’'000
FHET FAT
Short-term benefits kg HfE A 2,174 2,174
Post-employment benefits BEER 12 4B A = =
2,174 2,174
The remuneration of directors of the Company and RAREZERFETHA
key executives was determined by the remuneration BrMedBIMEE gL

committee having regard to the performance of
individuals and market trends.

ZEMERMALZRERT
LBBEE -
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35. NOTES SUPPORTING STATEMENT OF 35. RERBRMTE
CASH FLOWS
Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities: BMEEBEEAEEER

Loans from
immediate holding Loans from Bank Lease

Interest payable company feHow sub5|d|ary borrowings liabilities

ER -k
IS HERE

At 1 January 2021 K11 AR 4,259 - 904,289 1,004,458 1,866

Changes from fnancing cash ~~ REREAR 24T,

flows:
Interest paidon loans froma SR &R Z

fellow subsiciary WEBAREHERTS (22,584) - - - -
Interest paid on loan from AREBERARAT

immediate holding company ~~ EFEFFIE (19,421) - - - -
Interest paid on bank borrowings 31T EHE A8 (10,987) - - - -
Advance of loan fom immediate K& ERERDE &

holding company 19,039 2,497,136 - - -
Repayment of loan to immedate  (EEBRZERATNER

holding company - (96,939) - - -
Repayment of loans toafelow ~ EE-ERZNELTER

subsidlary - - (667,759) - -
Advance of bank borowings  BATHEFES - - - (666,704) =
Repayment of lease iabiities ~ EEMEEE - = = = (1,799)
Total changes fom financing~~ REBEEBR 25D

activities (33,989) 2,400,197 (667,759) (666,704) (1,79)
Other changes: HhEH:
Finance costs HERA 49,600 - - - 8
New lease recognised for the year FREFTHAE - - - - 3708
As at 31 December 2021 20215124318 19,906 2,400,197 236,530 387,754 3,862
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35. NOTES SUPPORTING STATEMENT OF 35. BEREXRMT
CASH FLOWS (continued)

Loans from

Interest  immediate holding Loans from Bank Lease

payable company  a fellow subsidiary  borrowings liabilities
EN—fEREER EN—RRRNE
FERHE, ARER ZER RITER
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TBT BT THT T THEL

At 1 January 2020 202051 A1R 1,219 - 1,067,053 - 3,724

Changes from financing cash KB R EE L HE

flows: &)
Interest paid on loans froma % & — & [F & B
fellow subsidiary ARERERF

B (107) - - - _
Interest paid on loan from REBEERAA
immediate holding company ~ EFE I8 (36,100) - - - -

Interest paid on bank SBEITERE AT

borrowings B (1,538) - - - -
Advance of loan from REEERERAT

immediate holding company B & - 349,686 - - -
Repayment of loan to BRERTRAT

immediate holding company ~ FVE - (349,686) = = =
Advance of loans from a fellow 3R 8 — &R R B

subsidiary AREFREH - - 259,795 - -
Repayment of loans to a fellow 1&&— R ZMHE

subsidiary NAER - = (422,559) = =
Advance of bank borrowings ~ $R1TE 5k g5k - = - 1,054,458 =
Repayment of lease liabiites  E2HEEE - - - - (1,962)
Total changes from financing  REFEZEH &

activities Ve (37,745) - (162,764) 1,054,458 (1,962
Other changes: Hih g :
Finance costs BB 40,785 - - - 104
As at 31 December 2020 7220205

128318 4,259 - 904,289 1,054,458 1,866
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36. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTION 36.

During the year ended 31 December 2021, the borrowing
of HK$387,754,000 (2020: HK$1,054,458,000) as set out
in note 29 has incurred interest payable of approximately
HK$49,600,000 (2020: HK$40,785,000).

37. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 37.

The Group as lessor

Property rental income earned during the year was
HK$3,445,000 (2020: HK$3,012,000). The Group’s
investment properties held for rental purposes and are
expected to generate rental yields on approximately 6% (2020:
6%) on an ongoing basis.

The Group leases out investment property under operating
leases. The leases typically run for an initial period of one
to three years. None of the leases includes variable lease
payments.

Undiscounted lease payments under non-cancellable
operating leases in place at the reporting date will be
receivable by the Group in future periods as follows:

FEFRERS

REE2021F 128318 ILFE -
B FE29FTEL 5 5X387,754,000/8 7T
(20204 : 1,054,458,000/87C) 2
EEENFEBRA%49,600,000
7T (20204 : 40,785,000%
7o) °

REHERIE

FEEERHBEA

FRNRB2WEREBAR
3,445,000 L (20204
3,012,0007T) ° N&E 2R EY)
EREHERRRBEHREELED
6% (2020%F : 6%) KT & ES K ©

AEERECLHEERLEED
% ENBERBEREA—E=
F o AEHTRETERERK -

RS BT A AHE S THE TR
TRMBHENFAE B ARERR
PREARR AN T URER -

2021 2020
20214 20204

HK$’000 HK$’000
FER THETT

Within one year —FR

3,495 3,564
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38.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND 38.
FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY

Categories of financial instruments

REREINEREER
TREEHNE
SRMITENER

2021 2020
20215 20204

HK$’000 HK$’000
TR TAET

Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at amortised cost RHERAGTECERmEE
(including bank balances and cash)  (B#FRITAETMIAS)
— Trade and other receivables — FEUNBR 3R K HAth FE I 0B 96,586 359,802
— Amount due from an intermediate  — EUL— & AR REIERR A RIFRIE
holding company 2,392 2,323
— Amount due from a fellow — FEN— R & B A B 50E
subsidiary 20 19
- Bank balances and cash —RITEFRRE 81,293 1,174,508
180,291 1,536,652
Financial liabilities THEE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost R HEHM AT EZ LR AR
- Trade and other payables — FEER SR S HAth FE S 5B 1,103,368 158,289
— Loans from a fellow subsidiary —REg—HRZRWBREZER 236,530 904,289
— Loans from immediate holding —REEEEZERARIZER
company 2,400,197 -
— Bank borrowings —RITER 387,754 1,054,458
— Amount due to an intermediate — FEfS — R EIZERR A Rl 5RIE
holding company 1,117 874
— Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries  — JE{ R KB A 5158 2,188 1,135
4,131,154 2,119,045
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial instruments

in the normal course of the Group’s business are credit risk,

liquidity risk, interest rate risk and currency risk.

(@)

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which
will cause a financial loss to the Group due to failure to
discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising
from the carrying amount of the respective recognised
financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement
of financial position.

In order to minimise the credit risk, the management of
the Group has delegated a team responsible to ensure
that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.
In addition, the Group reviews the recoverability of
each individual trade debt at the end of each reporting
period to ensure that adequate impairment losses are
made for irrecoverable amounts.

For trade receivables, the Group has applied the
simplified approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss
allowance at lifetime ECLs. The Group determines
the ECLs on an individual basis for customer with
significant balances by using an individual basis,
estimated based on historical credit loss experience, as
well as the general economic conditions of the industry
in which the debtors operate. In this regard, the
directors of the Company consider that the Group’s
credit risk is significantly reduced.
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

For other receivables, amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries included in bank balances and amount
due from an intermediate holding company, the credit
rating was categorised as “performing” as set out
on page 273. Based on the financial position and
good history of repayment of the fellow subsidiaries
and intermediate holding company, the Group has
assessed that the ECLs for these receivables and
amounts due from fellow subsidiaries and intermediate
holding company are not material under 12-month
ECLs. Thus, no loss allowance provision was
recognised during the respective period.

The credit risk on liquid funds other than those
placed with fellow subsidiaries is limited because
the counterparties are banks with high credit ratings
assigned by international credit-rating agencies.

The Group considers the probability of default upon
initial recognition of asset and whether there has been
a significant increase in credit risk on an ongoing
basis throughout the reporting period. To assess
whether there is a significant increase in credit risk
the Group compares the risk of a default occurring
on the asset as at the reporting date with the risk of
default as at the date of initial recognition. It considers
available reasonable and supportive forwarding-looking
information. Especially the following indicators are

incorporated:
° internal credit rating;
o external credit rating;

39.

R EE 2

(a)

FERR(E)

MEMEWRIEMNS &
WRIRKMBRATMHRIAR
%fﬁﬁgif&fuﬁl*ﬁq:‘
F'EH B - EER

’\*Eﬁﬂﬁﬁﬂ (%273
Eﬁﬁ%@) c ERERMBA
A Rk TR A B E B
ﬂﬁﬂ&ﬂﬂﬁ#\iﬂﬁ VN
B hiERA%EE

KR JEWE R B R
K —E R EZERA [
IEJ:T:TQ(H WIEEEEE
BRI TBEKX - AL
REBHEASERRERE
B o

HSZEE

T BRA [R) 2 Hf /8 22 R BA S
ZRBEZZEERRA
R REARRZHHER
BREEFARBITAES
REFZIRAT ©

AEBAEVIREREER
EEREAOBA AN - IRET
HEENREBEARSHEE
GREERBRMNIFERE
meFEEERRELTR
ERME - AKBERS
A EEZEEANE
BRI R R EED
R BHEITLLER - RRZE
EEEBSEMAEME
B o ATHERTEEHE
=

EI

. M= AREAR

. SEBIE AP -

hEZIEEAR AR

—Zo—FF3{ 271 1N



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

° actual or expected significant adverse changes
in business, financial or economic conditions
that are expected to cause a significant change
to the borrower’s ability to meet its obligations;
and

o significant changes in the expected
performance and behaviour of the borrower,
including changes in the payment status of
borrowers in the Group and changes in the
operating results of the borrower.

The Group’s exposure to crediit risk

In order to minimise credit risk, the Group has tasked
its management to develop and maintain the Group’s
credit risk grading to categories exposures according
to their degree of risk of default. The credit rating
information is drawn from publicly available financial
information and the Group’s own trading records
to rate its major customers and other debtors.
The Group’s exposure and the credit ratings of its
counterparties are continuously monitored and the
aggregate value of transactions concluded is spread
amongst approved counterparties.
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continvec) ~ 39. BA TSR EIE
(@)  Credit risk (Continued) (@) FERKE
The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued) REEEG A5 EER (E)
The Group’s current credit risk grading framework REBEERNEERRG

comprises the following categories:

Category

%l

Performing

Rif

Doubtful

] &t

Default

i
2%

Write-off

6

Description

i

For financial assets where there has low risk of default or has not
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition
and that are not credit impaired (refer to as Stage 1)
RELNERSBVRERREERBRABENEINIHEERE
HEREE (ZHE R

For financial assets where there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition but that are not credit impaired

(refer to as Stage 2)
BIRERRIEER

(2HE_ER)

BREEERENEFEERENEREE

Financial assets are assessed as credit impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on the estimated
future cash flows of that asset have occurred (refer to as Stage 3)
E-ARSEEMHEEN GG RRREREEETNTER -
CREENNEAGFEREZHE=KR)

There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in severe
financial difficulty and the Group has no realistic prospect of
recovery

BERRRPEBABABRENTBRE - B A EEREFED
FEWE

hEZIEEAR AR

BIERBIEATEE

Basis for

recognising ECLs
REMEE

BENERE

12-month ECLs

12EAERES

Eia

Lifetime ECLs - not
credit impaired

ZEEREEEE -
ﬁﬁ, TR(E

Lifetime ECLs — credit
impaired

EHBEREREEER -
HBREERE

Amount is written off

FOAC M EH
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 39. HIRAKMERE

(@)  Credit risk (Continued) (@) FEERRGE)
The Group’s exposure to credit risk (Continued) REFE IR EE LR (&)
The tables below detail the credit quality of the Group’s TREMIETAEES
financial assets, as well as the Group’s maximum MEEMNEEEZEZ UK
exposure to credit risk by credit risk rating grades. AEBEBEERBIRER

HERAEERRAA

Gross Net
Internal 12-month or carrying carrying
31 December 2021 credit rating lifetime ECLs amount amount
2021512A31H KB EERR 12BAREHNFEREEEE REAE fREFE
HKD’000 HKD’000
THET THET
Trade receivables Note Lifetime ECLs (simplified
approach) 92,160 92,160
FEHBR TR Bisr FHREHEEER (@5
Deposits and other Performing 12-month ECLs
receivables 4,426 4,426
e R H At IR Rif 12{A R FEEEEER
Amount due from an Performing 12-month ECLs
intermediate holding
company 2,392 2,392
A —FEPEERAR  REF 12fA A EHEEEE
A
Amount due from a fellow  Performing 12-month ECLs
subsidiary 20 20
RYE—HERZMNEBRAR R 12 REEEEER
IR
Bank balances and cash  Performing 12-month ECLs 81,293 81,293
RITEFRRS RiF 128 A EEIE EEE
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a)

Credit risk (Continued)

39.

The Group’s exposure to crediit risk (Continued)

31 December 2020

2020612 A431R

Internal
credit rating

WEMEEREAR

12-month or
lifetime ECLs
12{8 Ak = BTaEEE

R

BEERER &
@ EERR@

AL B E 415 B AR (AE)

FREAE
HKD’000

Gross Net
carrying carrying
amount
FREFE
HKD’000

THET

amount

TR

Trade receivables Note Lifetime ECLs (simplified 351,810 351,810
approach)
FEHR R k3 2 HITRHE BB
(7%
Deposits and other Performing 12-month ECLs 7,992 7,992
receivables
Re REMBUGIE  Rif 1218 A B A E & 18
Amount due from an Performing 12-month ECLs 2,323 2,323
intermediate holding
company
JEW — MR EER AR RAF 121E A B A B E B
A
Amount due from a Performing 12-month ECLs 19 19
fellow subsidiary
ER—ERZEMEAT RiF 12{A AFEEEEEE
TRIA
Bank balances and Performing 12-month ECLs 1,174,508 1,174,508
cash
RITEFRR® RiF 128 A TR B E B IS8
Note:  For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified Misr : BEWEZmMES @ AEEH
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at EERAERMBRELER
lifetime ECLs. Except for debtors with significant outstanding FORMEL A AN ESR
balances or credit-impaired, the Group determines the HMTEREEEENEE
expected credit losses on these items by using a provision B BEAEARGEHS
matrix, grouped by ageing of trade receivables. No loss HAEERENEBEI -
allowance has been made on trade receivables as the ANEFHARBEEET
amount involved is insignificant. LWHEEENEHREEES
B WIREWRERFERER D
o RS SBELTE
A - R A LR WBR R
BREEELERRE -
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(a)

(b)

Credit risk (Continued)
The Group'’s exposure to credit risk (Continued)

The Group’s concentration of credit risk by geographical
locations is mainly in China (2020: Germany), which
accounted for 100% (2020: 61%) of the total trade
receivable as at 31 December 2021.

Besides, the Group has concentration of credit risk as
99.8% (2020: 18%) and 100% (2020: 80%) of the total
trade receivables was due from the Group’s largest
customer and the five largest customers respectively
within natural uranium trading segment.

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group
monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate by the management
to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The management
monitors the utilisation of loans from a fellow subsidiary
and loans from immediate holding company and
ensures compliance with loan covenants.

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities and lease liabilities based on the agreed
repayment terms. The table has been drawn up based
on undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities and
lease liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. The maturity
dates for non-derivative financial liabilities are based
on the agreed repayment dates. The table includes
both interest and principal cash flows. To the extent
that interest flows are floating rate, the undiscounted
amount is derived from interest rate curve at the end of
the reporting period.
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39.

R EE 2

(a)

(b)

FERR(E)
&G a1E B R R ()

AEBZRBDETHEER
B 5 AR 3 = E A AR ] (2020
F : EE) - (52021F 128
318 Z EWIR K AEEE100%
(2020%F : 61%) ©

e AN - AN 5B R R BR
4AEEF00.8% (20204
18%) K 100% (20204 :
80%) 7 Bl FE U A & B R A
MEPEBDITHEARE
FRERAREFHFHIEAE - #
MEREERBREFIS
;‘R °

RBETER

REBRDESRRE -
AEEEERKRE MR
TEHEEHBABREEE
RBRFTRZKF - AR
AEEZ2ERBERS
MERBZEE  BEE
ERXE—BRANEAR
Az ERRRE BRER
RAZEFROERBRL
FEIRE T B K254 -

TRAMINAREHTE
KB AEEFTESH
BEMEERABRTHNEG
MBHME - ZREBEAKH
BANFHEFERE NS
MEEREEREPHR
BRREREREER
HHoFTEERMBERT
SRIZNE B THARREET
RPREE - ZREFEF
ERAESRERE - NF
HEHKR REMNBERR
FEAE - AR S
SIRBH X HARETH
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

39.

(b) R

R EE 2

Exmk(E)

Repayable on
(emand or
wihin 1 year

joa
HKS'000
T

More than 1 year
ut less than

A

HKS 000
TER

More than
2years but
less than 5 years

HKS 000
TER

Totl
undiscounted
cash flows

HKS 000
T

Repayable on More than More than Total
demand or 1 year but 2yearshut  undiscounted Carrying
within 1 year less than2years less than 5 years cash flows amount
ESE] #g-£ EEmE AR5
H-EnEE BIRHRE EonaE RenE L
HK$'000 HK$000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000 HK$1000
Tn Thn Thn Tén T
At 31 December 2021 2021 F12331A
Non-derivative financial ibiltes HiteHaE
Trade and other payables EREF R ENTE 1,103,368 - - 1,103,368 1,103,368
Loans from a felow subsidary RE-BRENELE ER 236,950 - - 236,950 236,530
Loans fom immeciate holdng company ~~ REEREBL TR 2428580 - - 2428580 2,400,197
Bank borowings” B 5,301 390,746 - 396,073 367,754
Amount due to an intereciate holding company S~ EIERAFI:E 1117 - - 1,17 1,117
Amounts due o felow subsideries EfRZNEATSE 2,188 - - 2,168 2,188
3777,530 390,746 - 4,168,276 4,131,154
Leases liabilies GEEl 1,761 1,761 703 4205 3,962
* include accrued interest * BIEEETFIS

Camying
amount

AR
HK§ 000
TR

At 31 December 2020 0205128318

Non-derivative financial liabilties FESHER

Trade and ofher payables ERESREMERTE 158,289 = = 158,269 158,269

Loans from a elow subsidary Re-BRZNELT ER 304538 548508 - w31% 904,289

Bark borrowings Bk 658,668 - 387,754 1,086,422 1,084,458

Amount due to an intemediate holding company & —FEREIERAGIE 874 = = 874 §74

Amounts due o felow subsidiares ERRZNEL TS 11% - = 11 11%
1203504 548508 37,754 2,159,836 2,119,045

Leases labiltes i 916 468 I 2125 1866

hEZIEEAR AR
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued)

(b)

(c)

Liquidity risk (Continued)
Fair value

The directors of the Company consider that the
carrying amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated
financial statements approximate their fair values due
to their immediate or short-term maturities.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk
in relation to fixed-rate loans from a fellow subsidiary.
The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest rate
risk in relation to its variable-rate bank borrowings,
bank balances, amounts due from fellow subsidiaries
and loans from immediate holding company included
in bank balances and cash. The Group currently does
not have an interest rate hedging policy. However,
the management monitors interest rate exposure and
will consider other necessary actions when significant
interest rate exposure is anticipated.

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to interest rates for non-
derivative instruments including bank balances and
cash and loan from immediate hold company at the
end of the reporting period. The analysis is prepared
assuming the financial instruments outstanding at the
end of the reporting period were outstanding for the
whole year. A 50 basis points (2020: 50 basis points)
increase or decrease is used when reporting interest
rate risk internally to key management personnel
and represents management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in interest rates.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2020: 50
basis points) higher/lower and all other variables were
held constant, the Group’s post-tax profit for the year
ended 31 December 2021 would decrease/increase by
approximately HK$12,348,000 (2020: HK$5,658,000).
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39.

R EE 2

(b)

(c)

RBESEE(E)

AN}

ARABEERL  REH
XA £R B B 15 R DI Bk
LEMEEREREEL
REEEEQAERS
It 7% B A EL BB 3R 2 BR
MEH -

FRE R

AEEEERARBES —H
BESGI=PNSIRSSS§ 0
AREFNERER - AEE
THERTEFERREA
PERENE BRITER
RIT AT S B B 5 P /B
RAERERKEBRER
RAZEFHHRERE
FMERER - AEEB AL
BN KGR o AT
EEESEENERR
I 7 TR 3R AR R
[ B B 2 B ERELEL A FT
78 -

BRI

AR 2 R E 5T Th iR &
RBERIEGTETE (B
FRTEERBE S RKE
HEZEBRARZER) 27
ZEBMET - HRZE
DB BRENRBREHRZ
AEBSRTAREZER
IR1EE - 50EEE2L (2020
& 50fEE L) 2 sk
ML ERNETEEEAER
F 2 @\ B 1B R 2B 3R & B 5
B REREEEBHRA R
BEEAZABREEATIET
1l o

W F & EF, T BR50EE
24 (20204 : 50fEEZ) -
AT A Eth Al B R = A
& AIAEERERE
2021F12A31BIEFEZ
BB EERNEm D
#712,348,000/% 7t (2020
£F : 5,658,000/7T) °
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 39. HIRAKMERE
(d)  Currency risk (d E¥ER

The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such
exposures arise from rental income and purchases
by the Group in currencies other than the entities’
functional currencies. Approximately 100% (2020:
100%) of the Group’s rental income are denominated
in currencies other than the functional currency of
the group’s entity. In addition, certain portion of
trade and other receivables, amount due from an
intermediate holding company, bank balances and
cash, trade and other payables, amounts due to an
intermediate holding company and fellow subsidiaries
are denominated in currencies other than the functional
currency of the entity to which they relate.

The following table shows the Group’s exposure at the
end of the reporting period to currency risk arising from
recognised monetary assets or liabilities denominated

in a currency other than the functional currency of the
entity to which they relate.

AEEARHRXHEER
% - ARERKREEHEK
ARKEERNZEERK
Mee EM AN 2 M #
TR - REEAK100%
(20204F : 100%) KIFH 4 Ut
ANEBER 2R
LASN 2 EHEDIME o Lo -
BTN EWERERREAM
U FRIE ~ RN — P
ERARRE - RITE
FRkEL - EBNEREHE
th JE A< TR IE A B B — RS
SR /NI DN E )=
ANRIFA - THIABEZE
IR E M LA B 4

st
= o
>t

TRERAEERREH
RAACHEREBEELA
EARERMEBEEE
MM B BEEL 2R

LA
o0
ZN

[

Presented in: 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
SRR 202145 2020 202145 2020 20215 2020
USD'000  USD'000 RMB'000  RMB'000  HK$'000  HK$'000

TR TET ARBTRT ARETT FHET FAT

Assets BE 21 5,851 17,578 12,481 22,507 89,382
Liabilities BE - - (4,748) (4,703) (903) 2,138)

7R 5% (835 By 3 S S K 4 O
KR - R EEEER
SMNERKR - URBFER
EELHERINERL

The Group currently does not have a foreign currency
hedging policy. However, the management monitors
foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging
significant foreign currency exposure should the need
arise.
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39. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continve) ~ 39. BIEEREE
(d)  Currency risk (Continued) (d E¥ERGE)
Sensitivity analysis R 0T
The Group is mainly exposed to the currency risk of REFBTFEmMEHARE -

RMB, USD and HK$.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity
(i) to a 5% and 0.5% increase or decrease in HK$
against the RMB and USD respectively for the years
ended 31 December 2021 and 2020. 5% and 0.5%
are the sensitivity rates used when reporting foreign
currency risk internally to key management personnel
and represent management’s assessment of the
reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates.

The sensitivity analysis includes only outstanding foreign
currency denominated monetary items and adjusts
their translation at the end of the reporting period for
a 5% or 0.5% (2020: 5% or 0.5%) change in foreign
currency rates. A positive number below indicates
an increase in post-tax profit where the respective
functional currency strengthen 5% or 0.5% (2020: 5%
or 0.5%) against the relevant currency. For a 5% or
0.5% (2020: 5% or 0.5%) weakening of the respective
functional currency against the relevant currency, there
would be an equal and opposite impact on the profit.

EMETEERR

TRFFYI A S B ()& Z=2021
FN2020F12A318 15
EHELTOREARBR
ELFHERIZE5%%0.5%
ZHRRE o LEURE L &
(5%%0.5%) BlAEBEE
A B Bt SN [ B E A 3D R
HERRACBRE  RE
EIEERLINEE KA aEE
£ BEEBATETE

BREDMEBRENRE
BTG EEBEE R
R E AR INEE R~
5%8%0.5% (20204 : 5%
500.5%) EBEH 2 T E R

JEMEEM L BREE
FHE5%5%0.5% (20204 :
5%73%0.5%) Fr 8 B Br Hi &
A2 TR o MABFER D)
BEEH BEEBEZESY
800.5% (20204 : 5%k
0.5%) * 1& LR

MR EFBRTE -

Presented in: 2021 2020 2021 2020 2021 2020
5IRA 2021 2020 2021 2020F 20215 20204
USD'000  USD'000 RMB'000 RMB'000  HK$'000  HK$000

TEL TEn AR¥TR ARETT TART AT

5% 5% 5% 5% 0.5% 5%

Profit or loss M SEE (1) (219) (485) (299) (90) (364)

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk
as the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure
during the year.
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40.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the
Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to shareholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy
remains unchanged from prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt,
which includes loans from a fellow subsidiary and loans from
immediate holding company, net of cash and cash equivalents
and equity attributable to owners of the Company, comprising
issued share capital and reserves. The directors of the
Company review the capital structure on a regular basis. As
a part of this review, the directors of the Company consider
the cost of capital and the risks associated with each class

40.

EXEREE

AEEEREER - ARRAEE
T EBE S EELETY  0E
BT 5 TR R - AR
FARBATE - A &M
AT o

AEEZEAGEBERFRE(R
TR — R R B AR &R K
BERERRARZER) - KRR
MRS FEBAULARFER
AL (BFPBREEBITRA
K - ARREZFERRATE
AR - ERBEEF IR - AR

of capital, and take appropriate actions to adjust the Group’s HENRER - WL RIEE T8
capital structure. PR EBE NG -

Consistent with others in the industry, the Group monitors
capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated
as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is calculated as
total borrowings less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is
calculated as equity as shown in the consolidated statement
of financial position plus net debt.

The gearing ratios at 31 December 2021 and 2020 were as
follows:

HEERNEMARHE—B - AEE
NERB B RERER R X
WHFBERABEABETH - F8
BREERFERRE S RASFER
BFtHE - ERBBIREAMBANR
RFTPIRMERS I LR BERTHE -

MR2021F K 2020F12 A31EHE
AEFELERIOT

As at 31 December

M12831H
2021 2020
20214 20204
HK$’000 HK$’000
FET T
Net debt FHEE 2,943,188 784,239
Total equity MR 4R RE 2,155,223 2,027,060
Gearing ratio BERE B R 136.56% 38.69%

hEZIEEAR AR

—T——%Fx% 281 1



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR MR

For the year ended 31 December 2021 EZ2021412 431 B I FE

41. ACQUISITION OF AN ASSOCIATE 41. WE—EHEQT
Pursuant to the sales and purchase agreement dated 22 BIEMG R TECGNM UKEFTZ A 8
April 2021 entered into between Kazatomprom and CGNM B2021F4A22HMEEWE -
UK, CGNM UK agreed to acquire Ortalyk at a consideration CGNM UKI[R ZA435,071,181%
of USD4835,071,181 (equivalent to approximately 7t (FB 5574 498,374,011,0007 7T)
HK$3,374,011,000) (“Consideration”). The transaction was RE(REDWERAT - BEAX
completed on 30 July 2021. Following the completion of the B 1R2021F7 H30R 7T o WiiE
acquisition, the Company held 49% of the equity interest TEAIE - AR EIFEB RAR49%MK
in Ortalyk. Ortalyk is accounted for as an associate of the & o BRFIARARRARR— 5
Company which exercises significant influence in Ortalyk after ERE RRE R IEREEA R
the acquisition. ITFERFEES -
The Group’s share of the net fair value of Ortalyk’s identifiable REBE  AREBEERR A
assets and liabilities was approximately USD79,823,000 AHNEERBENAFEFE
(equivalent to approximately HK$619,037,000) as at the #)/79,823,000% T (FBE R L
acquisition date. Goodwill of approximately HK$2,754,974,000 619,037,000/ 7T) ° LB N E]H 7
relating to Ortalyk is included in the carrying amount of the & %)2,754,974,0008 L2 R
interest in Ortalyk on acquisition. W EEBFET A A R O BRTE(E ©
Details of the transaction are set out in the Company’s RGFBEHN AR T BHER2021
announcement dated 22 April 2021, 30 June 2021, 12 July FA4H22H ~ 20216308 -
2021 and 22 July 2021 and the circular of the Company dated 20217 4128 Kk202147 H22H
25 May 2021. WAERAAT BER202145 A

25H R ©

The fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities of Ortalyk at DR EFBAERA R (BEAER
acquisition date were accessed by Asia-Pacific Consulting WEBENBEYIASEREEMGE
and Appraisal Limited, an independent qualified professional BM) 7Y BE B HART (i R R R A0 AT 3%
valuer not connected with the Group. RIEERBEATE-
Acquisition-related costs amounting to approximately I BB MR RE A AN %) 5 5,634,00078 7T
HK$5,634,000 have been recognised as administrative ERERABEZE2021F12A31H 1k
expenses in the year ended 31 December 2021. FEMITHRAS °

42. APPROVAL OF FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  42. #t/EM&EHE

The financial statements were approved and authorised for
issue by the directors on 25 March 2022.
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Particulars of Major Properties as at 31 December 2021

R2021FE12A31 BN EEY EFE

PROPERTIES HELD FOR INVESTMENT HIERE 2

Location NE Type of properties Lease term
YEEE HEHR

Rooms 2906-2910 & 2912, 29/F, FEE R Office premises Medium-term lease

Shi Ao International Centre, Hi5m WAE FETEE

No. 101 Shaoyaoju Beili, AJEEEAL B 10158

Chaoyang District, BB A

Beijing, PRC 201£2906-2910 2912 =
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Definitions

B=

In this annual report (excluding the “Independent Auditor’'s Report”), unless the context otherwise requires, the
following expressions shall have the following meanings:

RAFEREHREAN (NREELZEERE])

“associates”
RiEIN

“Af[icles of Association”
[E2408]

“Aud\it Committee”
[BzEEE]

“Beijing Sino-Kazakh”

[1E 5 e 3|

“Board”

[EFg]

“CAD” or “CA$”
[hn7t) ek [CAS)

“Canada”’

WIEYN
“Central Mynkuduk Deposit”
[

“CGN” or “CGNPC”

[MhEZ] [ EREE AT

“CGN Finance”

[P B 75

“CGN Global”

[ EZBEREE AT

“CGN Group”

[ EZEE

“CGNM UK”

[CGNM UK]
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CBXBEZEMEIN A TAEREBNTEE

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules.
BA AR 7 28 -

the articles of association of the Company.
RARAEBERAL -

the audit comm|ttee of the Board.
EFEeEREZET -

Beijing Sino-Kazakh Uranium Resources Investment Company
Limited* (b7 0I5 3 & JRIRE B R A7), a limited liability company
incorporated in the PRC and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company.

IERPRMERRERRAR - RPBEFMRZNEREERA
RARBZEMERA

the board of Directors of the Company.

AABEEE -

Canadian dollars, the lawful currency of Canada.

MEATT - MEREEEH

Canada, a country in the northern part of North America.

MEXR - H—ECRIEZMIEEVEISR -

the central plot of Mynkuduk deposit in South-Kazakhstan region
Kazakhstan, which is owned and operated by Ortalyk.

HRAFIGEA RAGE - AR A R T ﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁtﬁimﬁﬁ’ﬁ%ﬁ
e SR A R R IR

China General Nuclear Power Corporation* (1 B &% & B AR A 7)),
a company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability and the sole
shareholder of CGNPC-URC.

PEEZEBERAR  RABIKY 2BRETAR - AP EZH
HEBERIMERR o

CGN Finance Co., Ltd* (F EZBIEERFEL A F]), a company
incorporated in the PRC with limited liability and a subsidiary of
CGNPC.
PEZUBEREEAR  RABIKY 2BREEAR - R EZM
BR7] -

CGN Global Uranium Ltd, a company incorporated and registered
in England and Wales with limited liability and a subsidiary of the
Company.

FREZBEERHEREERRAR - —MIREARBRER I EET
M BR AR - AAFE 2B AR

CGNPC and its subsidiaries.
FEZEEARREKB AR

CGNM UK Limited, a company incorporated in the United Kingdom,
with limited liability and a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company.
CGNM UK Limited - REBIFMKZMBEREEAF - WAHKAF
e EHEAE
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“CGNPC Huasheng”
[ A% EE R |
“CGNPC-URC’

[ EZ R
“CGNPC-URC Group”
[ EZEEREE

“China Uranium Development”

PRI ER]

“Company”, “CGN Mining” or “we”

[RRF - [ B s[5

“Controlling Shareholder”
[ R AR 3R

“Corporate Governance Code”

[fbxEaTA
“Czech Republic”
[F5e FLANE |

“Director(s)”

[E=]

“ED(s)”
[HITEE]

EU
=420

“Financial Services Framework
Agreement”

(B35 RIS HE DR W=z

CGNPC Huasheng Investment Limited (FEZEEIEEBR AT, a
company incorporated in Hong Kong and a wholly-owned subsidiary
of CGNPC.

PEZERREARAR  REBIMKIZ A RTPEZEE
REIZEZEWBRA -

CGNPC Uranium Resources Co., Ltd.* (1 Erzih2 %R AR A F),
a company incorporated in the PRC with limited liability and the sole
shareholder of the China Uranium Development.
PEZMEERBBAR  RABIKZZBEREFTLAT - AP
FKERIME—IRE -

CGNPC-URC and its subsidiaries (other than member of the Group)
PEZEER AR AEEK BN EMTEAR]

China Uranium Development Company Limited (FFEI$¥ZEEER
‘A a]), a company incorporated in Hong Kong and the Controlling
Shareholder of the Company.

hEMEERAR AT REBRILZ AT - NRAZERCR

CGN Mining Company Limited, a company incorporated in the
Cayman lIslands with limited liability, the shares of which are listed on
the main board of the Stock Exchange.

FREZIEE AR A A)* (CGN Minig Company Limited) * RE S &
MRz BREMERR] - ERGOIEERZFTER £ o

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules.

AELEMARAE T 25% -

Corporate Governance Code set out in Appendix 14 of the Listing
Rules, as currently in force, but, for the purpose of this report,
excluding such amendment that only applies to financial year
commencing on or after 1 January 2022.

WAz EiR A SRS (R EVR PR - MR AREM
T TERERERNE2022%F1 A1 Ak 2 BBV EEE (85T °

the Czech Republic, an inland country in Central Europe.
R AME - IR PEH—ERERRK -

the director(s) of the Company.
AAFNESE -

executive Directors of the Company.
ARNRPTES -

European Union, a political and economic union of 27 member states
that are located primarily in Europe.
REEFEAREUNN27ENX & BITE NRIBUR RAHER:R -

the financial services framework agreement dated 14 June 2019
entered into among the Company, CGN Finance and CGNPC
Huasheng.

AR REZMGEP EZEREY B EA2019F6 148 2 &8t
BRISAEZR 177 5%

HEXBEEERAR —T-—FF3% 285 1



Definitions

B=

“Fission”

[Fission’A &1

“Fourteenth Five-year Plan”
[+HE]

“Group”

[AREE ][ 5E]

“HK$H or “HKD”
&7t

“HKASs”
[BAETEA]

“HKFRSs”
[BBHB#E 2]

“HKICPA”
[BAGMAE]

“Hong Kong” and “HKSAR”
(BB EERFRITHR]

“INED(s)”
B IEITESE]

N

“Irkol Mine”

[F7E ]

“Kazakhstan”

[ 5 5o 738 |

“Kazatomprom”

[MGRT]

“Wh”
[kwh]

“Io?
Mol
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Fission Uranium Corp., a Canadian-based resource company of
which ordinary shares are listed on the Toronto Stock Exchange
under the symbol “FCU”, the OTCQX market place in the US under
the symbol “FCUUF” and on the Frankfurt Stock Exchange under the
symbol “2FU” a company owned as to 14.34% by the Company as
at 31 December 2021.

Fission Uranium Corp. * —RKIUMEXR BEM 2 ERAA] - BEREE
EARIRFCUIRZmZ R ST AR [FCUUF IR ZEBIOTCQXR
55 RARSE2FUIRER R85 R H P LT o AN A AH2021
F12 A31 B B FissionA 7]14.34 %S

The fourteenth five-year plan for the national economic and social
development of the PRC, which covers 2021 to 2025.
FEFERQBENT S EHRNE TOERF - HE2021E20255F -

the Company and its subsidiaries.

AARMEMBAR -

Hong Kong dollars, the lawful currency of Hong Kong.

BBZEERY -

the Hong Kong Accounting Standards issued by HKICPA.
HEBGTMAG RN 2 BB G LD -

the Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by HKICPA.
HAEBSIMASRMZ BB BHREER -

the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.
LN

the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region of the People’s
Republic of China.
PEARAMBEEERHITTHR °

independent non-executive Directors of the Company.
RRRBIIENITESE ©

the Irkol mine located in the Kyzylorzhinsk area, 20 kilometres from
the town of Chiili, Kazakhstan with limited liability, which is owned and
operated by Semizbay-U.

FEZABELL - (IR E 52 BT ChiliE20 A B BR 7 Kyzylorzhinski &
ZIrkolfEILl - BB AR RERE -

The Republic of Kazakhstan.
IE B So HiT A H IR o

Joint Stock Company “National Atomic Company “Kazatomprom”, a
joint stock company established according to the laws of Kazakhstan
with limited liability, which holds 51% equity interest of Semizbay-U
and Ortalyk.

A 1E e BB B R R T 86 A A1* (Joint Stock Company National
Atomic Company “Kazatomprom”) » —Z iR I i 7o HT R A2 AL
HERATR - FEWARIFEAFS %iER ©

kilowatt hour.
FEL/NEE o

pound.

5



Definitions

B=

“Listing Rules”
[ ETARA

“Mauritius”

[E 8 sk Hf
“Model Code”
1227 Al

MWe”
[MWe]

“NED(s)”
[FEENTTES]

“Nomination Committee”

R==E3=-

“Ortalyk”

VNG

el

“PLS Project”
[PLSIEE ]

“PRC” or “China”
[FRE

“Remuneration Committee”
[FEE=]

“Reporting Period”
[REHA

“‘RMB”
[AR¥]

“Sales Framework Agreements”

[ 55 EAEIR e

“Semizbay Mine”

[T ]

the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited. \ )
BEMERBRXGMBERARRESR ETRA -

the Republic of Mauritius, ig an island nation in the Indian Ocean.
EESRETHEMNE - BEEFSE -

the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed
Issuers set out in Ap\pen\dix 10 of the Listing Rules. \
FHRAIM AT E T AR ERETE SR SHNEESTE

megawalts of electricity.
JKELES

non-executive Directors of the Company.

RABPERITES -

the nomination committee of the Board.
EEQRAEEE -

Mining Company “ORTALYK” LLP, a legal entity established in the
form of a limited liability partnership in Kazakhstan, with the Company
holding 49% of its equity interest through its wholly-owned subsidiary
and recognised as an associate of the Company.

BB EREESRANDE (Mining Company “ORTALYK” LLP) -

ARRERIAAEREETEREEAK I EZEER - AAF]
BBEEWBARRER49% - WERAA NG —TEEE QG o

Patterson Lake South project, Fission’s primary and wholly-owned
asset.
Patterson Lake SouthTE B @ AFissionAalz EB M2 EHELE -

The People’s Republic of China.
hEE ARAME o

the remuneration committee of the Board.
EFEeFiEZEae -

From 1 January 2021 to 31 December 2021.
202181 A1HE2021F12 431 HHAfE -

Renminbi, the lawful currency of the PRC.
ARE B2 EEE

the framework agreement dated 14 June 2019 and entered into
between the Company and CGNPC-URC in relation to the sale of
natural uranium by the Group to CGNPC-URC Group.
ANAREPEZHMERRET 2 BEA2019F6 A 148 ZERHE
NEEBAEE M BRI EEREEFEERAM -

the Semizbay mine located in the Valihanov District of Akmoltnsk
Oblast in Kazakhstan, which is owned and operated by Semizbay-U.

HORZFEFRIL - AP MaEE 52 HT3E Akmoltnsk OblastZ Valihanovi&

HAREEERER -

HEXBEEARAR —T-—FF3% 287 1



Definitions

B=

“Semizbay-U”
EiVNGIT

“share(s)”
Niin

“Shareholder(s)”
[ 3R ]

“Sprott”
[Sprott]

“Stock Exchange”
(Bt 32 P |

“subsidiary(s)”
Ei=vNGIl

“Swakop”
NG
“Tenge”
[B2X]

U
[tU]

K£U3O8!|
[U,0,]

UK
[ 52

“USH
ESE

“USD” or “US$”
B EAIUS

“UxC”
[UxC]
“Zhalpak Deposit”
L8]
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Semizbay-U Limited Liability Partnership, a limited liability partnership
established in Kazakhstan, with the Company holding 49% of its
equity interest through its wholly-owned subsidiary and recognised as
a joint venture of the Company.
HAKLLFF B R A B 1% (Semizbay-U Limited Liability Partnership) -
RRERIERIZ BREETAREE  REARRSLERE AR
REBAE AN A REA H49% 5 o

ordinary share(s) in the Company with a nominal value of HK$0.01
each.
AR ESREEC.OVE T2 LiBmhk

holder(s) of the share(s).
SUESZEUNG

The Sprott Asset Management LP, a global leader in precious metals
and real assets investments.

SprottE EEEE - RESBMNEVMEEREAHENESE -

The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
EEMERIMARAIT -

has the meaning ascribed to it under the Listing Rules.
BEREmRAME T8 -

Swakop Uranium (PTY) Ltd., a company incorporated in Namibia and
a subsidiary of CGNPC-URC.

PEZMMEMBAR AR —ERAKL R MR E R E
ZHME RO T AR

Tenge, the lawful currency of Kazakhstan.
BX - MERIMEAEES o

tons of elemental Uranium.
Wi B i o

Triuranium octoxide, a compound of uranium present as an olive
green to black, odorless solid, which is one of the more popular forms
of yellowcake and is transported between mills and refineries in such

form.

NE( =8 —BHNAY  SBBRERE - mEmER - X
@Eﬁ%ﬁa@maﬁﬁéﬁzf W AR EE TR BOm R 2 R E
7” o

the United Kingidorrlof Great Britain and Northern Ireland.
AAPEE I B RS T -

the United States of America.
ENBERE o

United States dollars, the lawful currency of the US.
En o XBEZEEEE -

UxC, LLC, one of the leading providers of uranium prices and an
independent third party. )
UxC LLC * BiBRERELRHEE — WABYE=F -

the uranium deposit located in Sozak district, Kazakhstan, which is
owned and operategl \by Ortalyk.
BN AR KA SRR EE 5o AT0 R, 52 b [ 7 7% o
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